
 
Please contact Julie North on 01270 686460 
E-Mail: julie.north@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies or requests for further 

information or to give notice of a question to be asked by a member of the public  

 
 

Annual Council Meeting and Mayor Making 
Ceremony 

 

Agenda 
 

Date: Wednesday, 15th May, 2013 
Time: 11.00 am 
Venue: The Tenants’ Hall, Tatton Park - Knutsford 
 
The agenda is divided into two parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated 
on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Prayers   
 
 The Mayor’s Chaplain to say prayers. 

 
2. Apologies for Absence   
 
3. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda for the morning 
session of the meeting. 
 

4. Election of Mayor 2013/14   
 
 To elect a Mayor for 2013/14, who will also act as Chairman of the Council 

 
5. Appointment of Deputy Mayor 2013/14   
 
 To appoint a Deputy Mayor for 2013/14 who will also act as Vice-Chairman of the 

Council 
 
 

Public Document Pack



6. Appointment of Mayor's Chaplain   
 
7. Vote of Thanks to the Retiring Mayor   
 
8. Mayor's Announcements   
 
 To receive such announcements as may be made by the Mayor. 

 
Adjournment for Lunch and Reconvening of Meeting at 2.00pm 
 
9. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive any further apologies for absence. 

 
10. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda for the afternoon 
session of the meeting. 
 

11. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 7 May 2013   
 
 To approve the minutes as a correct record. 

 
(Minutes to follow). 
 

12. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 35 and Appendix 7 to the rules, a total 

period of 15 minutes is allocated for members of the public to speak at Council 
meetings.   
  
Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes, but the Chairman will 
decide how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned, where 
there are a number of speakers. 
  
Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given. It is not a requirement to 
give notice of the intention to make use of public speaking provision. However, as a 
matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours notice is encouraged. 
 

13. Appointments to the Cabinet/Leader's Announcements   
 
 In accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rules, for the Leader to present to Council 

information about executive functions in the forthcoming year, including the names, 
addresses and electoral divisions of those Members appointed to the Cabinet 
 
Details of the Leader’s appointments to the Cabinet and the functions delegated to 
the Cabinet will be circulated at the meeting. 
 

14. Political Representation on the Council's Committees  (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To determine the political group representation on the Council’s Committees. 

 



15. Appointment of Members to Committees  (Pages 9 - 10) 
 
 To receive the political groups’ nominations of Members to the Council’s 

Committees, in accordance with item 14 above. 
 

16. Appointments to Policy Development Groups  (Pages 11 - 12) 
 
 To receive the political groups’ nominations of Members to the Policy Development 

Groups. 
 

17. Appointment of Chairman and Vice Chairmen  (Pages 13 - 14) 
 
 To appoint the Chairman and Vice-chairmen of the Council’s Committees and  Policy 

Development Groups. 
 

18. Appointments to Adoption Panel, Fostering Panel and Cheshire Admissions 
Forum  (Pages 15 - 18) 

 
 To approve a number of appointments to Statutory Panels and Forums which do not 

fall within the definition of “a Committee”. 
 

19. Appointments to Cheshire Fire Authority and the Cheshire Police and Crime 
Panel  (Pages 19 - 22) 

 
 To make appointments to the Cheshire Fire Authority and the Cheshire Police and 

Crime Panel. 
 

20. Reaffirmation of the Council's Constitution  (Pages 23 - 24) 
 
 To reaffirm the Council’s Constitution. 

 
21. Recommendation from Cabinet - Development Company  (Pages 25 - 134) 
 
 To consider the recommendations of the Cabinet. 

 
22. Recommendation from  the Constitution Committee - Accrual of Powers and 

Duties: Officer Delegation Scheme  (Pages 135 - 140) 
 
 To consider the recommendations of the Constitution Committee. 

 
23. Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference  (Pages 141 - 156) 
 
 To consider and agree the modifications to the Terms of Reference, as set out in the 

appendix to the report. 
 

24. Questions   
 



 In accordance with Procedure Rule 11, opportunity is provided for Members of the 
Council to ask the Mayor, the appropriate Cabinet Member or the Chairman of a 
Committee any question about a matter which the Council, the Cabinet or the 
Committee has powers, duties or responsibilities.  
 
Questions to the Mayor or Chairman of a Committee must be sent in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer at least 3 clear working days before the meeting.  There is no 
requirement for questions to be submitted in writing which relate to the work of the 
Cabinet. 
 
At Council meetings, there will be a maximum question time period of 30 minutes. 
Questions will be selected by the Mayor, using the criteria agreed by Council. Any 
questions which are accepted, but which cannot be dealt with during the allotted 
period will be answered in writing. Questions must be brief, clear and focussed. 
 

 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

Date of Meeting: 15th May 2013 
Report of: Head of Governance and Democratic Services  
Title: Political Representation on the Council’s Committees  

 
1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To determine the political representation on the Council’s Committees. 
 
2.0 Decision Required 
 
2.1 That the political group representation, as set out in Appendix 1 to this report and 

the methods, calculations and conventions used in determining this, as outlined in 
the report be adopted. 

 
3.0 Legal Implications 
 
3.1 The Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, made 

pursuant to the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, makes provisions in 
respect of the political group representation on a local authority’s committees in 
relation to the overall political composition of the Council. The legislation applies to 
overview and scrutiny committees and the decision-making committees and sub 
committees of the Council. 

 
3.2 The legislation requires that, where proportionality applies, and seats are allocated 

to different political groups, the authority must abide by the following principles, so 
far as is reasonably practicable: 

 
3.2.1 Not all of the seats can be allocated to the same political group. (i.e. 

there are no single group committees.) 
 
3.2.2 The majority of seats on a body are to be allocated to a political 

Group with a majority membership of the authority.  
 

3.2.3 The total number of seats on all ordinary committees and sub 
committees allocated to each Political Group bears the same 
proportion to the proportion on the full Council.  Appendix 1 achieves 
this. 

 
3.2.4 The number of seats on each ordinary committee allocated to each 

Political Group bears the same proportion to the proportion on full 
Council.  

 
3.3 The proposals contained in this report meet the requirements of the legislation.  
 
3.4 The 1990 Regulations require Political Group Leaders to notify the Proper Officer of 

the Group’s nominations to the bodies in question. 

Agenda Item 14Page 1



 
4.0 Risk Assessment 
 
4.1 Failure to comply with the Act and Regulations when appointing its committee 

memberships would leave the Council open to legal challenge. 
 
5.0 Local Government (Committee and Political Groups) Regulations 1990.  
 
5.1 Appendix 1 to this report sets out the proposed political representation on ordinary 

committees and sub committees, based on the political structure of the Council as a 
whole and taking into account changes that have occurred during the Municipal 
Year including the decision to reduce the number of overview and scrutiny 
committees. The following is the basis of the approach adopted: 

 
 

Conservatives 
  

51 62.19 

Labour   
  

16 19.51 

Independent/Others
  

10 12.20 

Liberal Democrat 
 

4 4.88 

Others 1 1.22 
TOTAL 
 

82 100% 

5.2 The proportionalities in Appendix 1 have been arrived at by the following methods 
and conventions: 

 
§ applying the relevant percentage to each body; 
§ rounding up from 0.5 and above and rounding down below 0.5 

 
5.3 The Act provides that where this results in a Group having a total of more or fewer 

actual seats than its proportional entitlement, any surplus seats are re-allocated to 
ensure that the final actual allocation to each Group equals the proportional 
entitlement. Appendix 1 shows the proposed allocation of seats taking into account 
the actual allocation agreed by Council following the recommendations made by the 
Group Whips. 

 
5.4 The proportionality rules do not apply to the Cabinet or to the Appeals Sub 

Committee, Licensing Sub Committees or the Macclesfield Local Service Delivery 
Committee. These bodies are therefore excluded from the proportionality 
calculation in Appendix 1. However, Council is asked to confirm the size and 
composition of the Appeals Sub Committee, Licensing Sub Committee Panel and 
the Macclesfield Local Service Delivery Committee. 

 
5.5 The proportionality rules do not apply to Policy Development Groups and a 

separate report is included elsewhere on the Agenda. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



6. Reasons for Recommendations 
 

6.1 To determine political representation on the Council’s committees and to receive 
the Groups nominations to the different bodies referred to in the report. 

 
 

For further information: 
 
Officer: Brian Reed Head of Governance and Democratic Services  
 Tel No: 01270 686670 
Email: brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 
Background Documents: None 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



Version 0.2Apr 13 

APPENDIX ONE – Apr 2013  
 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL - POLITICAL PROPORTIONALITIES ON ALL BODIES 
(other than those to be appointed on an ad-hoc basis) 
 

Committee Con Lab Independent Lib Dem Other Total 
       
Corporate 
Scrutiny 
 

5 
(4.97) 

2 
(1.56) 

1 
(0.98) 

0 
(0.39) 

0 
(0.10) 

8 

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Scrutiny 
 

5 
(5.60) 

2 
(1.76) 

1 
(1.10) 

1 
(0.39) 

0 
(0.10) 

9 

Community 
Safety Scrutiny 
 

5 
(4.97) 

2 
(1.56) 

1 
(0.98) 

0 
(0.39) 

0 
(0.10) 

8 

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
 

6 
(6.22) 

2 
(1.95) 

1 
(1.22) 

1 
(0.49) 

0 
(0.12) 

10 

Constitution 
 

9 
(8.7) 

2 
(2.73) 

2 
(1.7) 

1 
(0.68) 

0 
(0.17) 

14 

Strategic 
Planning Board 
 

9 
(8.7) 

2 
(2.73) 

2 
(1.7) 

1 
(0.68) 

0 
(0.17) 

14 

Northern 
Planning 
Committee 
 

9 
(9.33) 

3 
(2.93) 

2 
(1.83) 

1 
(0.73) 

0 
(0.18) 

15 

Southern 
Planning 
Committee 
 

10 
(9.33) 

3 
(2.93) 

2 
(1.83) 

0 
(0.73) 

0 
(0.18) 

15 

Public Rights of 
Way 
 

4 
(4.35) 

2 
(1.37) 

1 
(0.85) 
 

0 
(0.34) 

0 
(0.09) 

7 

Licensing 
Committee 
 

10 
(9.33) 

3 
(2.93) 

2 
(1.83) 

0 
(0.73) 

0 
(0.18) 

15 

Staffing 
 
 

4 
(4.35) 

2 
(1.37) 

1 
(0.85) 
 

0 
(0.34) 

0 
(0.09) 

7 

Lay Members 
Appointments 
 

4 
(4.35) 

2 
(1.37) 

1 
(0.85) 
 

0 
(0.34) 

0 
(0.09) 

7 

Local Authority 
School Governor 
Appointments 
Panel 
 
 

5 
(4.97) 

2 
(1.56) 

1 
(0.98) 

0 
(0.39) 

0 
0.(10) 

8 

Page 5



Version 0.2Apr 13 

Civic Sub 
Committee 

5 
(4.97) 

2 
(1.56) 

1 
(0.98) 

0 
(0.39) 

0 
0.(10) 

8 

Community 
Governance 
Review Sub 
Committee 
 

4 
(3.73) 

1 
(1.17) 

1 
(0.73) 

0 
(0.29) 

0 
(0.08) 

6 

Polling 
Arrangements 
Review Sub 
Committee 
 

4 
(3.73) 

1 
(1.17) 

1 
(0.73) 

0 
(0.29) 

0 
(0.08) 

6 

Outside 
Organisations 
Sub Committee 
 

3 
(3.73) 

1 
(1.17) 

1 
(0.73) 

1 
(0.29) 

0 
(0.08) 

6 

Total Places 
(Actual as art 
present) 
 
Proportional 
Entitlement 
 
Difference 

101` 
 
 
 
101 
(62.19%) 
 
0 

34 
 
 
 
32 
(19.51%) 
 
+2 

22 
 
 
 
20 
(12.2%) 
 
+2 

6 
 
 
 
8 
(4.88%) 
 
-2 

0 
 
 
 
2 
(1.22%) 
  
-2               

163 
 
 
 
100% 

 

NB: 
  

The table above shows the allocation of places as approved by Council in December 2012 
following the review of the Council’s governance arrangements. The true proportionate 
position and adjustments required, are highlighted in bold. The groups affected by the 
adjusted figures have been informed, and revised allocation sheets in accordance with 
adjusted figures will be tabled at the meeting, together with group nominations. 
 
These revised Political Proportionalities are based on the decisions made by Council to 
ensure the total number of seats on all ordinary committees allocated to each Political 
Group bears the same proportion to the proportion on the full Council having regard to 
recommendations made by the Group Whips. 
 
The ‘others column’ shows the proportion of seats which relate to the one Member of the 
Council who does not belong to a group. There is no entitlement to any committee places 
for Members who do not belong to a political group. 
 
The proportionality rules do not apply to the Cabinet, or the Appeals Sub Committee, the 
Licensing Sub Committees, the Local Service Delivery Committee, or to the four 
panels/sub committees connected with the Councils new standards arrangements, which 
are drawn from a combination of Members of the Audit and Governance Committee, an 
additional panel of 5 members nominated by the groups and the four independent 
persons. These bodies are also excluded from the proportionality calculations. Appeals 
Sub Committee, Licensing Sub Committee Panel and the Local Service Delivery 
Committee as follows 
 
Committee Con Lab Independent Lib Dem Total 
Appeals Sub Committee 3 1 1 0 5 

Page 6



Version 0.2Apr 13 

(5 Members are drawn 
from a Panel of 10) 

(6) (2) (2) 

General Licensing Sub 
Committees 

To be appointed by Committee 5 

Licensing Sub 
Committee 

To be appointed by Committee 3 

Local Service Delivery 
Committee Macclesfield 

Those Members who represent the 
unparished areas of Macclesfield 

12 

 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



  

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

Date of Meeting: 15th May 2013 
Report of: Head of Governance and Democratic Services  
Title: Appointment of Members to Committees 

 
1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To review the memberships of the Council’s decision-making bodies. 
 
2.0 Decision Required 
 
2.1 That the nominations made by the Group Leaders to the bodies listed in Appendix 

1 of the previous agenda item, be noted. 
 
2.2     That the Committees set out in Appendix 1, to be tabled at the meeting, be 

approved. 
 
3.0 Legal Implications 
 
3.1 The previous report on the agenda dealt with the requirements of the Local 

Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, in respect of the 
political group representation on the authority’s committees. 

 
3.2 The Annual Meeting of Council is responsible for approving the Council’s decision-

making structures and the number of seats to be allocated on each body. 
 
3.3 The 1990 Regulations require political Group Leaders to notify the Proper Officer of 

the Group’s nominations to the bodies in question.  
 

4.0 Risk Assessment 
 

4.1 Failure to comply with the Act and Regulations would leave the Council open to 
legal challenge. 

5.0 Appointments to Committees Under the Council’s Political Structure for the 
Municipal Year 2013/14 

5.1 The Annual Meeting of Council is responsible for approving the Council’s decision-
making structures and the number of seats to be allocated on each body. 

 
5.2 The 1990 Regulations require political Group Leaders to notify the Proper Officer of 

the Group’s nominations or any changes to their nominations to the bodies in 
question. The Political Groups have therefore been invited to review their 
nominations. If possible a schedule of the proposed memberships will be published 
before the meeting or alternatively the nominations will be circulated at the meeting  

 
 

Agenda Item 15Page 9



  

 
 
 
6.0 Reasons for Recommendations 

 
6.1 To review the memberships of the Council’s decision-making and other bodies and 

their appointment. 
 
For further information: 
 
Officer: Brian Reed Head of Governance and Democratic Services  
Tel No: 01270 686670 
Email: brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 
Background Documents: None 

Page 10



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 
Date of Meeting: 15th May 2013  
Report of: Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
Subject/Title: Appointments to Policy Development Groups 

 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The report invites Council to approve appointments to Policy Development 

Groups which do not fall within the definition of “a Committee”. 
 
2.0 Decision Requested 
 
2.1 Council is asked to approve appointments to Policy Development Groups. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 These bodies carry out important work to advise Cabinet and 

appointments are needed to ensure that the Council works effectively. 
 
4.0 Background and Options 
 
4.1 At the meeting of the Council held on 13th December 2012 six Policy 

Development Groups were established which would play a central role in 
the Council’s decision-making processes. The groups would actively 
involve backbench Members on a cross-party basis, giving them a key 
role in the formulation of policy. They would operate closely with both 
scrutiny committees and the Cabinet, both being informed by and 
informing the work of those bodies. The groups would hold some meetings 
in private, particularly in the initial stages, but would also meet regularly in 
public to ensure open accountability for their decisions. 

 
4.2  Council resolved that the size of each Group would be 5 Conservative 

members, 2 Labour and 1 Independent with the Lib Dem group able to 
nominate 2 members to any Groups of their choice. 

 
4.3 The proposed nominations will be submitted to the meeting. 
 
5.0 Access to Information 
 

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by 
contacting the report writer.  

 
  

Agenda Item 16Page 11



  

 

Name:       Brian Reed 
 Designation:  Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
 Tel No:           01270 686670 
 E-mail:           brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 12



 1

 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

Date of Meeting: 15th May 2013 
Report of: Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
Title: Appointment of Chairmen and Vice Chairmen 

 
1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To appoint Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of the Council’s decision-making 

bodies and the Policy Development Groups. 
 
2.0 Decision Required 
 
2.1 That a Chairman and a Vice Chairman be appointed for each of the Council’s 

decision-making bodies and the Policy Development Groups listed in the 
previous agenda items.   

 
3.0 Legal Implications 
 
3.1 The Annual Meeting of Council appoints the Council’s decision-making and other 

bodies. It also determines the Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of these bodies. 
 
4.0 Risk Assessment 

 
4.1 Failure to comply with the requirements of the Constitution would leave the 

Council open to legal challenge. 

5.0 Appointment of Chairmen and Vice Chairmen Under the Council’s Political 
Structure for the Municipal Year 2013/14 

5.1 Council at its Annual meeting is required to appoint its decision-making and other 
bodies. Council will receive notice of the Groups nominations to the memberships 
for each of the bodies in question. Council is required to appoint the Chairman 
and Vice Chairman for each of the bodies. 

 
5.2 Nominations have been invited and a schedule of proposed Chairmen and Vice 

Chairmen will be published before the meeting or alternatively the proposals will 
be circulated at the meeting. 

 
6.0 Reasons for Recommendations 

 
6.1 To appoint the Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of the Council’s decision-making 

and other bodies. 
 

Agenda Item 17Page 13



 2

For further information: 
 
Officer: Brian Reed Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
Tel No: 01270 686670 
Email: brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 
Background Documents: None 

Page 14



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 
Date of Meeting: 15th May 2013  
Report of: Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
Subject/Title: 
 

Appointments to Adoption Panel, Fostering Panel and 
Cheshire Admissions Forum 

 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The report invites Council to approve a number of appointments to 

Statutory Panels and Forums which do not fall within the definition of “a 
Committee”. 

 
2.0 Decision Requested 
 
2.1 Council is asked to appoint – 
 

(a) one Councillor to the Adoption Panel;  
 
(b) two Councillors to Cheshire Admissions Forum; and  

 
(c) one Councillor to the Fostering Panel. 

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 These bodies carry out statutory functions and appointments are needed 

to ensure that the Council meets its obligations. 
 
4.0 Background and Options 
 
4.1  As there are some organisations which do not fall within the category of 

being “outside organisations”, the members of which being appointed by 
other means, it is appropriate for the Council to make such appointments 
as part of the annual Committee appointments process. The organisations 
are Statutory Panels and Forums which do not fall within the definition of 
“a Committee”- 

 
• Adoption Panel 
• Cheshire Admissions Forum 
• Fostering Panel 

 
4.3 Adoption Panel  
 

The Adoption Panel considers in detail all aspects of a plan for a “Cared 
For” child to be adopted and makes a recommendation as to whether or 
not the child should be adopted. In addition, the Panel considers the 

Agenda Item 18Page 15



  

 

suitability of any families who apply to become adopters, and whether or 
not to recommend that they are suitable to adopt; and also considers the 
placement of any child with a particular adopter. The elected Member is a 
full member of the Panel. Under the performance objectives of the Panel, 
each member is asked to attend 75% of the meetings, which are held 
monthly, and in addition is asked to attend any training events and 
induction events that are held at least annually, and undergo an annual 
appraisal.   
 
The role of the Adoption Panel and the appointment of elected Members 
are governed by the Adoption Agency Regulations 2005, Adoption and 
Children Act 2002.  
 
The Adoption Panel comprises the following –  
 

• Chair      
• Medical Adviser    
• Agency Members 
• Social Workers   (2)    
• Elected Member   (1)     
• Independent members  (3)  
• Additional members (2) 
 

Cllr Harewood served on the Adoption Panel during the 2012/13 year. 
 
4.4 Cheshire Admissions Forum 
 
 There is no longer a statutory duty on the local authority to have in place 

an Admissions Forum.   
 

Section 85 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 required all 
local authorities to establish an Admissions Forum. Forums provide a 
means by which admission authorities and other key parties can discuss 
the effectiveness of local admissions arrangements, consider how to deal 
with difficult admissions issues and advise all admissions authorities on 
ways in which their arrangements can be improved.  Forums also have a 
key role in ensuring a fair admissions system that promotes social 
equality, does not disadvantage one child compared with another and is 
straightforward and easy for parents to understand. Although the 
requirement to have a Forum has been repealed this Council is continuing 
with one. 
 
The Forum core membership comprises 14 members as follows – 
 

§ Local Education Authority Members  (2) 
§ Schools (Community)    (3) 
§ Schools (Voluntary Controlled)   (1) 
§ School (Foundation)     (2) 
§ Schools (Voluntary Aided)   (2) 
§ Schools (Academies)    (1) 
 

Page 16



  

 

§ Diocesan Board Church of England 
Representative                         (1) 

•    Roman Catholic Diocese Representative (1) 
•    Parent Governor Representative  (1)  
 
Councillors P Nurse and R West served on the Forum during the 2012/13 
year.  

 
4.5 Fostering Panel  
  
 The Panel considers and advises on the suitability of persons who apply 

to be foster carers for children who are “looked after” by the local authority 
 It states what its recommendations are in respect of a particular child or 

children and clarifies whether the prospective carers are to be approved 
for certain ages or categories of children. 

 It considers the continuing approval of foster carers following their annual 
carer’s review or other significant changes in their circumstances and 
advises on any other matter relating to the fostering service. 

 The Panel holds monthly meetings which are held in private. One 
nomination is required  

   
 As with the Adoption Panel and the Cheshire Admissions Forum, the 

Fostering Panel is administered by Cheshire East Children’s Services and, 
as such, is not an outside organisation. 

 
 Councillor Hoyland served on the Fostering Panel during the 2012/13 

year. 
 
5.0 Access to Information 
 

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by 
contacting the report writer.  
 
Name:       Brian Reed 
Designation:  Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
Tel No:           01270 686670 
E-mail:           brian.reed@cheshireeast.gov.uk. 
 

 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 
Date of Meeting: 15th May 2013 
Report of: Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
Subject/Title: Appointments to Cheshire Fire Authority the Cheshire Police 

and Crime Panel  

 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The report invites Council to make Appointments to Cheshire Fire Authority 

and the Cheshire Police and Crime Panel. 
 
2.0 Decision Requested 
 
2.1 Council is asked to appoint – 
 

(a) three Councillors and a substitute Member to the Cheshire Police 
and Crime Panel, and 

 
(b) eight Councillors to Cheshire Fire Authority 

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 These bodies carry out statutory functions and appointments are needed 

to ensure that the Council meets its obligations. 
 
4.0 Background and Options 
 
Cheshire Police and Crime Panel  
 
4.1 In accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

arrangements were made for the election of a Police Commissioner to 
replace the Cheshire Police Authority in November 2012 

 
4.2 Section 28 requires each Police area to establish a Police and Crime 

Panel (PCP). The Local Government Association has produced guidance 
on the formation of Police and Crime Panels and suggests that their main 
responsibilities will be to:  

 
• To review and make a report or recommendation on the draft police 

and crime plan, or draft variation, given to the panel by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner. 

• To review, put questions to the Police and Crime Commissioner at a 
public meeting, and make a report or recommendation (as necessary) 
on the annual report. 

Agenda Item 19Page 19



  

  

• To hold a confirmation hearing and review, make a report, and 
recommendation (as necessary) in respect of proposed senior 
appointments made by the Police and Crime Commissioner.  

• To review and make a report on the proposed appointment of the Chief 
Constable. 

• To review and make a report and recommendation (as necessary) on 
the proposed precept.  

• To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner in connection with the discharge of 
the commissioner’s functions.  

• To make reports or recommendations to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner with respect to the discharge of the commissioner’s 
functions. 

• To support the effective exercise of the functions of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner. 

• To fulfil functions in relation to complaints about conduct matters, in 
accordance with the responsibilities accorded to the panel by the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

• To appoint an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner if necessary. 
• To suspend the Police and Crime Commissioner if it appears to the 

panel that the Commissioner has been charged in the United Kingdom 
or Isle of Man with an offence which carries a maximum term of 
imprisonment exceeding two years. 

 
4.3 The Cheshire Police and Crime Panel comprises 10 Councillors appointed 

by the constituent Councils. The allocation of seats on the panel is: 
Cheshire East 3 Panel members. Cheshire West 3, Warrington 2 and 
Halton 2.  
 

4.4 The Councils current representatives are Councillors JP Findlow,  
W Fitzgerald and H Murray. The nominated substitute is Councillor  
P Groves. 

 
Cheshire Fire Authority. 
 
4.5 The Fire Authority was the Combined Fire Authority for Cheshire, Halton 

and Warrington in accordance with the Cheshire Fire Services 
(Combination Scheme) Order 1997. The constitution of the Cheshire Fire 
Authority required the appointment of 14 representatives.  

 
4.6 As a consequence of local government restructuring in Cheshire the 

Authority was changed to the Combined Fire Authority of Cheshire West 
and Chester, Cheshire East, Halton and Warrington and its membership 
was increased to 23 places. The allocation of seats is:- 

 
Halton - 3 Member 
Warrington - 4 Members 
Cheshire West and Chester - 8 Members  
Cheshire East - 8 Members. 
 

Page 20



  

  

4.7 The members who were appointed in May 2012 are Councillors M Simon, 
J Weatherill, W Livesley, D Topping, G Merry, C Thorley, D Flude and  
D Brickhill. 

 
5.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
5.1 To determine political representation on the different bodies.  
 

 
 For further information: 
 
 Officer: Brian Reed, Head of Governance and Democratic Services 
 Tel No: 01270 686670 
 Email: brian.reed@cheshireeat.gov.uk 

 
Background Documents: None 

 
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL  
 

Date of meeting: 15th May 2013 
Report of: Interim Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 
Title: Reaffirmation of Council’s Constitution 

 
1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To reaffirm the Council’s Constitution. 
 
2.0 Decision Required 
 
2.1 Council is requested to reaffirm the provisions of the Council’s Constitution 

published on 1st February 2013. 
 
3.0 Financial Implications  
 
3.1 None. 
 
4.0 Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The Council is regularly required during legal proceedings to provide evidence 

that the Council has reaffirmed its Constitution in order to demonstrate that 
officers are empowered to take enforcement and other action in the delivery of 
local services. 

 
5.0 Background and Options 
 
5.1 It is recognised best practice for the Council to reaffirm its Constitution, in order 

for there to be appropriate evidence prior to legal proceedings that evidence is 
available to show that officers are suitably empowered. 

 
For further information: 
 
Officer: Mike Rowan Interim Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 
Tel No: 01270 - 685882 
Email: mike.rowan@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

 Background Documents: 
 None  

Agenda Item 20Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



Version 6  

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Date of Meeting: 7 May 2013 
Report of:  Director Of Economic Growth & Prosperity 
Subject/Title:  Development Company 
Portfolio Holder: 
 

Cllr Jamie Macrae 
Portfolio Holder Prosperity & Economic Regeneration 

                                                                  
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the benefits, implications and proposed approach 

to the creation of a new delivery vehicle, to drive forward the 
development of the Council’s land assets so as to promote housing and 
jobs growth. It summarises the work of Deloitte LLP (business and 
financial advisors) and Bevan Brittan LLP (legal advisors), appointed to 
evaluate options and report back on a preferred model to provide the 
best opportunity to realise the ambitions of the Council, and to create 
the infrastructure necessary to ensure greater prosperity for all our 
residents. 
 

1.2 The report seeks Members’ agreement to set up a wholly Council-
owned and controlled, arms-length Development Company, limited by 
shares, where the Council retains the assets. 

   
2.0 Decision Requested 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 
2.1.1 Recommend to Council the setting up of a Development Company – East 

Cheshire, Engine of the North, wholly owned and controlled by the Council, in 
the form described in this report, to drive forward the development of the 
Council’s land assets, as a key element for the Council’s wider plans for 
housing and economic growth. 
 

2.1.2 Recommend to Council to appoint initially to the Board of the Company the 
following non-executive Directors: Cllr A Thwaite (Chairman), Cllr D Druce         
(Vice Chair), Cllr D Newton (Vice Chair), Cllr P Groves, the Director of 
Economic Growth and Prosperity (Caroline Simpson), the newly-appointed 
Head of Development (Darran Lawless) and agree that the Borough Solicitor, 
(Mike Rowan ) take on the role as Company Secretary.    
 

2.1.3 Recommend to Council that a Shareholder Committee is established 
comprising of the Leader, Deputy Leader, Portfolio Holder for Prosperity, 
Portfolio Holder for Resources and the Chief Executive.   

 

Agenda Item 21Page 25



Version 6  

2.1.4 Give delegated authority to the Interim Chief Executive and Interim Monitoring 
Officer to take forward the actions required to implement the recommendation 
and set up the Development Company, reporting back to Cabinet in October 
2013 on progress.  Specific actions to take forward are:  
 
Set up the Company as operational (separate legal entity) and establish 
its Memorandum and Articles of Association by end May 2013. 
 
Finalise initial staffing arrangements and related HR considerations; 
insurance arrangements; and other operating procedures to ensure that 
the Council’s budget envelopes and capital plans in relation to the 
activities of the Company are clearly understood by end May 2013. 

 
Develop a 3-Year Business Plan for the Company, to establish the 
portfolio of assets it is required to act upon; any provision of resources 
to facilitate land acquisitions; and set objectives against which its 
performance will be measured.  Also draw up Company Objects and, if 
relevant, an Agency Agreement by end October 2013 

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 Following the Council's recent options appraisal on the most effective 

approach, and having received expert external advice and assistance from both 
Deloitte and Bevan Brittan LLP, the preferred option is delivery of the Council's 
objectives through a wholly-owned and controlled arm's length company, where 
the Council retains ownership of the physical assets.  

 
3.2 It is considered that the principal advantage of this option, over all others, is 

that it allows the Council to focus its delivery through the separate arm's length 
company, without distracting the company's management and staff with the 
Council's other day-to-day operational requirements.  The Company can also 
better promote the Council's land and property assets for development through 
the Local Plan and planning process. 

 
3.3 In addition, the Company can be used flexibly by the Council as its agent, 

without tying the Council down to a single delivery model (as would a "local 
asset backed vehicle" (LABV) or transfer of assets).  It is believed that this 
vehicle, also is likely  to be regarded as more attractive by the Cheshire and 
Warrington LEP and possibly other public sector bodies, as a delivery vehicle 
for their purposes, than direct contract with an in-house Council team or a non-
wholly controlled Council company/ joint venture.   

 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 All 
 

Page 26



Version 6  

6.0 Policy Implications  
 
6.1 The recommendation supports the Council’s priority of promoting and investing 

in local economic growth and the outcomes set out in the Three Year Plan, 
particularly in relation to ensuring Cheshire East has the infrastructure 
necessary for a strong, diverse and resilient local economy, and that the area is 
a good place to live and work. 

 
7.0 Financial Implications  
 
7.1 In February this year Cabinet approved spending of up to £100,000, from an 

existing Economic Development earmarked reserve, on independent legal and 
financial advice on the best way to take forward this initiative. Spending to date 
has been contained well within that envelope; the remainder of the reserve can 
be used to cover further Company set-up costs (e.g. marketing). 

 
7.2 The Council’s Budget for 2013/14 provides for an enhanced Economic Growth 

function, in terms of both Revenue and Capital budgets, and the operational 
activities of the proposed new Development Company would be financed from 
within those approved resources. In future, it is envisaged that the Council’s 
Capital Programme would benefit from the work of the company e.g. through 
the realisation of capital receipts, from the sale of assets or from attracting 
additional inward investment. 

 
7.3 Along with evaluation of options and matters of governance, the brief to Deloitte 

included a requirement for advice on related finance and accounting issues, 
particularly the relevant tax considerations. This report and its 
recommendations reflect the advice received. 

 
7.4 As noted in section 14 below, the Company would be a provider of professional 

services; the Council would pay for the services of the Company as for any 
other external provider of consultancy services, on an appropriate value-for-
money basis. 

 
8.0 Legal Implications  
 
8.1 It is proposed that the new delivery vehicle be a company limited by shares, 

due to the limited profit available and given the legal considerations highlighted 
in Bevan Brittan LLP's Advice Note. Section 6 of this Advice Note sets out 
various mitigation strategies in relation to the risks identified with the preferred 
option.   

 
8.2 It is important for the Council to: 

• Identify the scope of the agency role and its’ arrangements with the 
company; 

• Consider who will be Board Directors and how such a role is to be 
reconciled with any role within the Council, taking into account actual and 
perceived conflicts of interest and bias, particularly with regard to planning 
matters, where in effect the Council is both the promoter of a development 
and the planning authority deciding on it; 

Page 27



Version 6  

• Consider the necessary constitutional and administrative processes which 
the Council has and make any necessary amendments to these, to ensure 
that the Company can be used effectively and efficiently to improve delivery 
timescales  

• Consider the effective drafting of the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association of the Company, to give the Council the necessary degree of 
control (e.g. the Council would approve any Business Plan (i.e. the 
overarching "envelope" of the Company's activities), scrutinise the 
Company's performance and Board activities (directing the Board where 
necessary to act or not act in a certain way) and exercise a veto at Board 
level on all or key, strategic decisions affecting the Company), without 
hampering the day-to-day operations of the Company or discretion of it’s 
Board so it retains agility and flexibility; 

• Consider a clearly defined funding model for the Company; and 
• Consider the clearly defined staffing arrangements for the Company 

 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 The potential risks associated with creating and operating a new delivery 

vehicle of this type, as recommended in this report are summarised in Appendix 
F, along with related impacts and how those risks may be mitigated or 
eliminated. 

 
10.0 Background 
 
10.1 In February Cabinet considered a report setting out the strategic case 

for creating a new delivery vehicle, to drive forward the development of 
the Council’s land and property assets, to promote housing and jobs 
growth. Cheshire East has ambitious growth plans - with expected 
targets of at least 20,000 additional jobs and 27,000 new homes by 
2030. We are aiming for at least 7,000 new homes in the next five 
years. 

 
10.2 It is important that the Council is seen to drive forward its economic 

growth agenda through accelerated development of its assets, both 
strategic sites identified in the Development Strategy and smaller sites 
which can deliver investment and growth and contribute to housing 
supply. A new focused delivery vehicle will galvanise efforts to speed 
up the development of our own assets to bring about essential 
investment in new infrastructure and new housing, economic growth 
and capital receipts. 

 
10.3 The earlier report to Cabinet in February recommended the 

engagement of legal and business/ financial experts, to evaluate 
options and report back on a preferred model to provide the best 
opportunity to realise the ambitions of the Council, in this regard. 
Following an appropriate procurement exercise, Deloitte LLP were 
appointed as financial advisors and  Bevan Brittan LLP as legal 
advisors to the Council for this project. 

 

Page 28



Version 6  

10.4 The comprehensive project brief given to the consultants included the 
following elements: Consideration of options; Governance and scope; 
Financing of the vehicle; Financial, accounting and taxation matters; 
and Risk management. 

 
10.5 Deloitte have prepared a report for the Council and Bevan Brittan LLP 

have complemented this with an advice note on legal matters; their 
Executive Summaries are shown as Appendices A and B respectively. 
This report summarises their work, makes clear recommendations on 
the preferred approach, and describes the next steps to 
implementation. 

 
11.0 Consideration of Options 
 
11.1 Following an initial review of the options for creating a delivery vehicle 

the expert advisors summarised the potential models for consideration 
as follows: 

 
1. Status quo – continuing with the current team, without changes to its 

capacity and capability; 
2. Self-delivery – strengthening the current team and making alterations 

to internal working practices; 
3. Wholly owned and controlled arms length company 

a. Where the Council transfers the assets 
b. Where the Council retains the assets; 

4. Wholly owned, not controlled, but influenced arms length company 
a. Where the Council transfers the assets 
b. Where the Council retains the assets; 

5. Public/ private joint venture. 
 
11.2 Clearly, the preferred delivery vehicle must be fit for purpose and 

capable of realising most or all of the Council’s objectives. The criteria 
against which options have been evaluated reflect the Council’s 
ambitions for speedy, large-scale housing and business growth, and for 
the new Company. They are shown in Appendix C; and they include 
the following objectives: 

 
• to accelerate growth in terms of housing completion and jobs 

investment, using Council-owned land and property assets; 
 

• to maximise development and minimise risk to the Council, by 
providing dedicated delivery arrangements and relevant and up to date 
property and commercial expertise; 

 
• to secure additional private sector, Government and European Funding 

investment into the Borough, through creating a stronger focus on 
delivery; and providing a mechanism with the potential to deliver larger 
scale development schemes locally for the Cheshire & Warrington 
LEP; 

 

Page 29



Version 6  

• to create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and 
investors which deliver financial and regeneration benefits; and 

 
• to capture the financial benefits and tax efficiencies of a dedicated 

delivery vehicle, which is Council-controlled, but can benefit from agile 
operating arrangements that can be developed at a later date when it is 
fully established. 

 
11.3 Following evaluation and moderation of the options, by officers from the 

Council’s Regeneration, Legal and Finance teams, the preferred 
delivery model is Option 3b: Wholly owned and controlled arms 
length company, where the Council retains the assets. Against the 
objective-based criteria described in Appendix C, this is considered to 
provide the best opportunity to realise the development ambitions of 
the Council; (a Summary of Evaluation Scores is shown as Appendix 
D). 

 
11.4 This approach will allow the Council to focus its delivery through the 

separate arm's length company, without distracting the Company’s 
management and staff with the Council’s other day-to-day operational 
requirements. In addition, the Company can be used flexibly as an 
agent, without tying the Council down to a single delivery model (as 
would be the case,say, with an asset-backed Joint Venture company). 

 
11.5 Furthermore, by creating a new identity and brand in this way– with a 

high profile and an “open for business” attitude – Cheshire East is likely 
to be seen as more attractive by developers and other external 
investment bodies and partners, than through a direct contract with the 
Council, or a non wholly-controlled Council company/ joint venture. 

 
11.6 In addition, in keeping the structure/ scope of the vehicle simple in this 

way the Council would avoid the potential for “tax leakage” (i.e. 
unnecessary exposure to Stamp Duty Land Tax, Corporation Tax, etc.), 
that would otherwise be the case if the Council’s assets were 
transferred to the Company (or asset acquisitions were made by the 
Company rather than by the Council). 

 
11.7 In effect, the Development Company would in future provide 

professional services for the Council, acting on its behalf in the 
promotion of its assets for disposal and development, proactively 
creating productive relationships with developers and investors, 
negotiating agreements for sale, lease, or acquisition of sites for 
housing and business growth. In terms of the best legal form of such a 
corporate entity, the experts would recommend a “Company Limited by 
Shares”. 

 
11.8 This is because a company limited by shares is a "tried and tested" 

corporate vehicle used widely within the public and private sectors, with 
a separation of risks between the shareholder ( in this case the 
Council) and the company and with a clear decision-making forum for 

Page 30



Version 6  

the formulation of business strategy (the Board of the Company).  
Whilst both a company limited by shares and a company limited by 
guarantee are able to distribute any profits made (with a share-based 
company being marginally easier), a company limited by shares is 
more readily capable of being transferred to another party if required in 
the future.  This means that if the Company had value (i.e. another 
party was willing to pay to own the Company in place of the Council), 
the Council's shares could easily be transferred to that other party.    

 
11.9 Whilst there are some tax benefits to the use of a limited liability 

partnership over a company limited by shares or guarantee, given that 
profit generation and distribution will be limited, an LLP structure is not 
critical (see the Deloitte Report for details). In addition to this, there is a 
legal consideration for discounting the LLP model.  Under section 4(2) 
of the Localism Act 2011, if a local authority does anything for a 
commercial purpose in the exercise of its general power of 
competence, it must do so through a company.  Exercising the power 
for a "commercial purpose" is not defined in the 2011 Act, but the 
definition of "company" does not include LLPs.  Where the 
development vehicle is generating profits from outside the Council's 
area and/ or those profits are not then recycled towards wider Council 
aims (for example, regeneration, housing, public realm works), it is 
more likely that the development vehicle's purpose is seen as 
commercial in nature.  Using a company structure rather than an LLP 
structure avoids any later issues under section 4(2) of the Localism Act 
2011.  

 
12.0 Governance and Scope 
 
12.1 Whilst it is for the Council to determine its preferred approach, the 

Deloitte report recommends that the Board of the Company should be 
constituted with a relatively small number of individuals in order to be 
the most effective. 

 
12.2 Based on their experience, Deloitte have suggested that six directors 

(comprising a mix of Members and senior officers of the Council) would 
provide the appropriate balance of focus and resource to lead the 
strategic direction of the Company. Deloitte and Bevan Brittan LLP 
have each provided advice regarding the best means of ensuring 
conflicts of interest are avoided, in relation to membership of the Board: 

 
• It is easier to manage the potential conflicts for an "officer director", 

as the Council can agree to the officer continuing to act in their 
substantive role despite potential conflicts; can agree not to take 
action against him where he is required to act contrary to the 
interests of the Council due to his role as a director; and can agree 
to his remuneration as a director if applicable.   The selection and 
involvement of senior officers acting as directors to the company will 
require careful consideration by the Council for these reasons. 
 

Page 31



Version 6  

• Where a "councillor director" is concerned the Council, (as owner of 
the company and ‘ controller’ of the Board of Directors) can agree to 
him or her acting as a director, but under the provisions of the 
Localism Act 2011, the councillor would need a dispensation to 
enable him to act as a councillor where a conflict of interest arises 
or is particularly likely to do so, for example, where a Company 
Director is also a Cabinet Member.  Dispensations may be able to 
be granted as the provisions of the Localism Act are fairly wide and, 
for example, a dispensation can be granted if the authority, 
"considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of 
persons living in the authority's area", or "considers that it is 
otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation".  The member must 
apply for the dispensation in writing and it does not avoid the 
requirement for registration of interest or of disclosure whenever a 
matter of Council business affecting the company is being 
discussed.  

 
• It is also important to remember, that despite all of the above being 

in place it can be very difficult to avoid the perception of bias, which, 
if proven, can invalidate the decisions of the Council and give rise to 
a public perception of wrongdoing which can be very difficult to 
resolve.  For this reason, care needs to be taken over the selection 
of those elected Members who will serve on the Board of the 
Company. 

 
12.3 With the above advice in mind, it is suggested that the Council agrees 

to appoint initially the following non-executive Directors: Cllr A Thwaite 
(Chairman), Cllr D Druce, Cllr D Newton, Cllr P Groves, the Director of 
Economic Growth and Prosperity ( Caroline Simpson), the newly-
appointed Head of Development ( Darran Lawless) and agree that the 
Borough Solicitor, ( Mike Rowan ) take on the role as Company 
Secretary.  It is recommended that the core role of the Chair and the 
Board of the Company is to ensure the work programme of the 
Company fits within the Council’s corporate objectives; to develop the 
strategic work programme; and importantly to monitor and drive 
forward delivery through robust performance management. 

 
12.4 Bevan Brittan have advised that Directors' remuneration with the 

wholly-owned company will be governed by the provisions of the Local 
Authority Order 2005, which restricts the amount of remuneration that 
an elected Member may receive.  In effect, this means that they cannot 
receive any additional remuneration from the Company for acting as a 
director, which is beyond the special responsibility allowance they 
would have received had the activities of the Company been 
discharged by the Council.  Any remuneration they receive will be 
deducted from the SRA that they receive within the Council and they 
may only claim mileage and subsistence at the rates that apply to 
councillors. 

 

Page 32



Version 6  

12.5 Clearly, in order to implement this initiative, the Council will need to 
review and revise its decision-making structures. This will include 
defining the operating parameters of the Company – e.g. which assets 
are available for disposal or development; and giving the delegated 
authority required to negotiate agreements for sale or lease to 
developers, investors or end users or development agreements with 
developers; etc. – in such a way as to provide assurance to the Council 
regarding the proper management of its property assets. 

 
12.6 The Council would exercise control of this new vehicle also by agreeing 

a 3-Year Business Plan for the Company, which establishes the 
portfolio of assets it is required to act upon as a priority; any provision 
of resources to facilitate land acquisitions; and set objectives against 
which its performance will be measured.  This Business Plan will be 
specific to the Development Company but fit within the overall Council’s 
reporting arrangements. 

 
12.7 With regard to the accountability of the Company, the Council needs to 

determine reporting arrangements for the scrutiny of the Company’s 
performance. As a provider of services helping to deliver the Council’s 
economic growth agenda, the Company’s activities would fall within the 
remit of the Portfolio Holder for Prosperity & Economic Regeneration 
and would be subject to the normal scrutiny arrangements of the 
Council.   This would involve regular quarterly performance reports to 
Cabinet and Corporate Scrutiny Committee. 

 
12.8 It is proposed that a Shareholder Committee is established comprising 

of Members from Cabinet and the Chief Executive to oversee the 
operations of the Company.  It is recommended that the Shareholders 
Committee is comprised of the Leader, Deputy Leader, Portfolio Holder 
for Prosperity, Portfolio Holder for Resources and the Chief Executive.  
The proposed governance model is outlined in Appendix G. 

 
12.9 As noted above, a key objective of this initiative is also to create the 

potential for the vehicle to operate outside the Council’s geographic 
boundaries and provide advisory services for the Cheshire and 
Warrington LEP (and possibly other public sector bodies). Deloitte have 
noted that the Company would need to develop its service offer and 
commercial arrangements with the other authorities; and also have 
regard to associated resourcing requirements as well as to consider 
any impact on its tax position. Similar considerations would apply if the 
Council wished over time the Company to expand the scope of its 
functions beyond its original purpose. 

 
13.0 Management Structure and Initial Work Programme 
 
13.1 The management of the Company would complement the new 

organisational arrangements being developed in the Council, with the 
most senior role (Managing Director) working under the direction of the 
Company Board and with a reporting line to the Council’s Director of 

Page 33



Version 6  

Economic Growth & Prosperity, relating to the work of a wider Council 
team and benefitting from other initiatives being taken forward to 
improve and streamline working practices in this context. 

 
13.2 Regarding the staffing of the Company, it is envisaged that there would 

be a small “core” team of Managing Director; a Development 
Programme Manager; up to three Development Surveyors; a Legal 
Advisor; and a Finance Advisor, with ability to flex resource inputs 
relative to the needs of the work programme and associated funding as 
set out in the 3-Year Business Plan. 

 
13.3 It is recommended that initially staff employed by the Council seconded 

to the Company, as required, with appropriate charges made to the 
Company’s account for their time, along with associated overhead and 
support costs. This approach would be simpler than TUPE transfer of 
staff to the Company, and particularly would avoid additional pension-
related costs for both the Company and the Council. The Company 
may purchase external consultancy services directly though, relating to 
the requirements of the work programme and within the budget 
envelope and scope of its 3-Year Business Plan. 

 
13.4 An initial work programme for the Development Company is being 

prepared for consideration. The Council’s substantial asset portfolio 
includes a range of land and property holdings, with the potential for 
significant residential and/ or business-led development. Subject to 
planning consent and the economic conditions prevailing at the time of 
marketing of sites, it is understood that capital receipts in excess of 
£100m may be achievable over the next 10 years. The Development 
Programme will evolve further as part of implementation, and will form 
the first 3-Year Business Plan for the Company. 

 
14.0 Financing of the Vehicle 
 
14.1 As the Company would be a provider of professional services, the Council 

would pay for the services of the Company, as it would for any other external 
provider of consultancy services. For the Council, such expenditure would be 
treated under the usual capital/ revenue rules, and with spending on services 
relating to the disposal of its assets chargeable against its associated capital 
receipts (subject to the statutory limit of 4% of each receipt). 

 
14.2 As indicated in section 7, the financing of the operational costs of the Company 

(e.g. staffing, marketing, other services and support expenses) would continue 
to be provided for in the Council’s medium term financial plans – i.e. reflected in 
Capital project and disposals programmes, as they develop, with any costs not 
chargeable to capital being met from existing Revenue budgets for the 
Development Team and its associated support services. 

 
 
 
 

Page 34



Version 6  

15.0 Financial, Tax and Accounting Matters 
 
15.1 The Deloitte report contains analysis and commentary on tax considerations, in 

respect of Corporation Tax, Stamp Duty Land Tax and VAT. It recognises that 
the position of Councils, in relation to tax, is particularly favourable (e.g. with no 
liability for Corporation Tax and particular rules in relation to VAT). 

 
15.2 Consequently, in general terms when considering alternative delivery vehicles, 

there must be a focus on minimising “tax leakage”. A high level summary of the 
tax implications of each of the options for new delivery vehicles is shown in 
Appendix E. 

 
15.3 As noted in paragraph 11.3, the recommended option is for a wholly Council- 

owned and controlled company, providing professional services. Under this 
model - with the Council retaining ownership of its property assets, until actual 
disposal to a developer, investor or end user (or indeed the Council acquiring 
assets, in relation to acquisitions negotiated by the Company on its behalf) – 
the Council avoids over-exposure to Stamp Duty and Corporate Capital Gains 
Tax. Furthermore, simple reimbursement of operating costs of the Company 
would avoid Corporation Tax leakage, in material terms. 

 
15.4 The external experts have provided information on company accounting, 

financial reporting and State Aid. As requested in the brief, they have also given 
advice on the financial aspects in respect of the staffing of the company, which 
we will need to give consideration to (e.g. as noted above, whether staff 
employed by the Council should be simply seconded to the Company; or 
formally transferred under TUPE, with the associated complexities and costs of 
pension transfers; and insurance/ indemnity matters relating to both officers 
and Members). 

 
16.0 Risk Management 
 
16.1 The potential risks associated with creating and operating a new delivery 

vehicle as recommended in this report are summarised in Appendix F, along 
with related impacts and how those risks may be mitigated or eliminated.  A 
detailed Risk Management Plan will be developed and put in place as part of 
the actions needed to establish the new company. 

 
17.0 Access to Information 
 
         The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting 

the report writer: 
 

Name: Caroline Simpson 
Designation: Director of Economic Growth & Prosperity 
Tel No: (01270) 686640 
Email: caroline.simpson@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
1

Deloitte - Executive Summary APPENDIX A (1)
• Background: Cheshire East Council (“the Council”) has ambitious growth plans with the Local Plan setting out the delivery of major 

new infrastructure, at least 20,000 jobs and 27,000 new homes by 2030. In response to the growth agenda, the Council is seeking to 
accelerate the development of Council owned assets and to boost the delivery of developer-led strategic sites and is considering the 
creation of a new dedicated Development Vehicle for this purpose. In March 2013, the Council commissioned Deloitte to support the 
financial aspects of a high level appraisal on a range of options for the Development Vehicle and to provide some specific advice and 
commentary on the proposed preferred option. The purpose of this report is to document the findings of our high level review. The 
Council has significantly shortened the timetable for this high level review. This report therefore comments on the work to date and 
further work and clarification is required to address a number of points raised in this report.  

• Option appraisal and preferred option: The Council in conjunction with its legal advisers (Bevan Brittan) and Deloitte have 
development a shortlist of potential delivery options. A qualitative options appraisal has been scored by a project team consisting of 
Council officers, Deloitte and Bevan Brittan has identified the preferred option to be Option 3b: Delivery through wholly-owned and 
controlled arms' length company where the Council retains ownership of the assets (“the Company”). Under Option 3b, the proposed 
scope of the Company is to: 

• To accelerate growth in terms of housing completion and jobs investment on Council owned assets;

• To provide dedicated delivery arrangements and property and commercial expertise;

• To secure additional private and Government investment into the Borough through increased focus on delivery;

• To potentially provide a mechanism to deliver schemes to the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as the Council;

• To create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and investors to deliver financial and regeneration benefits;

• To capture any financial benefits and tax efficiencies of a dedicated delivery vehicle which is Council controlled.

• Council Assets the proposed preferred option does not envisage the transfer of Council assets to the Company. The ownership and 
management of the Council assets will be retained by the Council and the financial transactions associated with the financing, 
maintaining and disposing of capital assets are expected to follow existing arrangements. The Council and Company will need to 
consider how the current arrangements regarding the management of the Council assets are impacted as a result of the newly formed 
Company in order to provide the management arrangements for the proper control, management and stewardship of Council assets.

• Capital financing: the Council has envisaged some form of “revolving fund” to facilitate asset acquisition. Given capital financing 
transactions will be retained in the Council, it may be that the benefits of the revolving fund could be achieved through the use of an 
“earmarked reserve” rather than a separate fund, subject to the impact on the Council’s corporate financial management and capital 
financing plans and clarification of governance arrangements. 

P
age 37



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
2

Executive Summary (continued) APPENDIX A (2)

• Governance arrangements: The Council preferred option is the delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arms' length company 
where the Council retains ownership of the asset. We understand the Council has given some early consideration to the governance
arrangements for the Company although at this point in time proposed governance arrangements are still being considered by the 
Council and arrangements are not yet finalised.

• Board representation and managing conflicts: the Board should be constituted with a relatively small number of individuals to 
provide the appropriate balance of focus, skills and resource to lead the strategic direction of the Company. Larger numbers of 
individuals may result in reduced focus and strategic direction. The Council needs to manage potential conflicts (real and perceived) 
and consider the appropriateness of Councillors and lead officers acting within the Council on any matter which has a significant 
impact on the Company. 

• Decision making structures: The Council will need to agree the parameters of the Company’s decision making and how the 
management of the Company and key decisions will interface with existing Council decision making and approval structures. For 
example, will certain decisions require Cabinet approval, delegated approval from the relevant portfolio holder, approval from the 
relevant chief officer?

• Company accountability and scrutiny: we are informed by the Council that the activities of the Company would fall within the remit 
of the Portfolio Holder for Prosperity & Economic Regeneration and would be subject to the normal scrutiny arrangements of the 
Council. The Council needs to finalise these reporting lines to ensure appropriate arrangements are in place to manage the 
performance of the Company. 

• Accounting / reporting: Company directors will be responsible for operation and management of the Company and for accounting 
records which are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions and to enable them to ensure that any accounts required 
be prepared to comply with the requirements of the Companies Act (386 of the Companies Act 2006). Option 3b may qualify as a 
small company exemption although this will require further analysis and confirmation.

• Employment model: We understand from the Council that the estimated staffing and operating costs would be in the region of £0.5 
million per annum and that most of the staff are likely to be Council employees. The Council is considering a secondment model (ie 
seconding of Council staff to the Company) at least in the first instance. In finalising the employment model the Council will need to be 
mindful of TUPE Regulations and these have been considered in the Bevan Brittan’s Advice Note. 

• Financial skills: the Company will require access to appropriate financial skills. Dependent on the finally agreed scope of the 
Company, it is likely that certain skills (eg accounts preparation) could be available on a call off arrangement from the Council. It may 
that expertise in commercial and financial structuring could be provided by the newly appointed Development Executives, through 
advisory support or through external recruitment.

P
age 38



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
3

Executive Summary (continued) APPENDIX A (3)

• Corporate Tax: under Option 3b, assuming the vehicle is established for EU procurement reasons as a ‘not-for-profit’ cost-sharing 
vehicle, the risk of corporation tax leakage should be minimised on the basis either (i) that the vehicle is not carrying on a 
commercial trading business for tax purposes so does not generate taxable surpluses or (ii) that it is a mutual trader (broadly, a 
service provider controlled by its members and funded by members’ contributions). Option 3b should also avoid any additional 
SDLT risk as no property transfers between CEC and the delivery vehicle would be contemplated. If the delivery vehicle were to 
undertake property transactions directly (as under Option 3a or Option 5), or (under Option 3b) provide commercial services with a 
view to a profit, the use of a “tax transparent” limited liability partnership (LLP) structure may be beneficial from a corporation tax 
perspective as it would enable the Council to benefit from corporation tax exemption on its share of profits accruing within the LLP.  
Use of an LLP would, however, be subject to the Council obtaining legal advice that the particular commercial activities are 
capable under the Localism Act of being undertaken using a partnership rather than a limited company. An LLP would also not 
generally be a suitable vehicle for a cost-sharing activity which is not undertaken on a commercial basis, as its presupposes that 
the LLP is carrying some form of business.   

• VAT: the Council enjoys a beneficial VAT partial exemption regime allowing it to recover input VAT on its costs in full, provided the 
VAT incurred on costs relating to exempt supplies (which would include certain sales of land and property) is less than 5% of the 
total VAT incurred by the Council.  We have not reviewed the Council’s partial exemption status as part of this exercise, but the 
possible impact of future property transactions on the Council’s VAT partial exemption position generally should be kept under 
review in case there is any risk of the 5% threshold being breached. Under Option 3b, the delivery vehicle is likely to be required to 
register for VAT and account for VAT on supplies made to the Council.  For partial exemption reasons, we would recommend that 
it is separately VAT registered and is not included within a VAT group registration with the Council.  As the vehicle would not itself 
be entering into property transactions, it should be fully taxable for VAT purposes enabling it to recover input VAT incurred on its 
costs, so the overall VAT position should be neutral.   

• Future scope expansion: Going forward, we understand that the Council may wish to consider broadening the scope of the 
Company to operate outside of the Council’s geographic boundaries and also to potentially widen the scope of the Company to 
provide additional trading activities to other sectors. In exploring either or both of these scenarios, the Council would need to 
undertake the appropriate market sounding to provide a level of assurance on the demand for services;  consider any potential tax 
issues; and develop the commercial and pricing mechanisms for such arrangements. 

P
age 39



P
age 40

T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX B (1) 
 

ADVICE NOTE TO CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

TO SUPPORT ITS OPTIONS APPRAISAL ON DEVELOPMENT ARRANGEMENTS 
 
1 Introduction and Executive Summary   

 
1.1 Cheshire East Council (the "Council") has ambitious growth plans with the Local Plan setting out the delivery of major new 

infrastructure, at least 20,000 jobs and 27,000 new homes by 2030.  
 
1.2 As a newly created unitary authority, the Council has ambitious plans to create a strong growing economy though job creation and 

enhancing the region's attractiveness to investors.  In addition, the Council's strategic direction reflects a growing appetite for flexibility, 
agility, freedom from bureaucracy, and for the creation of other forms of operational decision making and delivery vehicles. 
 

1.3 In response to the growth agenda, the Council is to accelerate the development of Council owned assets and to boost the delivery of 
developer-led strategic sites and is considering the development of a new Delivery Vehicle. 
 

1.4 Bevan Brittan LLP has been commissioned by the Council to support on the legal and governance aspects of a high level appraisal on 
a range of delivery options available to the Council and to assist on mitigating the risks on the Council's preferred option which best 
achieves the Council's objectives. 
 

1.5 Deloitte has been commissioned by the Council to support on the financial and tax aspects of this high level appraisal and on the 
Council's preferred option which best achieves the Council's objectives. Deloitte has also facilitated and recorded the quantitative 
assessment of options in its report to the Council ("Deloitte Report").  
 

1.6 Following the Council's options appraisal and having received advice and assistance from both Deloitte and Bevan Brittan LLP, the 
Council's preferred option is Option 3b (Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arm's length company (a "Teckal company") 
where the Council retains ownership of the assets. The Council considers that the principal advantage of this Option, over all others, is 
that it allows the Council to focus its delivery through the separate arm's length company, without distracting the company's 
management and personnel with the Council's other day to day operational requirements.  The Company can also better promote the 
Council's assets for development through the local plan and planning process.  In addition, the company can be used flexibly by the 
Council as an agent without tying the Council down to a single delivery model (as would a LABV or transfer of assets). In addition, the 
Council believes that this vehicle may be regarded as more attractive by the Cheshire and Warrington LEP and possibly other public 
sector bodies as a delivery vehicle for their purposes, than direct contract with the Council or a non-wholly controlled Council 
company/joint venture. The type of vehicle will be a company limited by shares, due to the limited profit available and given the legal 
considerations highlighted in this Advice Note. Next steps and key risk mitigation is set out at section 6 and the Conclusion. 

P
age 41



2 
 

APPENDIX B (2) 
 
CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS 
 
1.7 Given the Council's Core Aim and objectives set out in section 2 above, the Council's preferred option is Option 3b, i.e. delivery 

through wholly-owned (or jointly-owned with a neighbouring authority) and controlled arm's length company (a "Teckal company") 
where the Council retains ownership of the assets.  The Council considers that the principal advantage of this Option, over all others, is 
that it allows the Council to focus its delivery through the separate arm's length company, without distracting the company's 
management and personnel with the Council's other day to day operational requirements.  The company can also better promote the 
Council's assets for development through the local plan and planning process.  In addition, the company can be used flexibly by the 
Council as an agent without tying the Council down to a single delivery model (as would a LABV or transfer of assets). In addition, the 
Council believes that this vehicle may be regarded as more attractive by the Cheshire and Warrington LEP and possibly other public 
sector bodies as a delivery vehicle for their purposes, than direct contract with the Council or a non-wholly controlled Council 
company/joint venture. 
 

1.8 In terms of the type of corporate vehicle to be used, the preferred option is a company limited by shares.  A company limited by 
shares is a "tried and tested" corporate vehicle used widely within the public and private sectors, with a separation of risks between 
shareholder and company and a clear decision-making forum for the formulation of business strategy (the board). The Company would 
be able to distribute any profits made (albeit the company is not expected to make significant profit), and is more readily capable of 
being transferred to another party if required in the future.   
 

1.9 Whilst there are some tax benefits to the use of a limited liability partnership over a company limited by shares or guarantee, we 
understand that profit generation and distribution will be limited; hence an LLP structure is not critical (see the Deloitte Report for 
details). In addition to this, there is a legal consideration for discounting the LLP model.  Using a company structure rather than an LLP 
structure avoids any later issues under section 4(2) of the Localism Act 2011. 
 

1.10 Section 6 above sets out mitigation strategies in relation to the risks identified with Option 3b. It is important for the Council to: 
• Identify the scope of the agency role and arrangements with the company 
• Consider who will be a board director and how such a role is to be reconciled with any role within the Council, taking into account 

actual and perceived conflicts of interest and bias 
• Consider the necessary constitutional and administrative processes which the Council has, to ensure that the company can be 

used effectively and efficiently to improve delivery timescales  
• Consider the effective drafting of the memorandum and articles of association of the company to give the Council the necessary 

degree of control (e.g. the Council would approve any business plan (i.e. the overarching "envelope" of the company's activities), 
scrutinise the company's performance and Board activities (directing the Board where necessary to act or not act in a certain way) 
and exercise a veto at Board level on all or key, strategic decisions affecting the company) 

• Consider the clearly defined funding model for the company; Consider the clearly defined staffing role for the company. 

P
age 42



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
1

Evaluation Criteria and weightings APPENDIX C

The shortlisted options have been scored against the weighted evaluation criteria set out below.  

Criteria Weighting

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth on Cheshire East owned assets? 10

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned assets? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development value to the Council by providing dedicated delivery 
arrangements and additional property and commercial expertise?

10

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise risks by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional property 
and commercial expertise?

10

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East 
Council?

10

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and Government investment into the Borough through creating the 
focus on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital schemes?

10

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits the local communities – potentially utilising the Developer Panel Framework currently being scoped in more detail 
with a view to procuring during 2013/14?

5

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial benefits through a dedicated delivery vehicle? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a dedicated delivery vehicle? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain 
control?

10

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its structure in the future to meet changing 
landscapes/priorities?

5

P
age 43



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
2

Summary of Evaluation Scores  APPENDIX D

Commentary:

• Option 1 lacks the capacity and focus to deliver the Council strategic economic and regeneration objectives.

• Option 2 has the potential to deliver increased capacity and expertise but still lacks focus on key sites i.e. it is likely that the team will 
retain responsibility for a broader range of Council objectives.

• Option 3a benefits from increased capacity, expertise and focus on key sites but exposes the Council in significant risk both 
financially and operationally through the transfer of assets which crystallises Stamp Duty Land Tax.

• Option 3b benefits from increased capacity, expertise and focus, minimises the Council’s risk exposure and mitigates the impact of 
Stamp Duty Land Tax.

• Option 4a although similar to Option 3 in terms of capacity, expertise and focus exposes the Council to increase operational risk and 
complexity through a lack of control and therefore agility in operations and flexibility to change with the Council to meet future 
objectives.   It also exposes the Council to Stamp Duty Land Tax on the transfer of assets

• Option 4b has the same benefits as Option 3a without the exposure to Stamp Duty Land Tax.  However, it is unlikely to be accepted 
as a delivery vehicle for the wider Cheshire and Warrington LEP thereby restricting its use as a commercial entity.

• Option 5 benefits from the increased participation of the private sector potentially providing useful skills, capacity and economies of 
scale.  However, it  is likely to require the Council to commit significant capital resources thereby relinquishing control, it is unlikely to 
be flexible to meet a changing local government landscape and if exclusive may be perceived as the Council favouring one 
particular private sector entity and compromising transparency. In addition the private sector partner will direct benefits away from 
local society.

Conclusion:

• Option 3b is considered by the Council to best meet its objectives.

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3a Option 3b Option 4a Option 4b Option 5

Score
Weighted 
score

Score
Weighted 
score

Score
Weighted 
score

Score
Weighted 
score

Score
Weighted 
score

Score
Weighted 
score

Score
Weighted 
score

Total 14 125 38 340 37 330 43 390 27 240 34 310 30 280

Ranking 7 2 3 1 6 4 5

P
age 44



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

High level tax analysis & commentary on options APPENDIX E

3

Tax Commentary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3a Option 3b Option 4a Option 4b Option 5

Corporation Tax 
(CT)

Neutral –
CEC exempt 
from CT

As Option 1 CT payable on 
taxable 
surpluses within 
delivery vehicle 
unless 
structured as a 
tax transparent 
Limited Liability 
Partnership 
(LLP).

Risk of CT 
leakage 
minimised if 
vehicle is not 
trading 
commercially  
or is structured 
as LLP (as in 
Option 3a).

As Option 3a As Option 3b As Option 3a –
although use of 
a Limited 
Partnership or 
Limited Liability 
Partnership 
should maintain 
neutrality for the 
Council’s share 
of the surplus

Stamp Duty Land 
Tax

Neutral –
SDLT 
generally 
payable on 
land/ property 
acquisitions.

As Option 1 Adverse SDLT 
position if 
delivery vehicle 
is company 
limited by 
guarantee, 
otherwise SDLT 
neutral on land 
transfers from 
CEC to LLP or 
company limited 
by shares.

SDLT neutral as 
in Option 1 
(Land interests 
remain in CEC, 
so no SDLT 
issues on 
formation of 
delivery vehicle)

As Option 3a, 
provided CEC 
holds 75% or 
more of limited 
company 
shares.  
Complex SDLT 
partnership 
rules to be 
considered 
(under LLP 
route).

As Option 3b As Option 4a

Value Added Tax Neutral -
depending on 
CEC’s de-
minimis
position

As Option 1 Dependent on 
specific 
transactions, 
should be 
capable of VAT 
neutral 
treatment

As Option 3a As Option 3a As Option 3a As Option 3a 

P
age 45



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Preferred Option: Risk Management APPENDIX F (1)

4

Risk Impact Mitigation

Inadequate resourcing of the 
company

The Company delivers a poor service and fails to 
meet its objectives.  Further costs would be 
required to increase the capacity of the team.

The Council will need to carefully plan the 
operating functions of the Company to better 
understand its resource requirements.

Fails to meet business 
needs / deliver the Council’s 
primary objective i.e. growth 
in housing and jobs

The Company delivers a poor service and fails to 
meet its objectives.  Further scrutiny/control 
required on the operational aspects of the 
Company.  Further costs may therefore be 
incurred e.g. in sourcing the appropriately skilled 
resource.

The Council will need to clearly define the 
Company’s operating parameters within the 
Company’s constitution and business plan such 
that it is focuses on targeting the Council’s 
primary objectives.  It will also need to ensure the 
Company is provided with appropriate resources 
and skills.

Integration with the Council The Company fails to operate cohesively with the 
in-house/retained team causing possible 
duplication of work or inefficient working practices.  
Further costs may be incurred

The Council will need to ensure there are clear 
operating boundaries and protocols/procedures 
such that any interface between the Council and 
the Company is efficient.  It is therefore essential 
that staff of both the Council and the Company 
clearly understand their respective roles and 
responsibilities.

Unclear 
constitution/role/responsibiliti
es/authority

The Company operates outside its anticipated 
boundaries further increasing the Council’s 
exposure to operational/reputational risk.

The Council will need to ensure the Company’s 
constitution and business plan is clear and the 
Company understands its roles and 
responsibilities and how much delegated authority 
it has.

Company lacks flexibility to 
respond to future changes

The Council is unable to utilise the Company to 
meet potential future objectives.  Further costs 
may be incurred in enabling the flexibility or 
creating an alternate tool.

The Council will need to give careful consideration 
to the level of flexibility it allows the Company 
through its constitution.  A careful balance of 
control and risk will need to be understood.

P
age 46



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Preferred Option: Risk Management APPENDIX F (2)

5

Risk Impact Mitigation

Company lacks agility to 
deliver it primary function

The Council fails to meet its objectives with a 
potential financial and reputational risk.

The Council will need to give careful consideration 
to the level of flexibility it allows the Company 
through its constitution.  A careful balance of 
control and risk will need to be understood.

The Council does not have 
the required resource to 
effectively control/manage 
the Company

The Council lacks the visibility required to 
maintain scrutiny over the Company with a 
potential impact on its reputation.

The Council will need to ensure it clearly 
understands its role as the accountable body and 
therefore the level of resource required to 
maintain appropriate scrutiny levels of scrutiny 
without impacting on the Company’s ability to 
remain agile and flexible.

The Council exerts control 
inhibiting the Company’s 
ability to be agile and flexible

The Company fails to perform efficiently in 
meeting its primary objective which will have a 
financial impact.

The Council will need to ensure it clearly defines 
its own operating parameters ensuring it gets the 
right balance of control and risk.

The Company fails to 
develop beneficial 
relationships with developers

The Company fails to perform and deliver its 
primary objective.  Further resources and cost 
may  be required to develop beneficial 
relationships.

The Council will need to ensure the Company is 
staffed with individuals with the correct skills to 
enable the Company to operate efficiently.

The Company operates 
outside of its defined 
parameters

The Company exposes the Council to additional 
financial and reputational risk.  Further costs may 
be required to support operations not authorised.

The Council will need to ensure the Company’s 
constitution and business plan is clear and the 
Company understands its roles and 
responsibilities and how much delegated authority 
it has.

The Company acts without 
delegated authority

The Company exposes the Council to additional 
financial and reputational risk.  Further costs may 
be required to support operations not authorised.

The Council will need to ensure the Company’s 
constitution and business plan is clear and the 
Company understands its roles and 
responsibilities and how much delegated authority 
it has.

P
age 47



P
age 48

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G – Governance Model East Cheshire 
Engine of the North

P
age 49



P
age 50

T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

����������	�
����
���

��
	
��	��	
������
����	�������
���

�
�����	�
���������

��������

���	�
��

���	��� !�

P
age 51



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
2

Cheshire East Council
Westfields 
Middlewich Road 
Sandbach 
Cheshire 
CW11 1HZ

FAO: Mr Paul Goodwin

Deloitte LLP
4 Brindleyplace

Birmingham
B1 2HZ

www.deloitte.co.uk

April 2013

Dear Sirs

High level option appraisal in relation to setting up a Development Vehicle

We have pleasure in enclosing the results of our work in assisting Cheshire East Council (“the Council”) to consider a high 
level option relating to the above. If you have any questions, require any clarifications or would like to discuss this in person 
please contact me on 0161 455 6484 or Craig Jones on 0121 695 5029.

Yours faithfully

Simon Bedford 
for 
Deloitte LLP

Draft for discussion

P
age 52



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
3

Important Notice

Deloitte LLP (“Deloitte”), is acting for Cheshire East Council (the “Clients”) on the terms set out in the engagement letter dated [ ] [(the
“Engagement Letter”)] in connection with financial and business advice relating to setting up a delivery vehicle and no one else and will not be
responsible to anyone other than the Clients for providing advice in relation to this project. This draft document, which has been prepared by
Deloitte LLP (“Deloitte”), has been prepared for the sole purpose of providing the preliminary discussion and presentation to the Client. No party
is entitled to rely on this draft document for any purpose and we accept no responsibility or liability or duty of care to any party whatsoever in
respect of the contents of this draft document. This is a working draft document issued to Cheshire East Council for discussion purposes only.
Our work is incomplete and remains subject to our internal review procedures. Accordingly the draft document’s provisional contents, views
and conclusions may alter dependent upon our further work and consideration of the issues involved. Such alterations and amendments might
be material to the provisional contents, views and conclusions. The information contained in this draft document has been compiled by Deloitte
and includes material obtained from information provided by the Client, discussions with management of the Client but has not been verified.
This draft document also contains confidential material proprietary to Deloitte. Accordingly, no reliance may be placed for any purposes
whatsoever on the contents of this draft document or on its completeness. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is given and no
responsibility or liability is or will be accepted by or on behalf of Deloitte or by any of its partners, employees, agents or any other person as to
the accuracy, completeness or correctness of the information contained in this draft document or any other oral information made available and
any such liability is expressly disclaimed. This draft document and its contents are confidential and may not be reproduced, redistributed or
passed on, directly or indirectly, to any other person in whole or in part without the prior written consent of Deloitte.

P
age 53



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
4

Contents
Executive Summary 5

1. Introduction 8

2. Summary of shortlisted options 11

3. Key attributes of shortlisted options 12

4. Evaluation scoring matrix 24

5. Evaluation Criteria and Weightings 25

6. Summary of Evaluation Scores 26

7. High level tax analysis and commentary 27

8. Analysis and commentary on preferred option 30

Appendices

A. Evaluation scoring for shortlisted options 43

B. Supporting rationale for shortlisted options 45

P
age 54



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
5

Executive Summary 
• Background: Cheshire East Council (“the Council”) has ambitious growth plans with the Local Plan setting out the delivery of major

new infrastructure, at least 20,000 jobs and 27,000 new homes by 2030. In response to the growth agenda, the Council is seeking to
accelerate the development of Council owned assets and to boost the delivery of developer-led strategic sites and is considering the
creation of a new dedicated Development Vehicle for this purpose. In March 2013, the Council commissioned Deloitte to support the
financial aspects of a high level appraisal on a range of options for the Development Vehicle and to provide some specific advice and
commentary on the proposed preferred option. The purpose of this report is to document the findings of our high level review. This
report therefore comments on the work to date and further work and clarification is required to address a number of points raised in this
report.

• Option appraisal and preferred option: The Council in conjunction with its legal advisers (Bevan Brittan) and Deloitte have
developed a shortlist of potential delivery options. A qualitative options appraisal has been scored by a project team consisting of
Council officers, Deloitte and Bevan Brittan which identified the preferred option to be Option 3b: Delivery through wholly-owned and
controlled arms' length company where the Council retains ownership of the assets (“the Company”). Under Option 3b, the proposed
scope of the Company is:

• To accelerate growth in terms of housing completion and jobs investment on Council owned assets;

• To provide dedicated delivery arrangements and property and commercial expertise;

• To secure additional private and Government investment into the Borough through increased focus on delivery;

• To potentially provide a mechanism to deliver schemes to the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as the Council;

• To create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and investors to deliver financial and regeneration benefits;

• To capture any financial benefits and tax efficiencies of a dedicated delivery vehicle which is Council controlled.

• Council Assets the proposed preferred option does not envisage the transfer of Council assets to the Company. The ownership and
management of the Council assets will be retained by the Council and the financial transactions associated with the financing,
maintaining and disposing of capital assets are expected to follow existing arrangements. The Council and Company will need to
consider how the current arrangements regarding the management of the Council assets are impacted as a result of the newly formed
Company in order to provide the management arrangements for the proper control, management and stewardship of Council assets.

• Capital financing: the Council has envisaged some form of “revolving fund” to facilitate asset acquisition. Given capital financing
transactions will be retained in the Council, it may be that the benefits of the revolving fund could be achieved through the use of an
“earmarked reserve” rather than a separate fund, subject to the impact on the Council’s corporate financial management and capital
financing plans and clarification of governance arrangements.

P
age 55



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
6

Executive Summary (continued)

• Governance arrangements: The Council’s preferred option is the delivery through a wholly-owned and controlled arms' length
company where the Council retains ownership of the asset. We understand the Council has given some early consideration to the
governance arrangements for the Company, including the establishment of a Shareholder’s Committee to represent the interest of the
Council as shareholder. At this point in time proposed governance arrangements are not yet finalised.

• Board representation and managing conflicts: the Board should be constituted with a relatively small number of individuals to
provide the appropriate balance of focus, skills and resource to lead the strategic direction of the Company. Larger numbers of
individuals may result in reduced focus and strategic direction. The Council needs to manage potential conflicts (real and perceived)
and consider the appropriateness of Councillors and lead officers acting within the Council on any matter which has a significant
impact on the Company.

• Decision making structures: The Council will need to agree the parameters of the Company’s decision making and how the
management of the Company and key decisions will interface with existing Council decision making and approval structures. For
example, will certain decisions require Cabinet approval, delegated approval from the relevant portfolio holder, approval from the
relevant chief officer?

• Company accountability and scrutiny: we are informed by the Council that the activities of the Company would fall within the remit
of the Portfolio Holder for Prosperity & Economic Regeneration and would be subject to the normal scrutiny arrangements of the
Council, and the Council’s proposed Shareholder Committee. The Council needs to finalise these reporting lines to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place to manage the performance of the Company.

• Accounting / reporting: Company directors will be responsible for operation and management of the Company and for accounting
records which are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions and to enable them to ensure that any accounts required
be prepared to comply with the requirements of the Companies Act (386 of the Companies Act 2006). Option 3b may qualify as a
small company exemption although this will require further analysis and confirmation.

• Employment model: We understand from the Council that the estimated staffing and operating costs would be in the region of £0.5
million per annum and that most of the staff are likely to be Council employees. The Council is considering a secondment model (ie
seconding of Council staff to the Company) at least in the first instance. In finalising the employment model the Council will need to be
mindful of TUPE Regulations and these have been considered in the Bevan Brittan’s Advice Note.

• Financial skills: the Company will require access to appropriate financial skills. Dependent on the finally agreed scope of the
Company, it is likely that certain skills (eg accounts preparation) could be available on a call off arrangement from the Council.
Appropriate expertise in commercial and financial structuring may be provided by the newly appointed Development Executive,
through advisory support or through external recruitment.

P
age 56



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
7

Executive Summary (continued)

• Corporate Tax: under Option 3b, assuming the vehicle is established for EU procurement reasons as a ‘not-for-profit’ cost-sharing
vehicle, the risk of corporation tax leakage should be minimised on the basis either (i) that the vehicle is not carrying on a
commercial trading business for tax purposes so does not generate taxable surpluses or (ii) that it is a mutual trader (broadly, a
service provider controlled by its members and funded by members’ contributions). Option 3b should also avoid any additional
SDLT risk as no property transfers between CEC and the delivery vehicle would be contemplated. If the delivery vehicle were to
undertake property transactions directly (as under Option 3a or Option 5), or (under Option 3b) provide commercial services with a
view to a profit, the use of a “tax transparent” limited liability partnership (LLP) structure may be beneficial from a corporation tax
perspective as it would enable the Council to benefit from corporation tax exemption on its share of profits accruing within the LLP.
Use of an LLP would, however, be subject to the Council obtaining legal advice that the particular commercial activities are
capable under the Localism Act of being undertaken using a partnership rather than a limited company. An LLP would also not
generally be a suitable vehicle for a cost-sharing activity which is not undertaken on a commercial basis, as its presupposes that
the LLP is carrying some form of business.

• VAT: the Council enjoys a beneficial VAT partial exemption regime allowing it to recover input VAT on its costs in full, provided the
VAT incurred on costs relating to exempt supplies (which would include certain sales of land and property) is less than 5% of the
total VAT incurred by the Council. We have not reviewed the Council’s partial exemption status as part of this exercise, but the
possible impact of future property transactions on the Council’s VAT partial exemption position generally should be kept under
review in case there is any risk of the 5% threshold being breached. Under Option 3b, the delivery vehicle is likely to be required
to register for VAT and account for VAT on supplies made to the Council. For partial exemption reasons, we would recommend
that it is separately VAT registered and is not included within a VAT group registration with the Council. As the vehicle would not
itself be entering into property transactions, it should be fully taxable for VAT purposes enabling it to recover input VAT incurred on
its costs, so the overall VAT position should be neutral.

• Future scope expansion: Going forward, we understand that the Council may wish to consider broadening the scope of the
Company to operate outside of the Council’s geographic boundaries and also to potentially widen the scope of the Company to
provide additional trading activities to other sectors. In exploring either or both of these scenarios, the Council would need to
undertake the appropriate market sounding to provide a level of assurance on the demand for services; consider any potential tax
issues; and develop the commercial and pricing mechanisms for such arrangements.

P
age 57



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
8

1. Introduction

Background

• Cheshire East Council (“the Council”) has ambitious growth plans with the Local Plan setting out the delivery of major new
infrastructure, at least 20,000 jobs and 27,000 new homes by 2030.

• As a newly created unitary authority the Council has ambitious plans to create a strong growing economy though job creation and
enhancing the regions attractiveness to investors. In addition, the Council’s strategic direction reflects a growing appetite for flexibility,
agility, freedom from bureaucracy, and for the creation of other forms of operational decision making and delivery vehicles.

• In response to the growth agenda, the Council is seeking to accelerate the development of Council owned assets and to boost the
delivery of developer-led strategic sites and is considering the development of a new Delivery Vehicle.

• Deloitte has been commissioned by the Council to support the financial aspects of a high level appraisal on a range of potential
delivery options and to identify a preferred solution which best achieves the Council’s objectives and to provide some specific advice
and commentary on the proposed preferred option. The scope of our work is set out in our engagement letter.

• Bevan Brittan has been commissioned by the Council to support on the governance and vires aspects of a high level appraisal on a
range of delivery options and to identify the governance aspects and risk mitigation aspects of the preferred option which best
achieves the Council's objectives. Bevan Brittan has provided an Advice Note to the Council ("Bevan Brittan Advice Note"). Our
report contains some cross references to the Bevan Brittan Advice Note.

Council objectives for a Delivery Vehicle and key criteria for the option appraisal

• To accelerate growth in terms of housing completion and jobs investment on Council owned assets;

• To maximise development and minimise risk to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and property and
commercial expertise;

• To secure additional private and Government investment into the Borough through creating the focus on delivery and providing a
mechanism to deliver schemes to the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as the Council;

• Create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and investors which deliver financial and regeneration benefits;

• To capture any financial benefits and tax efficiencies of a dedicated delivery vehicle which is Council controlled but can benefit from
agile operating arrangements and can be reviewed at a later date.

P
age 58



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
9

1. Introduction (continued)

Options

• 1: Status quo - continuing with self-delivery using the current programme with existing team capacity and capability

• 2: Self delivery - strengthening and redirecting current team capacity and capability and making new provisions/alterations to current 
working practices and the Council’s constitution

• 3a: Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arms' length company where the Council transfers ownership of the asset

• 3b: As 3a but where Council retains ownership of the asset

• 4a: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled arms' length company where the Council transfers ownership of the assets

• 4b: As 4a but Council retains ownership of the assets

• 5: A public/private joint venture where the Council transfers ownership of the asset to the JV.

Role of the Delivery Vehicle

The Council has given some early consideration to the proposed role and responsibilities for the Development Vehicle. These include:

• To lead on strategic land acquisitions to enable the delivery of the development programme;

• To promote the Council owned assets for development through the Local Plan and planning process and to undertake 
masterplanning to bring sites forward for development;

• To identify property related strategic opportunities for the Council;

• To provide commercial property expertise and to potentially act in an advisory capacity for the LEP;

• To undertake development appraisals to inform future investment opportunities; and

• To develop relationships with developers and investors and bring forward partnering and contract opportunities to benefit the Council 
and the community.

P
age 59



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
10

1. Introduction (continued)

Process

• Property strategy and key sites – we have discussed with the Council the key sites for development and collated a summary
schedule of these sites containing relevant information and the Council’s estimated value and timing of bringing these to market.

• Option appraisal – building on an initial paper circulated by Bevan Brittan and further discussion with the Council we have
developed a short list of options and sought to define and describe the key attributes of each of the shortlisted options.

• Qualitative evaluation – we have structured an evaluation criteria and weighting which reflects the Council’s stated objectives for the
delivery vehicle. The qualitative evaluation scores have been subject to moderation across the project team.

• Tax implications – based on the information we have received we have provided high level commentary on the tax implications for
VAT, Stamp Duty Land Tax and Corporation Tax for each shortlisted option.

• Commentary on the recommended option – we have commented on the specific aspects of the preferred option which the Council
included in the brief.

• Proposed next steps and implementation – we have set out our view of proposed next steps the Council should consider in the
implementation of revised arrangements.

Summary of key development sites

• For the purposes of providing context for the analysis of the proposed Development Vehicle, the Council provided outline details
on the proposed key development sites which would be managed through the Development Vehicle. The Council has also
provided some illustrative values. These values have been provided by the Council as high level estimates in a short timescale
and have not been subject to a formal or detailed valuation exercise. Recognising the confidential nature of such information this
information has not been included in this report.

P
age 60



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

2. Summary of shortlisted options

• Option 1: Status quo continuing with self-delivery using the current programme with existing team capacity and capability

• Option 2: Self delivery strengthening and redirecting current team capacity and capability and making new provisions/alterations to
current working practices and the Council’s constitution

• Option 3a: Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled (as defined below) arms' length company where the Council transfers
ownership of the asset

• Option 3b: Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled (as defined below) arms' length company where the Council retains
ownership of the asset

• Option 4a: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled (as defined below) arms' length company where the Council
transfers ownership of the assets

• Option 4b: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled (as defined below) arms' length company where the Council retains
ownership of the assets

• Option 5: A public/private joint venture where the Council transfers ownership of the asset to the JV

In this Report, references to “control” (as in an arm’s length controlled company), as set out by Bevan Brittan, should be read in the
context of the EU case known as “Teckal” (C-107/98 Teckal Srl v Comune di Viano (Reggio Emilia [1999 ECR I - 8121]). In that case,
the EC court concluded that:

• the contracting authority must exercise over the proposed contractor a control which is similar to that which it exercises over its
own departments. the contracting authority (in this case, the Council) must have the power of decisive influence over both the
strategic objectives and the significant decisions of the contractor (i.e. the company). The Council would need to have that power
of decisive influence at a constitutional as well as an actual operational level (i.e. it actually exercises its powers). From a
commercial standpoint the company will need to function as an entity and be able to make decisions about its everyday activity (as
internal departments at the Council would be able to do) without having to refer back to the Council for every small decision. The
Teckal exemption would not require all decisions to be unanimously approved by the Council.; and

• simultaneously, the proposed contractor to which a contract would be awarded must carry out the essential part of its activates with
the contracting authority or authorities. For these purposes that the business undertaken by the company for any organisation or
entity other than the Council would be of marginal significance only.

11

P
age 61



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

12

Option 1: Status quo continuing with self-delivery using the current programme with existing team capacity and capability

The Council continues with disposing, maintaining or developing assets utilising its existing team (including the newly appointed 
Development Executive) and governance arrangements.

Asset Ownership: the Council  continue to retain control of the assets.

Governance: the Council continues to ratify decisions in accordance with its current working practices and constitution.

Strategy: the Council continues to develop its asset strategy in accordance with current working practices and constitution.

Risk: the Council continues to be exposed to development risks.

Financing: the Council continues to finance its asset strategy in accordance with rules governing local authority finance.

Tax/Accounting: the Council continues to treat its assets in accordance with local authority accounting guidance and account for tax in 
accordance with local authority finance regulations.

Option 2: Self delivery strengthening and redirecting current team capacity and capability and making new 
provisions/alterations to current working practices and the Council’s constitution

As per Option 1 the Council continues with disposing, maintaining or developing assets utilising its existing team (including the newly 
appointed Development Executive) and governance arrangements.  This Option would seek to further increase the capacity in terms of 
resource and skills of the current team. Under this Option, the Council would use the current team as a starting point, strengthening 
where necessary through external hires and internal movement of Council employees.  The Council will also undertake to amend its
working practice and/or constitution.

P
age 62



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

13

Developer A

Development 
site A

Developer B

Development 
site B

Developer C

Development 
site C

Option 1: Status quo continuing with self-delivery using the current 
programme with existing team capacity and capability

Option 2: Self delivery strengthening and redirecting current team capacity 
and capability and making new provisions/alterations to current working 
practices and the Council’s constitution

Development 
Agreements

Lease / Sale 
Agreements

Developer 
retains profit 
on sale

Development 
head lease

Planning 
Obligations

OR Sale 
Agreements

The Council:
• retains direct control of the 

assets/property portfolio
• competitively appoints a developer for 

each site
• puts in place all the necessary 

contractual elements: Development 
agreement, guarantees, collateral 
warranties etc.

• funds the development directly
• benefits from the economic 

regeneration e.g. new more valuable 
asset, increase rates / CIL etc or sales 
proceeds

• provides requires the capacity and 
expertise

The developer retains the profit on sale of 
the head lease.

P
age 63



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

14

Option 3a: Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arms' length company where the Council transfers ownership of the asset

The Council establishes a limited company over which it exercises a level of control which is similar to that which it exercises over its own
departments and which carries out the essential part of its activity with the Council.

Principal Activity: to invest in Cheshire East with a view to acting as a catalyst in promoting economic development through property
development and job creation. Activities include leading land deals, promoting Cheshire East, masterplanning and pre-development,
strategic acquisitions, provision of professional property expertise including development appraisals and relationship development with key
investors/private sector parties and other stakeholders.

Asset Ownership: the Council transfers ownership of the assets/property portfolio to the company for a consideration e.g. capital funded by
the Council or equity in the company.

Governance: the company is incorporated with members and operates as an autonomous body with a separate management board with
appropriate expertise (Councillors and/or Officers) and with delegated authority to act and make decisions within the remit of the company’s
function/objectives in accordance with its articles and memorandum of association. Conflicts of interest must be managed appropriately. See
Bevan Brittan Advice Note in this respect. Where the Council is disposing of assets to the company, it will need to secure best consideration
or, where it wishes to sell at an undervalue, comply with its general Disposal Order to sell below best consideration only where there are
economic, social and environmental considerations for doing so (Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972). In addition, the Council will
need to be mindful to ensure it is not falling foul of State Aid and where there may be any doubt, that it seeks clearance.

Strategy: the company will develop its strategy in line with its own strategic objectives. However, given the Council controls the company, the
Council would have a significant influence in this.

Risk: the Council is exposed to the risks associated with the transfer of assets. The company is exposed to the risks of a commercial body,
but in the ordinary course of business the Council's exposure to these risks is limited by the nature of the vehicle (i.e. liability limited to the
value of its shares, guarantee or capital interest, depending on the type of corporate vehicle chosen). We understand from Bevan Brittan that
where members or officers of the Council are acting for the company, the Statutory Indemnity that they receive from the Council will not
apply. Therefore, a fresh indemnity would be required by them. See Bevan Brittan Advice Note on the risks around members/officers acting
for the company.

Financing: the Council finances the company to cover the costs of operation. As the company becomes established operating income
generated through the provision of professional service may mitigate the Council’s exposure. Profits on disposal of the assets are retained
by the Company for future investment and/or returned to the Council. The Council will need to consider the cost of service with reference to
the Company’s Teckal exemption (please refer to the Bevan Brittan Advice Note).

Tax/Accounting: the company prepares accounts and tax returns in accordance with UKGAAP/IFRS and relevant legislation.

P
age 64



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

15

Option 3a – Delivery through 
wholly-owned and controlled 
arms' length company where 
the Council transfers 
ownership of the asset

Developer A

Development 
site A

Developer B

Development 
site B

Developer C

Development 
site C

The Council:
• Controls the WOC
• transfers ownership of the 

assets/property portfolio
• funds the operating costs of the WOC
• benefits from the economic 

regeneration e.g. new more valuable 
asset, increase rates / CIL etc or sales 
proceeds

The WOC:
• competitively appoints a developer for 

site regeneration
• conducts the sale of sites ear-marked 

for disposal
• puts in place all the necessary 

contractual elements: 
Sales/Development agreement, 
guarantees, collateral warranties etc.

• retains the proceeds of sales
• provides the capacity and expertise 

appointed from the market
The developer retains the profit on sale of 
the head lease or future sales proceeds of 
redeveloped asset.

Development 
Agreements

Lease / Sale 
Agreements

Developer 
retains profit 
on sale

Development 
head lease

Planning 
Obligations

Asset 
transfer 
agreements

Membership 
documents

Board Control

Wholly 
Owned 

Company OR Sale 
Agreements

P
age 65



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

16

Option 3b: Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arms' length company where the Council retains ownership of the asset

As per Option 3a the Council establishes a limited company over which it exercises a level of control which is similar to that which it exercises over its
own departments and which carries out the essential part of its activity with the Council. However, in this Option 3b the Council retains the ownership
of the assets/property portfolio.

Principal Activity: to invest in Cheshire East with a view to acting as a catalyst in promoting economic development through property development
and job creation. Activities include leading land deals, promoting Cheshire East, masterplanning and pre-development, strategic acquisitions,
provision of professional property expertise including development appraisals and relationship development with key investors/private sector parties
and other stakeholders.

Asset Ownership: the Council retains ownership of the assets/property portfolio working with the company on the asset/disposal strategy. This is a
significant difference from Option 3a, it is envisage that the company provides a pure professional service thereby excluding [asset
handling/transaction activities].

Governance: the company is incorporated with members and operates as an autonomous body with a separate management board made up
expertise (Councillors and/or Officers) with delegated authority to act and make decisions within the remit of the company’s function/objectives in
accordance with its articles and memorandum of association. Conflicts of interest must be managed appropriately. See Bevan Brittan Advice Note in
this respect. Where the Council is disposing of assets to the company, it will need to secure best consideration or, where it wishes to sell at an
undervalue, comply with its general Disposal Order to sell below best consideration only where there are economic, social and environmental
considerations for doing so (Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972). In addition, the Council will need to be mindful to ensure it is not falling
foul of State Aid and where there may be any doubt, that it seeks clearance.

Strategy: the company will develop its strategy in line with its own strategic objectives. However, given the Council controls the company, the Council
would have a significant influence in this.

Risk: the company is exposed to the risks of a commercial body, but in the ordinary course of business the Council's exposure to these risks is
limited by the nature of the vehicle (i.e. liability limited to the value of its shares, guarantee or capital interest, depending on the type of corporate
vehicle chosen). We understand from Bevan Brittan that where members or officers of the Council are acting for the company, the Statutory
Indemnity that they receive from the Council will not apply. Therefore, a fresh indemnity would be required by them. Please see the Bevan Brittan
Advice Note on the risks around members/officers acting for the company.

Financing: costs of operation are recharged to the Council. As the company becomes established operating income generated through the provision
of professional service to other Authorities/LEP may mitigate the Council’s exposure. Profits on disposal of assets are retained by the Council. The
Council may consider implementing a defined/ring-fenced reserve in which to manage disposal proceeds for use in future economic development
activities, subject to the impact on the Council’s corporate financial management and capital financing plans and clarification of governance
arrangements. The Council will need to consider the cost of service with reference to the Company’s Teckal exemption (please refer to the Bevan
Brittan Advice Note).

Tax/Accounting: the company prepares accounts and tax returns in accordance with UKGAAP/IFRS and relevant legislation.

P
age 66



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

17

Option 3b – Delivery through 
wholly-owned and controlled 
arms' length company where 
the Council retains ownership 
of the asset.

Developer A

Development 
site A

Developer B

Development 
site B

Developer C

Development 
site C

The Council:
• Controls the WOC
• retains ownership of the 

assets/property portfolio
• funds the operating costs of the WOC
• benefits from the economic 

regeneration e.g. new more valuable 
asset, increase rates / CIL etc or sales 
proceeds

• Retains the proceeds of sale.
The WOC:
• provides professional services in 

relation to the sale and/or development 
of the assets

• conducts the sale of sites ear-marked 
for disposal

• puts in place all the necessary 
contractual elements: 
Sales/Development agreement, 
guarantees, collateral warranties etc.

• provides the capacity and expertise 
appointed from the market

The developer retains the profit on sale of 
the head lease or future sales proceeds of 
redeveloped asset.

Lease / Sale 
Agreements

Developer 
retains profit 
on sale

Development 
head lease

Planning 
Obligations

Membership 
documents / 
Board Control

OR Sale 
AgreementsProfessional 

Services Development 
Agreements

Developer 
relationships 

CEC
Wholly 
Owned 

Company

P
age 67



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

18

Option 4a: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled arms' length company where the Council transfers ownership of the
assets

The Council establishes a limited company over which it exercises a level of influence over the activity of the company.

Principal Activity: to invest in Cheshire East with a view to acting as a catalyst in promoting economic development through property
development and job creation. Activities include leading land deals, promoting Cheshire East, masterplanning and pre-development,
strategic acquisitions, provision of professional property expertise including development appraisals and relationship development with key
investors/private sector parties and other stakeholders.

Asset Ownership: the Council transfers ownership of the assets/property portfolio to the company for a consideration e.g. capital funded by
the Council or equity in the company.

Governance: the company is incorporated with the Council having 100% ownership but operates as an autonomous body with a separate
management board comprising Councillors, officers and other parties (but without the Council having control at board level) with authority to
act and make decisions within the remit of the company's function/objectives in accordance with its articles and memorandum of association.

Where the Council is disposing of assets to the company, it will need to secure best consideration or, where it wishes to sell at an
undervalue, comply with its general Disposal Order to sell below best consideration only where there are economic, social and environmental
considerations for doing so (Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972). In addition, the Council will need to be mindful to ensure it is not
falling foul of State Aid and where there may be any doubt, that it seeks clearance.

Strategy: the company will be taking its own decisions - not under Council direct control. The company will develop its strategy in line with its
own strategic objectives. However, the Council would have some (but not necessarily significant) influence in this.

Risk: the Council is exposed to the risks associated with the transfer of assets. The company is exposed to the risks of a commercial body,
but in the ordinary course of business the Council's exposure to these risks is limited by the nature of the vehicle (i.e. liability limited to the
value of its shares, guarantee or capital interest, depending on the type of corporate vehicle chosen). We understand from Bevan Brittan that
where members or officers of the Council are acting for the company, the Statutory Indemnity that they receive from the Council will not
apply. Therefore, a fresh indemnity would be required by them. See Bevan Brittan Advice Note on the risks around members/officers acting
for the company.

Financing: the Council finances the company to cover the costs of operation. The Council provides the capital to the company in order for it
to purchase the assets for development. The Council accounts for the debtor upon transfer of the assets and acquires equity in the Company.
As the company becomes established operating income generated through the provision of professional service may mitigate the Council’s
exposure. Profits on disposal of the assets are retained by the Company for future investment and/or returned to the Council.

Tax/Accounting: the company prepares accounts and tax returns in accordance with UKGAAP/IFRS and relevant legislation.

P
age 68



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

19

Option 4a: Delivery through 
wholly-owned but not 
controlled arms' length 
company where the Council 
transfers ownership of the 
assets

Developer A

Development 
site A

Developer B

Development 
site B

Developer C

Development 
site C

The Council:
• influences the WOC
• transfers ownership of the 

assets/property portfolio
• funds the operating costs of the WOC
• benefits from the economic 

regeneration e.g. new more valuable 
asset, increase rates / CIL etc or sales 
proceeds

The WOC:
• provides professional services in 

relation to the sale and/or development 
of the assets

• conducts the sale of sites ear-marked 
for disposal

• puts in place all the necessary 
contractual elements: 
Sales/Development agreement, 
guarantees, collateral warranties etc.

• retains the proceeds of sales
• provides the capacity and expertise 

appointed from the market
The developer retains the profit on sale of 
the head lease or future sales proceeds of 
redeveloped asset.

Development 
Agreements

Lease / Sale 
Agreements

Developer 
retains profit 
on sale

Development 
head lease

Wholly 
Owned 

Company OR Sale 
Agreements

Planning 
Obligations

Asset 
transfer 
agreements

Membership 
documents 

P
age 69



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

20

Option 4b: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled arms' length company where the Council retains ownership of the
assets

As per Option 4a the Council establishes a limited company over which it exercises a level of influence over the activity of the company.
However, in this Option 4b the Council retains the ownership of the assets/property portfolio.

Principal Activity: to invest in Cheshire East with a view to acting as a catalyst in promoting economic development through property
development and job creation. Activities include leading land deals, promoting Cheshire East, masterplanning and pre-development,
strategic acquisitions, provision of professional property expertise including development appraisals and relationship development with key
investors/private sector parties and other stakeholders.

Asset Ownership: the Council retains ownership of the assets/property portfolio working with the company on the asset/disposal strategy.
This is a significant difference from Option 4a, it is envisage that the company provides a pure professional service thereby excluding asset
handling/transaction activities.

Governance: the company is incorporated with the Council having 100% ownership but operates as an autonomous body with a separate
management board comprising Councillors, officers and other parties (but without the Council having control at board level) with authority to
act and make decisions within the remit of the company's function/objectives in accordance with its articles and memorandum of association.

Where the Council is disposing of assets to the company, it will need to secure best consideration or, where it wishes to sell at an
undervalue, comply with its general Disposal Order to sell below best consideration only where there are economic, social and environmental
considerations for doing so (Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972). In addition, the Council will need to be mindful to ensure it is not
falling foul of State Aid and where there may be any doubt, that it seeks clearance.

Strategy: the company will be taking its own decisions - not under Council direct control. The company will develop its strategy in line with its
own strategic objectives. However, the Council would have some (but not necessarily significant) influence in this.

Risk: the company is exposed to the risks of a commercial body, but in the ordinary course of business the Council's exposure to these risks
is limited by the nature of the vehicle (i.e. liability limited to the value of its shares, guarantee or capital interest, depending on the type of
corporate vehicle chosen). We understand from Bevan Brittan that where members or officers of the Council are acting for the company, the
Statutory Indemnity that they receive from the Council will not apply. Therefore, a fresh indemnity would be required by them. Please see
the Bevan Brittan Advice Note on the risks around members/officers acting for the company

Financing: costs of operation are recharged to the Council. As the company becomes established operating income generated through the
provision of professional service may mitigate the Council’s exposure. Profits on disposal of assets are retained by the Council in a
defined/ring-fenced reserve for use in future economic development activities. subject to the impact on the Council’s corporate financial
management and capital financing plans and clarification of governance arrangements.

Tax/Accounting: the company prepares accounts and tax returns in accordance with UKGAAP/IFRS and relevant tax legislation.

P
age 70



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

21

Developer A

Development 
site A

Developer B

Development 
site B

Developer C

Development 
site C

Lease / Sale 
Agreements

Developer 
retains profit 
on sale

Development 
head lease

Planning 
Obligations

Membership 
documents 

OR Sale 
AgreementsProfessional 

Services Development 
Agreements

Developer 
relationships 

CEC
Wholly 
Owned 

Company

The Council:
• influences the WOC
• retains ownership of the 

assets/property portfolio
• funds the operating costs of the WOC
• benefits from the economic 

regeneration e.g. new more valuable 
asset, increase rates / CIL etc 

• retains the proceeds of sales
The WOC:
• competitively appoints a developer for 

site regeneration
• conducts the sale of sites ear-marked 

for disposal
• puts in place all the necessary 

contractual elements: 
Sales/Development agreement, 
guarantees, collateral warranties etc.

• provides the capacity and expertise 
appointed from the market

The developer retains the profit on sale of 
the head lease or future sales proceeds of 
redeveloped asset.

Option 4b: Delivery through 
wholly-owned but not 
controlled arms' length 
company where the Council 
retains ownership of the 
assets

P
age 71



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

22

Option 5: Public/Private Corporate JV

The Council undertakes a competitive process to appoint a private sector partner with whom it will create a corporate joint venture. The
purpose of the joint venture is to undertake the development of the sites for disposal rather than act as an agent for disposal purposes only.
For the purpose of the options appraisal it is assumed the Council transfers the ownership of the assets/property portfolio to the Joint Venture
and the Private sector partner contributes an equivalent equity amount.

Principal Activity: to invest in Cheshire East with a view to acting as a catalyst in promoting economic development through property
development and job creation. Activities include leading land deals, promoting Cheshire East, masterplanning and pre-development, strategic
acquisitions, provision of professional property expertise including development appraisals and relationship development with key
investors/private sector parties and other stakeholders.

Asset Ownership: the Council transfers ownership of the assets/property portfolio which the joint venture undertakes to redevelop.

Governance: the company is incorporated with members and operates as an autonomous body with a separate management board with
appropriate expertise (Councillors and/or Officers and private sector partner) and with delegated authority to act and make decisions within the
remit of the company’s function/objectives in accordance with its articles and memorandum of association. Conflicts of interest must be
managed appropriately. See Bevan Brittan Advice Note in this respect. Where the Council is disposing of assets to the company, it will need
to secure best consideration or, where it wishes to sell at an undervalue, comply with its general Disposal Order to sell below best
consideration only where there are economic, social and environmental considerations for doing so (Section 123 of the Local Government Act
1972). The Council will need to consider State Aid and where there may be any doubt, that it seeks appropriate clearance.

Strategy: the company will be developing its own strategy. The Council will have an influence on the initial strategic aims, and thereafter will
need to agree these with its partner on an on-going basis.

Risk: the Council is exposed to the risks associated with the transfer of assets. The company is exposed to the risks of a commercial body,
but in the ordinary course of business the Council's exposure to these risks is limited by the nature of the vehicle (i.e. liability limited to the
value of its shares, guarantee or capital interest, depending on the type of corporate vehicle chosen). We understand from Bevan Brittan that
where members or officers of the Council are acting for the company, the Statutory Indemnity that they receive from the Council will not apply
and a new indemnity would be required by them. See Bevan Brittan Advice Note on the risks around members/officers acting for the company.

Financing: costs of operation, including revenue (staff/overheads etc) and capital (redevelopment) costs, are met by the joint venture partners
in accordance with the JV agreement.

Tax/Accounting: the company prepares accounts and tax returns in accordance with UKGAAP/IFRS and relevant tax legislation.

P
age 72



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

3. Key Attributes of shortlisted options

23

Option 5: A public/private joint venture 
where the Council transfers ownership of 
the asset to the JV

Developer A

Development 
site A

Developer B

Development 
site B

Developer C

Development 
site C

The Council:
• transfers assets to the JV in return for 

equity
• benefits from the economic 

regeneration e.g. new more valuable 
asset, increase rates / CIL etc or sales 
proceeds

The private sector partner:
• invests cash to the equivalent value of 

the Council’s assets
• Provides capacity and expertise to 

undertake property related activity
• Benefits from a share in the profits of 

the JV
The Joint Venture:
• competitively appoints a developer for 

site regeneration or acts as the 
developer

• conducts the sale of sites ear-marked 
for disposal

• puts in place all the necessary 
contractual elements: 
Sales/Development agreement, 
guarantees, collateral warranties etc.

• retains the proceeds of sales
The developer retains the profit on sale of 
the head lease or future sales proceeds of 
redeveloped asset.

Development 
Agreements

Lease / Sale 
Agreements

Developer 
retains profit 
on sale

Development 
head lease

50:50 
Joint 

Venture OR Sale 
Agreements

Planning 
Obligations

Asset 
transfer 
agreements

Private 
Sector 
Partner

Cash (capital 
and revenue)

Capacity and 
Expertise / 
Professional 
services

P
age 73



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
24

4. Evaluation Scoring Matrix

SCORE CATEGORY DEFINITION

0 Does not meet expected standard The Option scores a 0 where it fails to meet 
the objectives of the Council in all cases in 
delivering its agenda for regeneration and 
economic development.

1 Unacceptable The Option scores a 1 where it fails to meet 
the objectives of the Council in the majority of 
cases in delivering its agenda for regeneration 
and economic development.

2 Less than acceptable The Option scores a 2 where it fails to meet 
the objectives of the Council in some cases in 
delivering its agenda for regeneration and 
economic development.

3 Acceptable The Option scores a 3 where it meets the 
objectives of the Council in delivering its 
agenda for regeneration and economic 
development.

4 Good The Option scores a 4 where it meets most, 
and exceeds in some objectives of the Council 
in delivering its agenda for regeneration and 
economic development.

5 Excellent The Option scores a 5 where it exceeds in all 
objectives of the Council in delivering its 
agenda for regeneration and economic 
development.

The shortlisted options has been scored against the evaluation criteria in accordance the following  scoring criteria;

P
age 74



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
25

5. Evaluation Criteria and weightings 

The shortlisted options has been scored against the weighted evaluation criteria set out below.  A detailed evaluation 
scoring and rationale is contained in Appendices A and B.

Criteria Weighting

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth on Cheshire East owned assets? 10

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned assets? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development value to the Council by providing dedicated delivery 
arrangements and additional property and commercial expertise? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise risks by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional property 
and commercial expertise? 10

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East 
Council? 10

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and Government investment into the Borough through creating the 
focus on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital schemes? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits the local communities – potentially utilising the Developer Panel Framework currently being scoped in more detail 
with a view to procuring during 2013/14?

5

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial benefits through a dedicated delivery vehicle? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a dedicated delivery vehicle? 10

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain 
control?

10

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its structure in the future to meet changing 
landscapes/priorities?

5

P
age 75



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
26

6. Summary of Evaluation Scores  

Commentary:

• Option 1 lacks the capacity and focus to deliver the Council strategic economic and regeneration objectives.

• Option 2 has the potential to deliver increased capacity and expertise but still lacks focus on key sites i.e. it is likely that the team will
retain responsibility for a broader range of Council objectives.

• Option 3a benefits from increased capacity, expertise and focus on key sites but exposes the Council in significant risk both
financially and operationally through the transfer of assets which crystallises Stamp Duty Land Tax.

• Option 3b benefits from increased capacity, expertise and focus, minimises the Council’s risk exposure and mitigates the impact of
Stamp Duty Land Tax.

• Option 4a although similar to Option 3 in terms of capacity, expertise and focus exposes the Council to increased operational risk
and complexity through a lack of control and therefore agility in operations and flexibility to change with the Council to meet future
objectives. It also exposes the Council to Stamp Duty Land Tax on the transfer of assets

• Option 4b has the same benefits as Option 3a without the exposure to Stamp Duty Land Tax. However, it is unlikely to be accepted
as a delivery vehicle for the wider Cheshire and Warrington LEP thereby restricting its use as a commercial entity.

• Option 5 benefits from the increased participation of the private sector potentially providing useful skills, capacity and economies of
scale. However, it is likely to require the Council to commit significant capital resources thereby relinquishing control, it is unlikely to
be flexible to meet a changing local government landscape and if exclusive may be perceived as the Council favouring one
particular private sector entity and compromising transparency. In addition the private sector partner will direct benefits away from
local society.

Conclusion:

• Option 3b is considered by the Council to best meet its objectives.

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3a Option 3b Option 4a Option 4b Option 5

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Total 14 125 38 340 37 330 43 390 27 240 34 310 30 280

Ranking 7 2 3 1 6 4 5

P
age 76



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

7. High level tax analysis and commentary on shortlisted options

We have issued to the Council separately a High Level Tax Considerations Paper. The main points applicable to the options under
consideration are summarised below. Further commentary on the preferred option is set out later in this report.

Corporation tax

• The Council does not pay corporation tax on its own income or surpluses as it benefits from the blanket tax exemption for local
authorities. If a separate corporate entity is established as a delivery vehicle (i.e. a company limited by shares/guarantee or a
Community Interest Company) this entity would be within the charge to corporation tax on any profits it makes, resulting (for example
under Option 3a) in potential tax leakage. Corporation tax (at a standard rate of 21% from April 2014 falling to 20% from April 2015)
could then be payable on the entity’s net rental income, trading profits from property development and capital gains on realisation of
investment properties.

• The risk of corporation tax at the level of the delivery vehicle could be mitigated, for example under Option 3a, through the use of a
limited liability partnership (LLP) structure; with the Council being the principal member and a 100% Council-controlled entity as a
nominee. There would also be a corporation tax benefit for the Council in using an LLP structure for a public/private joint venture
(Option 5). As an LLP is generally tax transparent, its taxable profits would then be deemed to accrue to the Council enabling it to
benefit from the local authorities’ general corporation tax exemption. Use of an LLP structure, though, would be subject to obtaining
legal advice to ensure it is within the Council’s vires to operate in this way. Under the Localism Act, councils are required to
undertake certain commercial activities through limited companies rather than LLPs.

• It should also be noted that an LLP would not generally be a suitable vehicle for “not-for-profit” non-business activities. An LLP loses
its tax transparent status if it does not carry on a business, with the result that it reverts to being treated as a company for tax
purposes thus removing any tax benefit for the Council.

• If the delivery vehicle is established as a limited company but solely undertakes support functions for the local authority, its costs
being recharged to the Council at cost without a view to profit (e.g. under Option 3b), the company’s activities should arguably lack
sufficient commerciality to constitute a trade for tax purposes. If it were considered to be trading, another possibility would be for the
vehicle to be classified as a mutual trader provided its function is to provide services to its members with, broadly, any surpluses
being returned to members through a refund of contributions. Under either of these options, tax leakage at the level of the delivery
vehicle should then be minimal (as it would then only be taxed on any investment income or chargeable gains). .

27

P
age 77



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

7. High level tax analysis and commentary on shortlisted options

VAT 

• The Council operates under a more beneficial VAT regime, in that is able to recover VAT incurred on costs which relate to exempt 
supplies (such as certain land/property disposals), so long as that VAT is, in total, less than 5% of the total VAT incurred by the 
Council. This 5% threshold is known as the ‘de-minimis’ threshold. So long as the Council does not breach this de-minimis, it can 
recover all of the VAT which it incurs and which relates to its own business and non-business activities. Whilst this presents some 
potential additional benefits to maintaining the status quo, we have not reviewed the Council’s current partial exemption position, and 
as such have relied upon a potential benefit arising. In fact, depending on the partial exemption position of the Council, there may be 
a disincentive to the Council incurring VAT in relation to VAT exempt disposals, such that if the Council did breach its de-minimis 
threshold, it could lose all of its VAT on costs which relate to VAT exempt business activities.

Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT)

• Under any of the options where land interests would be transferred from CEC to the delivery vehicle (i.e. Options 3a, 4a and 5), SDLT 
charges could potentially be triggered.  In particular circumstances, SDLT may be capable of mitigation through use of a tax 
transparent vehicle (LLP or partnership) or SDLT group relief (which can apply to property transfers between companies in a 75% 
group relationship as defined under the legislation).

• A transfer of property from CEC to an LLP which is wholly controlled by the Council (e.g. under Option 3a) should not occasion any 
SDLT charges.  However, if the LLP’s business was not mainly that of construction but was primarily dealing in land/property 
investment, it may be treated as a Property Investment Partnership (PIP).  If the LLP were classified as a PIP, SDLT may arise in 
certain circumstances in the future if external investors were to be introduced into the LLP (Option 5) and/or capital ie proceeds from 
disposals, was returned to the Council within three years of the original transfer.

• A transfer of property from CEC to a company limited by shares (e.g. under Option 3a or 4a) should be eligible for SDLT relief 
provided the Council’s shareholding interest in the vehicle is 75% or more.   SDLT group relief could be withdrawn if CEC’s 
shareholding interest in the vehicle were to fall below 75% in the future (broadly, within three years following the original property 
transfer).

• By contrast, a property transfer from CEC to a company limited by guarantee would be fully chargeable to SDLT as the delivery
vehicle (not having issued share capital) would not qualify for group relief.     

28

P
age 78



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

7. High level tax analysis and commentary on shortlisted options (cont)

29

Tax Commentary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3a Option 3b Option 4a Option 4b Option 5

Corporation Tax 
(CT)

Neutral –
CEC exempt 
from CT

As Option 1 CT payable on 
taxable 
surpluses within 
delivery vehicle 
unless 
structured as a 
tax transparent 
Limited Liability 
Partnership 
(LLP).

Risk of CT 
leakage 
minimised if 
vehicle is not 
trading 
commercially  
or is structured 
as LLP (as in 
Option 3a).

As Option 3a As Option 3b As Option 3a –
although use of 
a Limited 
Partnership or 
Limited Liability 
Partnership 
should maintain 
neutrality for the 
Council’s share 
of the surplus

Stamp Duty Land 
Tax

Neutral –
SDLT 
generally 
payable on 
land/ property 
acquisitions.

As Option 1 Adverse SDLT 
position if 
delivery vehicle 
is company 
limited by 
guarantee, 
otherwise SDLT 
neutral on land 
transfers from 
CEC to LLP or 
company limited 
by shares.

SDLT neutral as 
in Option 1 
(Land interests 
remain in CEC, 
so no SDLT
issues on 
formation of 
delivery vehicle)

As Option 3a, 
provided CEC 
holds 75% or 
more of limited 
company 
shares.  
Complex SDLT 
partnership 
rules to be 
considered 
(under LLP 
route).

As Option 3b As Option 4a

Value Added Tax Neutral -
depending on 
CEC’s de-
minimis 
position

As Option 1 Dependent on 
specific 
transactions, 
should be 
capable of VAT 
neutral 
treatment

As Option 3a As Option 3a As Option 3a As Option 3a 

P
age 79



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Analysis and commentary on preferred option (Option 3b)

30

• Option 3b is considered by the Council to best meet its objectives.

• As set out in the Council’s brief, commentary and analysis is required on the preferred option. As set out earlier in this report the 
preferred option from the qualitative options has been to be Option 3b: Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arms' length 
company where the Council retains ownership of the assets.

• Deloitte has commented on the following areas as set out in section 2 of the Council’s project brief. The areas the Council required 
commentary in are set out below;

• Governance and Scope;

• Financing of the Vehicle and Corporate Financial Strategy;

• Financial and Accounting Matters;

• Risk Management.

• Our report sets out a number of issues for the Council to consider in the implementation of the Development Vehicle.

P
age 80



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Governance and Scope 

31

Governance

• Option 3b is the delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arms' length company where the Council retains asset ownership
(hereafter referred to as “the Company”). We understand the Council has given some early consideration to the governance
arrangements for the Company, including the establishment of a Shareholder’s Committee to represent the interest of the Council as
shareholder. At this point in time proposed governance arrangements are not yet finalised.

• Board representation: our view is that the Board should be constituted with a relatively small number of individuals. In our experience
perhaps a maximum of six (containing a mixture of senior officers and Members) would provide the appropriate balance of focus, skills
and resource to lead the strategic direction of the Company. Larger numbers of individuals may result in reduced focus and strategic
direction.

• Potential conflicts of interest: the Council needs to consider the perception of conflicts even if no actual conflict exists. (ie Council
officers or elected Members making decisions at Council and Company Board level). To manage conflicts (real or perceived) the
Council would need to consider the appropriateness of Councillors acting within the Council on any matter which has a significant
impact on the Company. This issue is considered in detail in Bevan Brittan’s Advice Note.

• Council assets: the preferred option does not anticipate the transfer of Council assets to the Company. The ownership and
management of the Council assets will therefore be retained by the Council. The Council and Company will need to consider how the
current arrangements regarding the management of the Council assets are impacted as a result of the newly formed Company in
order to provide the management arrangements for the proper controls, management and stewardship of Council assets.

• Decision making structures: decision making structures in the new Company would need to be agreed, approved and formalised.
The Council will need to agree the parameters of the Company decision making. The Council will need to consider how the decision
and recommendations and general business of the running the Company interface with existing Council decision making and approval
structures. For example, which decisions require Cabinet approval or delegated approval from the relevant portfolio holder, chief
officer etc.

• Company accountability and scrutiny: we are informed by the Council that the activities of the Company would fall within the remit
of the Portfolio Holder for Prosperity & Economic Regeneration and would be subject to the normal scrutiny arrangements of the
Council, and the Council’s proposed Shareholder Committee. The Council needs to finalise these reporting lines to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place to manage the performance of the Company.

P
age 81



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Governance and Scope (2) 

32

Scope

• Under Option 3b, the scope of the Company would be’

• To accelerate growth in terms of housing completion and jobs investment on Council owned assets;

• To provide dedicated delivery arrangements and property and commercial expertise;

• To secure additional private and Government investment into the Borough through creating the focus on delivery and
providing a mechanism to deliver schemes to the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as the Council;

• Create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and investors which deliver financial and regeneration
benefits;

• To capture any financial benefits and tax efficiencies of a dedicated delivery vehicle which is Council controlled but can
benefit from agile operating arrangements and can be reviewed at a later date.

• Expansion to Cheshire & Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). We understand that going forward the Council may
wish to consider broadening the scope of the Company to operate outside of the Council’s geographic boundaries potentially
providing advisory and operational delivery services to the local LEP. The basis for this broadening of scope has not been
considered at this point. Depending on the scale of business provided for other organisations this could impact the Company’s tax
position. In addition, the Council would need to develop the arrangements in terms of the services provided; the scale of resources
needed and the commercial arrangements between the Council and other Councils in the LEP area.

• Expansion to other Council services: At some future point, the Council may also be interested in expanding the initial scope of
the Company to provide additional trading activities in other sectors. At this point, the Council does not have specific services in
mind and this will need to be considered at a future point. Dependent on the nature and scale of services to be provided, the Council
will need to consider the legal powers (vires) and also any VAT implications and potential impacts on any Teckal exemption.

Further work

• Council constitution: We understand the Council is in the early stages of considering how the implementation of this Company will
impact on the Council’s current constitution. We have not reviewed the Council’s current constitution but would recommend that the
Council establish the impact on the current constitution prior to the implementation of the new Company.

P
age 82



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Financing of the Vehicle and Corporate Financial Strategy (1) 

33

• Asset Ownership: as stated earlier in this report, the preferred option does not anticipate the transfer of Council assets to the
Company. Therefore the financial transactions associated with the financing, maintaining and disposing of capital assets are
expected to follow existing arrangements.

• Asset recognition: it is anticipated that Council assets will continue to be recognised on the Council’s balance sheet. If specific
assets are acquired, the Council will need to continue to consider the appropriate accounting treatment for each asset, recognising
the nature of the asset and its intended use.

• Asset disposal: it is anticipated that capital receipts arising from the disposal of Council owned assets will continue to be
accounted for in line with current arrangements.

• Financing of asset acquisition: it is anticipated that the financing of asset acquisition will continue to be in line with current
arrangements. Where assets are funded from borrowing, such borrowing is expected to be Council borrowing funded through the
normal routes eg Public Works Loan Board.

• Earmarked Reserve / Revolving Fund: the Council has envisaged some form of “revolving fund” to facilitate asset acquisition.
Given capital financing transactions will be retained in the Council, it may be that the benefits of the revolving fund could be
achieved through the use of an earmarked reserve (ie the capital receipts arising from the disposal of certain Council owned assets
being ringfenced to finance strategic acquisition of key sites), subject to the impact on the Council’s corporate financial management
and capital financing plans and clarification of governance arrangements. The Council may wish consider:

• Which assets form part of such an arrangement?

• The governance for such an arrangement and the decision making regarding use of specific reserve;

• The potential impact on the financial management of the Council where significant capital receipts may be earmarked for
specific purposes; and

• The impact on the Council’s constitution.

• Treasury management: where the Council wish to consider the separation of the financial resources to acquire strategic land
assets, the treasury management arrangements will need to be agreed. At this stage it is not envisaged that separate investment
and treasury management arrangements are put in place to specifically manage the ringfenced resources. However, depending on
scale, there may be some specific sites where the Council may wish to isolate disposal proceeds in a specific investment or
account. If such an arrangement is considered necessary then the Council’s treasury management policy will be needed to be
clarified and amended accordingly.

P
age 83



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential34

• Set up and operating costs: There will likely be some specific costs incurred in the set up and operation of the new delivery
vehicle, including the following:

• Company set up costs: the Company would naturally incur some set up costs and these would need to be recovered
from the changes for its services. The precise amount of the set up costs has not been estimated although may include
company formation, costs associated with revised branding and literature and one off costs associated with premises etc.
The Company would need to agree with the Council the arrangements to recover such costs.

• Operating costs: the primary operating costs are expected to be staff costs. At this point, the Council estimates that the
that the staffing of the Company would be approximately £500,000 per annum. As the intended role and scope of the
Company is developed, the Council will need to satisfy that this amount is reasonable and includes any staff overheads
and support services costs etc. Consideration would need to be given to how these costs are accounted for and the
Company would need to agree with the Council the arrangements to recover such costs.

• Proposed structure: we have set out overleaf an indicative structure for the interface between the Council and Company. Final
arrangements will be subject to clarification on a range of matters, for example, governance arrangements.

8. Preferred Option: Financing of the Vehicle and Corporate Financial Strategy (2) 

P
age 84



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential35

8. Preferred Option: Financing of the Vehicle and Corporate Financial Strategy (3) 

Draft for discussion

Cabinet
(and proposed 
Shareholder 
Committee)

CEC Finance CEC Development 
specialists

Financing 
assets e.g. 

PWLB

Developers or 
other third parties 
e.g. investors/site 

owners

Cash 
transactions

Scrutiny

Agree Company constitution e.g. 
delegated authority to members and 

officers forming the board

Professional support / 
advisory services

Staff secondees

Operational funding

Project accounts / 
performance reports

Capital 
payments 
(acquisitions)

Capital 
receipts  
(disposals)

Wholly Owned Company

Company Board (CEC 
Members and Officers)

Staff (seconded from CEC)

Agree 3 year 
business plan

Role
• Brand / Face of the 

Council
• Market relationships
• Negotiations
• Promotion of 

development sites
• Powers to commit
• Develop 3 year 

Business Plan

CompanyCouncil

Role
• Corporate landlord
• Accountable body
• Strategic Objective
• Approve 3 year 

business plan

Key
Cash Movements
Other interactions

P
age 85



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Financial and Accounting Matters 

36

VAT

� Option 3b requires the creation of a separate legal entity from the Council which, it is envisaged, will enter into service level
agreements with the Council in order to achieve its aims and objectives. The separate vehicle is likely to be making supplies which
will fall within the scope of VAT. As such, it is expected that the chosen vehicle will be required to register separately for VAT,
charge and account for VAT on the taxable (likely standard rated) supplies which it makes, and submit periodic VAT returns.

� VAT registration of the chosen vehicle will allow it to recover VAT which it incurs on its costs, and which relate to the taxable
supplies which it makes. This will be necessary regardless of type of entity which is chosen for the vehicle. If a Limited Liability
Partnership is selected, it will be required to register as a corporate body.

� It may be possible for the chosen vehicle and the Council to set up a VAT Group, which would mean that supplies between it and
the Council would be disregarded for VAT purposes, and a single periodic VAT return could be submitted. However, whilst this is
possible, HMRC do not allow a Local Authority member of a VAT Group to benefit from the “Section 33” partial exemption de
minimis provisions (which apply only to specified bodies), which would mean that the Council would potentially no longer be able to
recover VAT which it incurs and which relates to VAT exempt supplies. For this reason we do not recommend that a VAT Group
registration is pursued without careful consideration of this potentially detrimental issue.

� As Option 3b does not contemplate the transfer of land and property assets to the chosen vehicle, it appears unlikely at this time
that the chosen vehicle will make VAT exempt supplies, which should mean that it shouldn’t suffer any restriction on the recovery of
VAT incurred on its costs. This is in contrast to the options which do envisage the transfer of land and property assets to the chosen
vehicle (such as Option 3a) where there would be an increased risk of irrecoverable VAT arising in the chosen vehicle. If land and
property assets were transferred and those assets were developed for onward sale to residential developers or Housing
Associations, for example, there is a significant risk that any onward disposal of those assets would be exempt from VAT – leading
to a corresponding restriction in the chosen vehicle’s ability to recover VAT incurred on its costs – this may include VAT which the
Council has to charge the chosen vehicle, as a result of any options to tax which the Council may have made in respect of the
specific land and property assets.

� Keeping the assets in the hands of the Council removes this risk from the chosen vehicle, although not entirely as the Council may
be the entity which makes VAT exempt supplies of the land and property assets. However, as the Council benefits from the “Section
33” partial exemption de minimis provisions, the impact of making VAT exempt supplies may be limited. We have not considered
the Council’s partial exemption position, as it is outside of the scope of this report.

P
age 86



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Financial and Accounting Matters

37

Corporate Tax 

• If under Option 3b, the vehicle is designed from a public procurement perspective to fall within the Teckal exemption, we would 
anticipate that any corporation tax leakage within the delivery vehicle (assuming it is established as a limited company) should be 
minimal (i.e. corporation tax being limited to any investment income or chargeable gains).  This is on the basis that the company’s 
function would be to undertake an essential part of the Council’s activities with its costs being recharged to the Council without a 
commercial profit motive.  An LLP structure would generally be incompatible with a non-business cost centre activity of this nature.  
But, in principle, under this scenario, the vehicle should not be viewed as carrying on a commercial trading activity so would not be 
expected to generate taxable surpluses for corporation tax purposes.  As a fall-back position, if it were deemed to be trading for tax 
purposes, the company might alternatively qualify for mutual trader status assuming it exists to provide services to its members and 
its constitution meets certain conditions derived from case law.  The tax effect of mutual status should be similar to the company 
being a non-trader for tax purposes (the company not being taxed on surpluses from trading with its members).

• On balance, it may be easier to support the company’s not-for-profit or mutual status for tax purposes if it was established as a 
company limited by guarantee rather than shares.  However, if a company limited by shares is preferred for legal flexibility reasons, 
it should be feasible to achieve the same status provided suitable wording is included within the constitution. We would recommend 
that the company’s constitution and the contractual documentation should be carefully reviewed from a tax viewpoint prior to 
implementation to assist this tax filing tax position and a prior ruling is sought from HMRC on the company’s “non-trading” tax status

• Alternatively, if the vehicle under Option 3b is established with a view to generating commercial profits on an arm’s length basis from 
third parties as well as the Council, an LLP structure would be more beneficial than a limited company from a corporation tax 
perspective (as in Option 3a) as it should allow the Council to shelter its share of income within the LLP from corporation tax under 
the local authority tax exemption. This would be subject to the Council having the legal vires to operate through the medium of an 
LLP in these circumstances.

Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT)

• Option 3b should be neutral from an SDLT perspective as there would be no transfers of property between CEC and the delivery 
vehicle.

P
age 87



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Financial and Accounting Matters

38

Accounting, audit and financial reporting

• We have assumed the use of a private limited company.

• Company directors are responsible for operation and management of the company and must keep accounting records which are
sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions and to enable them to ensure that any accounts required be prepared to
comply with the requirements of the Companies Act (386 of the Companies Act 2006).

• Company directors are responsible for ensuring that the company prepares and delivers annual accounts unless the company is
dormant and it is the subsidiary of an European Economic Area (EEA) parent who agrees to guarantee the company’s liabilities
(section 448A). These accounts must be audited unless the company meets the small company exemption criteria contained within
section 477 of the Companies Act.

• To qualify as small, the company must meet two of the following conditions: turnover equal to or less than £6,500,000, balance
sheet total equal to or less than £3,260,000 (asset side only) and employees equal to or less than 50. If the company is part of a
group, the group must meet those criteria given above (section 383). A company which is unable to claim audit exemption on the
basis of qualifying as small or dormant, might still be exempt from audit if it is a subsidiary of an EEA parent and the parent
guarantees its outstanding liabilities (section 479C).

• A company is not entitled to the exemption if it was at any point part of an ineligible group (listed plc, certain financial institutions
etc – sections 384 and 478). The deadline for the submission of the accounts for a private limited company is nine months from the
accounting reference date (albeit slightly different rules for first periods of more than 12 months where the filing deadline is 21
months from incorporation).

• In addition to the submission of annual accounts, the company must also prepare an annual return which is essentially a snapshot
of the company at that given time. It must be filed within 28 days of its made up to date. Any changes to the following must also be
filed with Companies House:

• Share capital (allotment, reduction etc.)
• Officers (Board members)
• Constitution
• Registered office

P
age 88



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Financial and Accounting Matters

Financial skills:

• The Company will need access to appropriate financial skills. Dependent on the finally agreed scope of the Company, it is likely that
the Company would require the following financial skills:

• Appropriate commercial acumen with experience the financial structuring of innovative transactions to achieve the
Council’s objectives around growth; maximisation of asset value and financial benefits to the Council;

• Expertise in the preparation of required financial statements of the Company;

• Development scheme appraisal and due diligence capabilities;

• An understanding of the local government accounting requirements (depending on the finally agreed governance
arrangements).

• Skills relating to accounts preparation and local government finance skills may be available on a call off arrangement from the
Council. It may that the commercial acumen and financial structuring skills can be provided by the newly appointed Development
Executive, could be available through advisory support or could be provided by a separate experienced hires as the Company
moves forward.

Employment model:

• We understand from the Council that the estimated staffing and operating costs would be in the region of £0.5 million per annum
and that most of the staff are likely to be Council employees, or Council-contracted staff.

• Given the timescales envisaged for the implementation of the proposed Company, the Council is considering a secondment model
of staff to the Company at least in the first instance.

• Should the Council opt to transfer staff to the Company at some future point (under Option 3b) the Council would need to comply
with TUPE Regulations. This issue is considered in detail in Bevan Brittan’s Advice Note.

• Looking forward, the Council also needs to be mindful that it will need to provide for any potential transfer of staff should the
Company expire or be terminated.

39

P
age 89



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Risk Management

40

Risk Impact Mitigation

Inadequate resourcing of the
company

The Company delivers a poor service and fails to
meet its objectives. Further costs would be
required to increase the capacity of the team.

The Council will need to carefully plan the
operating functions of the Company to better
understand its resource requirements.

Fails to meet business
needs / deliver the Council’s
primary objective i.e. growth
in housing and jobs

The Company delivers a poor service and fails to
meet its objectives. Further scrutiny/control
required on the operational aspects of the
Company. Further costs may therefore be
incurred e.g. in sourcing the appropriately skilled
resource.

The Council will need to clearly define the
Company’s operating parameters within the
Company’s constitution and business plan such
that it is focuses on targeting the Council’s
primary objectives. It will also need to ensure the
Company is provided with appropriate resources
and skills.

Integration with the Council The Company fails to operate cohesively with the
in-house/retained team causing possible
duplication of work or inefficient working practices.
Further costs may be incurred

The Council will need to ensure there are clear
operating boundaries and protocols/procedures
such that any interface between the Council and
the Company is efficient. It is therefore essential
that staff of both the Council and the Company
clearly understand their respective roles and
responsibilities.

Unclear
constitution/role/responsibiliti
es/authority

The Company operates outside its anticipated
boundaries further increasing the Council’s
exposure to operational/reputational risk.

The Council will need to ensure the Company’s
constitution and business plan is clear and the
Company understands its roles and
responsibilities and how much delegated authority
it has.

Company lacks flexibility to
respond to future changes

The Council is unable to utilise the Company to
meet potential future objectives. Further costs
may be incurred in enabling the flexibility or
creating an alternate tool.

The Council will need to give careful consideration
to the level of flexibility it allows the Company
through its constitution. A careful balance of
control and risk will need to be understood.

P
age 90



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

8. Preferred Option: Risk Management 

41

Risk Impact Mitigation

Company lacks agility to
deliver it primary function

The Council fails to meet its objectives with a
potential financial and reputational risk.

The Council will need to give careful consideration
to the level of flexibility it allows the Company
through its constitution. A careful balance of
control and risk will need to be understood.

The Council does not have
the required resource to
effectively control/manage
the Company

The Council lacks the visibility required to
maintain scrutiny over the Company with a
potential impact on its reputation.

The Council will need to ensure it clearly
understands its role as the accountable body and
therefore the level of resource required to
maintain appropriate scrutiny levels without
impacting on the Company’s ability to remain
agile and flexible.

The Council exerts control
inhibiting the Company’s
ability to be agile and flexible

The Company fails to perform efficiently in
meeting its primary objective which will have a
financial impact.

The Council will need to ensure it clearly defines
its own operating parameters ensuring it gets the
right balance of control and risk.

The Company fails to
develop beneficial
relationships with developers

The Company fails to perform and deliver its
primary objective. Further resources and cost
may be required to develop beneficial
relationships.

The Council will need to ensure the Company is
staffed with individuals with the correct skills to
enable the Company to operate efficiently.

The Company operates
outside of its defined
parameters

The Company exposes the Council to additional
financial and reputational risk. Further costs may
be required to support operations not authorised.

The Council will need to ensure the Company’s
constitution and business plan is clear and the
Company understands its roles and
responsibilities and how much delegated authority
it has.

The Company acts without
delegated authority

The Company exposes the Council to additional
financial and reputational risk. Further costs may
be required to support operations not authorised.

The Council will need to ensure the Company’s
constitution and business plan is clear and the
Company understands its roles and
responsibilities and how much delegated authority
it has.

P
age 91



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendices

42

P
age 92



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
43

Appendix A – Evaluation scoring for shortlisted option

Criteria Weighting Option 1 Option 2 Option 3a Option 3b Option 4a Option 4b Option 5

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

Score Weighted 
score

1 Is the Option an enabler to housing 
growth in Cheshire East?

10 1 10 2 20 3 30 3 30 3 30 3 30 3 30

2
Is the Option an enabler to jobs 
investment on Cheshire East owned 
assets?

10 1 10 4 20 5 50 5 50 2 20 3 30 2 20

3

Does the Option enable the Council 
to maximise development value to the 
Council by providing dedicated 
delivery arrangements and additional 
property and commercial expertise?

10 0 0 3 30 4 40 4 40 4 40 4 40 4 40

4

Does the Option enable the Council 
to minimise risks by providing 
dedicated delivery arrangements and 
additional property and commercial 
expertise?

10 0 0 3 30 1 10 3 30 1 10 3 30 4 40

5

Does the Option have the potential to 
act as a delivery vehicle to the 
Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well 
as Cheshire East Council?

10 0 0 2 20 4 40 4 40 2 20 2 20 1 10

6

Does the Option have the potential to 
secure private and Government 
investment into the Borough through 
creating the focus on delivery and 
providing the mechanism to deliver 
capital schemes?

10 1 10 3 30 5 50 5 50 4 40 4 40 3 30

7

Does the Option enable the Council 
to create profitable and transparent 
relationships with developers and 
investors which benefits the local 
communities – potentially utilising the 
Developer Panel Framework currently 
being scoped in more detail with a 
view to procuring during 2013/14?

5 1 5 3 15 4 20 4 20 3 15 3 15 2 10

P
age 93



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential
44

Appendix A – Evaluation scoring for shortlisted option

Criteria Weighting Option 1 Option 2 Option 3a Option 3b Option 4a Option 4b Option 5

Score
Weight
ed 
score

Score
Weight
ed 
score

Score
Weight
ed 
score

Score
Weight
ed 
score

Score
Weight
ed 
score

Score
Weight
ed 
score

Score
Weight
ed 
score

8
Does the Option enable the Council 
to maximise any financial benefits 
through a dedicated delivery vehicle?

10 2 20 4 40 3 30 4 40 3 30 4 40 3 30

9
Does the Option enable the Council 
to minimise tax exposure of a 
dedicated delivery vehicle?

10 5 50 5 50 0 0 3 30 0 0 3 30 3 30

10

Does the Option enable the Council 
to benefit from agile operating 
arrangements of the delivery vehicle 
but still retain control?

10 1 10 4 40 4 40 4 40 2 20 2 20 3 30

11

Is the Option flexible to allow the 
Council to make changes to its 
structure in the future to meet 
changing landscapes/priorities?

5 2 10 5 25 4 20 4 20 3 15 3 15 2 10

Total [maximum score 500] 14 125 38 340 37 330 43 390 27 240 34 310 30 280

P
age 94



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendix B – Evaluation rationale – Option 1

45

Criteria Option 1

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth in Cheshire East? - lack of clarity over roles and responsibilities
- potential conflict of interest

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East 
owned assets? - the current internal capacity is not likely to accelerate job creation beyond current levels.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development 
value to the Council by providing dedicated delivery 
arrangements and additional property and commercial expertise?

- Development Executive may be considered a short term post.
- lack of capacity and focus on key sites 

Does the Option enable the Council minimise risks to the 
Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and 
additional property and commercial expertise?

- the Council retains all risks and does not have the capacity to manage, anticipate and mitigate 
potential risks.

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to 
the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East 
Council?

- the Council does not have the capacity to perform this function in addition to realising its 
economic and regeneration ambitions.

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and 
Government investment into the Borough through creating the 
focus on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital 
schemes?

- potentially lacks capacity, focus and innovation to secure additional competitive funding sources

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and 
transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits to local communities – potentially utilising the Developer 
Panel Framework currently being scoped in a more detail with a 
view to procuring during 2013/14?

- the current focus in on land deals rather than the development of relationships with developers.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial 
benefits a dedicated delivery vehicle? - current arrangements lack focus and dedicated resource to maximise financial benefits.

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of 
a dedicated delivery vehicle? - the Council benefits from public sector tax exemptions.

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile 
operating arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain 
control?

- the current arrangements do not include the capacity or tools to deliver the agility required.

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its 
structure to in the future to meet changing landscapes/priorities? - the current arrangements do not include the capacity or tools to deliver the flexibility required.

P
age 95



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendix B – Evaluation rationale – Option 2

46

Criteria Option 2

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth in Cheshire East? - lack of clarity over roles and responsibilities
- potential conflict of interest

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned 
assets?

- depending on the nature of the increased capability and capacity this option has the potential 
to improve on Option 1 but is not likely to deliver significantly improved focus.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development 
value to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements 
and additional property and commercial expertise?

- as an internal option there may still be a lack of focus as a result of operational distraction 
with other Council priorities.

Does the Option enable the Council minimise risks to the Council 
by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional 
property and commercial expertise?

- the Council retains all the risk however it recruits additional expertise to manage, anticipate 
and mitigate risks.

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the 
Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East Council?

- with increased capacity it may offer the flexibility.  However, it is unlikely to delivery excess 
capacity as a result of external recruitment to meet the additional delivery needs of other local 
authorities

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and 
Government investment into the Borough through creating the 
focus on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital 
schemes?

- provides additionality and may demonstrate an increased focus to deliver economic growth 
and thereby meeting central government funding criteria.

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and 
transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits to local communities – potentially utilising the Developer 
Panel Framework currently being scoped in a more detail with a view 
to procuring during 2013/14?

- with the increased capacity, skill and focus there is a potential to increase the ability to create 
profitable, transparent relationships.
- profits are retained by the Council.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial 
benefits a dedicated delivery vehicle?

- increasing capacity and expertise has the potential to allow the Council to focus on delivering 
financial benefits.
- it also does not incur the costs of formation of the company or other associated overheads 
such as additional statutory Companies Act requirements e.g. statutory filings.

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a 
dedicated delivery vehicle? - the Council benefits from public sector tax exemptions.

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating 
arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain control?

- increasing the capacity of the team and changing the teams operating procedures has the 
potential to deliver agility with council retaining a great deal of control.

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its 
structure to in the future to meet changing landscapes/priorities?

- increasing the capacity of the team and changing the teams operating procedures has the 
potential to deliver future change. 

P
age 96



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendix B – Evaluation rationale – Option 3a

47

Criteria Option 3a

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth in Cheshire East? - Company has a clear delineation of responsibility from the Council.
- the Company has the ability to lobby on behalf of the Council with the perception of 
separability.

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned 
assets?

- the creation of a dedicated delivery vehicle is likely to deliver significant increased focus on 
the strategic sites and act as an enabler for job creation.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development 
value to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements 
and additional property and commercial expertise?

- As a separate entity there is an increased in focus through a dedicated delivery team made 
up of property and commercial expertise.

Does the Option enable the Council minimise risks to the Council 
by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional 
property and commercial expertise?

- although there is a focus on mitigating risks through the recruitment of expertise transferring 
the assets introduces significant risk exposure to the Council.

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the 
Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East Council?

- a wholly owned company controlled by the Council is potentially a more attractive option to 
other local authorities.

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and 
Government investment into the Borough through creating the 
focus on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital 
schemes?

- the wholly owned company offers an increased focus to development.
- it also demonstrates an innovative approach to economic growth.
- also demonstrates control over how the funds are used.

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and 
transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits to local communities – potentially utilising the Developer 
Panel Framework currently being scoped in a more detail with a view 
to procuring during 2013/14?

- an arms length vehicle is perceived to increase the ability of the Council to develop profitable 
relationships.
- with it being a public owned company transparency is inherent in its formation.
- profits are also retained by the Council.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial 
benefits a dedicated delivery vehicle?

- increasing the capacity to focus on maximising financial benefits
- however transferring the assets exposes the Council to increased risks for example in a 
company failure scenario
- costs incurred on set up and associated overheads.

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a 
dedicated delivery vehicle? - as well as incurring typical trading entity taxes transferring the assets may crystallise SDLT.

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating 
arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain control?

- the company has the potential to deliver an agile solution depending on its terms of 
reference.  Additionally the Council retains control under option 3.

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its 
structure to in the future to meet changing landscapes/priorities?

- a wholly owned company has the ability to change.
- the Council controls the company and can therefore implement change.

P
age 97



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendix B – Evaluation rationale – Option 3b

48

Criteria Option 3b

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth in Cheshire East? - Company has a clear delineation of responsibility from the Council.
- the Company has the ability to lobby on behalf of the Council with the perception of 
separability.

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned 
assets?

- the creation of a dedicated delivery vehicle is likely to deliver significant increased focus on 
the strategic sites and act as an enabler for job creation.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development value 
to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and 
additional property and commercial expertise?

- as a separate entity there is an increased in focus through a dedicated delivery team made 
up of property and commercial expertise.

Does the Option enable the Council minimise risks to the Council by 
providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional property 
and commercial expertise?

- proposed dedicated delivery arrangements provide a focus on key development sites. 
Council retention of assets ownership (and the financial transactions associated with the 
asset financing and disposal) minimise risks.

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the 
Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East Council?

- a wholly owned company controlled by the Council is may potentially be a more attractive
option to other local authorities.

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and 
Government investment into the Borough through creating the focus 
on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital schemes?

- the wholly owned company offers an increased focus to development and economic 
development and provides dedicated delivery.
- also demonstrates control over how the funds are used.

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and 
transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits to local communities – potentially utilising the Developer 
Panel Framework currently being scoped in a more detail with a view 
to procuring during 2013/14?

- an arms length vehicle is perceived to increase the ability of the Council to develop 
profitable relationships.
- with it being a public owned company transparency is inherent in its formation.
- profits are also retained by the Council.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial 
benefits a dedicated delivery vehicle?

- increasing the capacity to focus on maximising financial benefits without the risk of 
transferring significant capital resources
- costs incurred on set up and associated overheads.

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a 
dedicated delivery vehicle?

- the company incurs typical taxes associated with a trading entity which will need to be 
managed/mitigated. Option 3b mitigates tax leakage through mitigating Corporation Tax, 
SDLT and VAT. 

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating 
arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain control?

- the company has the potential to deliver an agile solution depending on its terms of 
reference.  Additionally the Council retains control under option 3.

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its 
structure to in the future to meet changing landscapes/priorities?

- a wholly owned company has the ability to change.
- the Council controls the company and can therefore implement change.

P
age 98



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendix B – Evaluation rationale – Option 4a

49

Criteria Option 4a

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth in Cheshire East? - Company has a clear delineation of responsibility from the Council.
- the Company has the ability to lobby on behalf of the Council with the perception of 
separability.

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned 
assets?

- the loss of direct Council control  and the transfer of assets may not provide the necessary 
focus on local job creation.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development value 
to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and 
additional property and commercial expertise?

- As a separate entity there is an increased in focus through a dedicated delivery team made 
up of property and commercial expertise.

Does the Option enable the Council minimise risks to the Council by 
providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional property 
and commercial expertise?

- transferring the assets introduces significant risk exposure to the Council.

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the 
Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East Council?

- a wholly owned company not controlled by the Council is potentially a less attractive option 
to the Council and other local authorities.

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and 
Government investment into the Borough through creating the focus 
on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital schemes?

- the wholly owned company offers an increased focus to development.
- it also demonstrates an innovative approach to economic growth.
- lacks the control over how the funds are used.

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and 
transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits to local communities – potentially utilising the Developer 
Panel Framework currently being scoped in a more detail with a view 
to procuring during 2013/14?

- the decrease in control over the company may be perceived as a loss in control over the 
profits and transparency of the company.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial 
benefits a dedicated delivery vehicle?

- increasing the capacity to focus on maximising financial benefits
- however transferring the assets exposes the Council to increased risks for example in a 
company failure scenario
- costs incurred on set up and associated overheads.

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a 
dedicated delivery vehicle?

- as well as incurring typical trading entity taxes transferring the assets may crystallise SDLT 
and profits in the Company would subject to Corporation Tax.

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating 
arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain control?

- the company has the potential to deliver an agile solution depending on its terms of 
reference.  However, the Council loses control under option 4.

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its 
structure to in the future to meet changing landscapes/priorities?

- a wholly owned company has the ability to change.
- the Council lacks control and therefore change the terms of reference could be more 
complicated.

P
age 99



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendix B – Evaluation rationale – Option 4b

50

Criteria Option 4b

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth in Cheshire East? - Company has a clear delineation of responsibility from the Council.
- the Company has the ability to lobby on behalf of the Council with the perception of 
separability.

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned 
assets? - the loss of direct Council control  may not provide the necessary focus on local job creation.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development value 
to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and 
additional property and commercial expertise?

- As a separate entity there is an increased in focus through a dedicated delivery team made 
up of property and commercial expertise.

Does the Option enable the Council minimise risks to the Council by 
providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional property 
and commercial expertise?

- proposed dedicated delivery arrangements provide a focus on key development sites. 
Council retention of assets ownership (and the financial transactions associated with the 
asset financing and disposal) minimise risks.

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the 
Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East Council?

- a wholly owned company not controlled by the Council is potentially a less attractive option 
to the Council and other local authorities.

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and 
Government investment into the Borough through creating the focus 
on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital schemes?

- the wholly owned company offers an increased focus to development.
- it also demonstrates an innovative approach to economic growth.
- lacks the control over how the funds are used.

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and 
transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits to local communities – potentially utilising the Developer 
Panel Framework currently being scoped in a more detail with a view 
to procuring during 2013/14?

- the decrease in control over the company may be perceived as a loss in control over the 
profits and transparency of the company.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial 
benefits a dedicated delivery vehicle?

- increasing the capacity to focus on maximising financial benefits without the risk of 
transferring significant capital resources
- costs incurred on set up and associated overheads.

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a 
dedicated delivery vehicle?

- the company incurs typical taxes associated with a trading entity which will need to be 
managed/mitigated. Option 4b mitigates tax leakage through mitigating Corporation Tax, 
SDLT and VAT. 

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating 
arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain control?

- the company has the potential to deliver an agile solution depending on its terms of 
reference.  However, the Council loses control under option 4.

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its 
structure to in the future to meet changing landscapes/priorities?

- a wholly owned company has the ability to change.
- the Council lacks control and therefore change the terms of reference could be more 
complicated.

P
age 100



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Appendix B – Evaluation rationale – Option 5

51

Criteria Option 5

Is the Option an enabler to housing growth in Cheshire East? - Company has a clear delineation of responsibility from the Council.
- the Company has the ability to lobby on behalf of the Council with the perception of 
separability.

Is the Option an enabler to jobs investment on Cheshire East owned 
assets? - the creation of a joint venture may reduce the focus on local job creation.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise development value 
to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and 
additional property and commercial expertise?

- As a separate entity there is an increased in focus through a dedicated delivery team made 
up of property and commercial expertise.

Does the Option enable the Council minimise risks to the Council by 
providing dedicated delivery arrangements and additional property 
and commercial expertise?

- a JV provides the opportunity to transfer the risk to the private sector who is then 
contractually incentivised to minimise and manage it.

Does the Option have the potential to act as a delivery vehicle to the 
Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as Cheshire East Council? - it is unlikely that a JV will be an acceptable delivery vehicle for other local authorities.

Does the Option have the potential to secure private and 
Government investment into the Borough through creating the focus 
on delivery and providing the mechanism to deliver capital schemes?

- although the JV is potentially demonstrating innovation and creates a dedicated "brand" to 
delivering economic growth it may restrict access to further private sector investment beyond 
that of the private sector partner.

Does the Option enable the Council to create profitable and 
transparent relationships with developers and investors which 
benefits to local communities – potentially utilising the Developer 
Panel Framework currently being scoped in a more detail with a view 
to procuring during 2013/14?

- there is a perceived lack of transparency
- with some benefit being shared with the private sector there is potentially a reduction in the 
benefit being retained by local communities.

Does the Option enable the Council to maximise any financial 
benefits a dedicated delivery vehicle?

- as a JV the financial benefits are split between the public and private sector.
- however, with access to private sector expertise, economies of scale and financial benefits 
have the potential to be maximised
- costs incurred on set up and associated overheads.

Does the Option enable the Council to minimise tax exposure of a 
dedicated delivery vehicle?

- the company incurs typical taxes associated with a trading entity.
- the exposure is shared with the private sector.

Does the Option enable the Council to benefit from agile operating 
arrangements of the delivery vehicle but still retain control?

- a JV has the ability to be agile depending on the company's terms of reference.  However, 
it is likely that the Council loses some control to the private sector partner.

Is the Option flexible to allow the Council to make changes to its 
structure to in the future to meet changing landscapes/priorities?

- the JV is established around a set of terms with the private sector assumed to be 
competitively procured.  Changes to scope and commercial position may result in competition 
issues and extensive negotiations.
- also the private sector has equal control of the shape of the company which may hinder the 
Council to make changes.

P
age 101



© 2013 Deloitte LLP. Private and Confidential

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), a UK private company limited by guarantee, and its network of member firms, 
each of which is a legally separate and independent entity. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of DTTL and its 
member firms.

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom member firm of DTTL.

This publication has been written in general terms and therefore cannot be relied on to cover specific situations; application of the principles set out will depend 
upon the particular circumstances involved and we recommend that you obtain professional advice before acting or refraining from acting on any of the contents 
of this publication. Deloitte LLP would be pleased to advise readers on how to apply the principles set out in this publication to their specific circumstances. 
Deloitte LLP accepts no duty of care or liability for any loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining from action as a result of any material in this 
publication.

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its registered office at 2 New Street 
Square, London EC4A 3BZ, United Kingdom. Tel: +44 (0) 20 7936 3000 Fax: +44 (0) 20 7583 1198.

© 2013 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

P
age 102



1

ADVICE NOTE TO CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

TO SUPPORT ITS OPTIONS APPRAISAL ON DEVELOPMENT ARRANGEMENTS

1 Introduction and Executive Summary

1.1 Cheshire East Council (the "Council") has ambitious growth plans with the Local Plan setting out the delivery of major new
infrastructure, at least 20,000 jobs and 27,000 new homes by 2030.

1.2 As a newly created unitary authority, the Council has ambitious plans to create a strong growing economy though job creation and
enhancing the region's attractiveness to investors. In addition, the Council's strategic direction reflects a growing appetite for flexibility,
agility, freedom from bureaucracy, and for the creation of other forms of operational decision making and delivery vehicles.

1.3 In response to the growth agenda, the Council is to accelerate the development of Council owned assets and to boost the delivery of
developer-led strategic sites and is considering the development of a new Delivery Vehicle.

1.4 Bevan Brittan LLP has been commissioned by the Council to support on the legal and governance aspects of a high level appraisal on
a range of delivery options available to the Council and to assist on mitigating the risks on the Council's preferred option which best
achieves the Council's objectives.

1.5 Deloitte has been commissioned by the Council to support on the financial and tax aspects of this high level appraisal and on the
Council's preferred option which best achieves the Council's objectives. Deloitte has also facilitated and recorded the quantitative
assessment of options in its report to the Council ("Deloitte Report").

1.6 Following the Council's options appraisal and having received advice and assistance from both Deloitte and Bevan Brittan LLP, the
Council's preferred option is Option 3b (Delivery through wholly-owned and controlled arm's length company (a "Teckal company")
where the Council retains ownership of the assets. The Council considers that the principal advantage of this Option, over all others, is
that it allows the Council to focus its delivery through the separate arm's length company, without distracting the company's
management and personnel with the Council's other day to day operational requirements. The Company can also better promote the
Council's assets for development through the local plan and planning process. In addition, the company can be used flexibly by the
Council as an agent without tying the Council down to a single delivery model (as would a LABV or transfer of assets). In addition, the
Council believes that this vehicle may be regarded as more attractive by the Cheshire and Warrington LEP and possibly other public
sector bodies as a delivery vehicle for their purposes, than direct contract with the Council or a non-wholly controlled Council

P
age 103



2

company/joint venture. The type of vehicle will be a company limited by shares, due to the limited profit available and given the legal
considerations highlighted in this Advice Note. Next steps and key risk mitigation is set out at section 6 and the Conclusion.

2 Council's core objectives and requirements

2.1 The Council's core aim and objective is to select the best option for performance of its development role for carefully selected physical
assets ("Selected Assets") which have economic growth and investment potential (the "Core Aim").

2.2 In order to test whether any delivery option is suitable to fulfill the Council's Core Aim, a list of objectives and measures is required.
These have been developed by the Council and are set out as follows:

2.2.1 To accelerate growth in terms of housing completion and jobs investment on Council owned assets

2.2.2 To maximise development and minimise risk to the Council by providing dedicated delivery arrangements and property
and commercial expertise

2.2.3 To secure additional private and Government investment into the Borough creating the focus on delivery and providing
a mechanism to deliver schemes to the Cheshire & Warrington LEP as well as the Council

2.2.4 Create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and investors which deliver financial and regeneration
benefits

2.2.5 To capture any financial benefits and tax efficiencies of a dedicated delivery vehicle which is Council controlled but can
benefit from agile operating arrangements and can be reviewed at a late date

3 Council's delivery options: qualitative assessment

There are seven principal options available to the Council in relation to achievement of its Core Aim as follows:

Option 1: Status quo - continuing with self-delivery using the current programme with existing team capacity and capability (some
recruitment occurring here)

Option 2: Self delivery – strengthening and redirecting current team capacity and capability and making new provisions/alterations to
current working practices and the Council's constitution

P
age 104



3

Option 3a: Delivery through wholly-owned (or jointly-owned with a neighbouring authority) and controlled arm's length company (a
"Teckal company") where the Council transfers ownership of the assets

Option 3b: Delivery through wholly-owned (or jointly-owned with a neighbouring authority) and controlled arm's length company (a
"Teckal company") where the Council retains ownership of the assets

Option 4a: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled arm's length company where the Council transfers ownership of the
assets

Option 4b: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled arm's length company where the Council retains ownership of the assets

Option 5: Public/Private Corporate JV where the Council transfers ownership of the assets to the JV

Each option has varying degrees of risk, potential rewards and levels of independence for or from the Council, which increase from Option 1 to
Option 5. A brief explanation of each Option, together with a qualitative assessment of the risks and benefits associated with each is set out
below.

Some of the Options allow for joint ventures (JVs). The term JV can describe a range of different corporate and contractual arrangements
between two or more separate entities. Each party contributes resources to the joint venture and a new business is created in which the
parties collaborate together and share the risks and rewards associated with the venture. Different risk and reward permutations are possible.
The parties to the JV may provide land, capital, intellectual property, experienced staff or any other form of asset. Each generally has an
expertise or requirement which is central to the development and success of the new business which they decide to create together. The
parties also have a "shared vision" about the objectives of the joint venture. A joint venture can be structured contractually or through a
separate corporate vehicle. It could be with another public entity or a private sector party. A JV can create a contracting authority caught by
EU procurement requirements (e.g. Option 3) or not (e.g. Option 5).

Within Options 3, 4 and 5 there are various alternative corporate vehicles which could be established including a company (limited by shares
or guarantee) and a limited liability partnership. The headline benefits and risks associated with the most common types of corporate vehicle
available are set out in Appendix 1. Deloitte have also run through the tax treatment of such types of corporate vehicle in the Deloitte Report.

A decision to establish any of the Options would require the approval of the Council. Whichever Option is chosen at the outset, there should
be room for growth in and evolution of the business. However, any future transition to another vehicle or business (for example, an
evolution of a wholly-owned subsidiary business into a JV business) would also require further approval. The proposal is to limit the
"objects" of the initial business so that the Council can be reassured as to the extent of the business being approved at the outset.
Any activities not included in the objects would therefore be excluded from the scope of the asset development business.

P
age 105



4

What is happening elsewhere in the country and option track record

In our experience, we have not seen many property companies being set up by local authorities in recent years. A number of urban
regeneration companies were established in the last decade, but a majority have been dissolved or their businesses taken back "in house".
Of those URCs taken "in house", some remained as wholly-owned subsidiaries or had their businesses and assets transferred to a wholly-
owned subsidiary – examples include:

The New Swindon Company's business and assets transferred to Forward Swindon (wholly-owned by Swindon Borough Council)

Cambourne Pool Redruth Urban Regeneration Company became wholly owned by Cornwall Development Company (itself a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Council)

Gloucester Heritage became wholly-owned by Gloucester City Council

Other examples of local authorities establishing wholly-owned property companies (although mainly property services not development)
include:

NORSE Group and subsidiaries (formerly Norfolk Property Services) (incorporated 2006) – this is wholly-owned by Norfolk County Council
and delivers a range of property services to public and private sector clients across the UK in the education, housing, commercial,
government and civic/ community sectors.

Kingstown Works Limited (incorporated 2006) - KWL is a local authority company delivering building maintenance and repairs works
primarily to Hull City Council but they also trade with other local councils and housing associations.

Solutions SK Limited (incorporated 2006) – the company is controlled by Stockport Council and delivers property services to the public and
private sectors (for example, cleaning, landscaping and grounds maintenance, highways, property maintenance and street lighting).

Acivico Limited (incorporated 2011) – this is a company wholly-owned by Birmingham City Council providing construction and property
related services to the public and private sectors.

Examples of local authorities establishing public/private JVs (i.e. Option 4) would include:

Waterfront Edinburgh Limited (WEL) is a joint venture regeneration company wholly-owned by its two partners, the City of Edinburgh
Council and Scottish Enterprise Edinburgh and Lothian, which is a regional economic development organisation established and funded by
Scotland's central government (the Scottish Executive). WEL's objective is the regeneration of about one-third of Edinburgh's Granton
Waterfront Project which is approximately 140 hectares (346 acres) of brownfield and contaminated land in the North of Edinburgh.

P
age 106



5

London Borough of Barking and Dagenham – this Council has utilised its education BSF LEP to take forward housing development at
Riverside. It has also loosely joined with a registered provider to regenerate the Gascoigne estate (East).

More recently, the preference for local authorities (where the potential financial gain is sufficient) is to create public-private corporate JVs (i.e.
Option 5). Recent examples of this would include:

Slough Regeneration Partnership LLP – this LABV regeneration joint venture has just been established as a joint venture between Slough
Borough Council and Morgan Sindall for the development of Slough's property assets and regeneration of key sites within the Borough. It
is structured as a 50:50 JV LLP.

Croydon Urban Regeneration Vehicle – CURV is a 28-year exclusive partnership between Croydon Council and John Laing to regenerate
a range of key sites across Croydon borough.

We have also seen examples of Councils setting up arm's length companies with/without asset transfer, but these tend to be where Councils
are joining with other public entities and the combined public entities require a vehicle to share resources, effort, risk and reward. A recent
example of this would include:

Liverpool Vision - Liverpool Vision is an economic development company charged with the city's physical and economic regeneration. The
vehicle originally brought together Liverpool City Council with the HCA and North West Development Agency. Both latter members retired
and the vehicle is now wholly owned by Liverpool City Council. The vehicle is limited by guarantee and is currently changing in its scope
and remit. This example, and its development, will be of particular interest to the Council, given its preferred option.

Common issues for the Council to consider – (a) Control and "Teckal" status and (b) State Aid

Control and "Teckal" status

In this Report, references to "control" (as in a controlled arm's length company) should be read in the context of the EU case known as
"Teckal". In that case, the EC court concluded that:

(1) the contracting authority must exercise over the proposed contractor a control which is similar to that which it exercises over its own
departments; and

(2) simultaneously, the proposed contractor to which a contract would be awarded must carry out the essential part of its activates with the
contracting authority or authorities

P
age 107



6

As regards limb (1) of the Teckal test, case law has shown that the contracting authority (in this case, the Council) must have the power of
decisive influence over both the strategic objectives and the significant decisions of the contractor (i.e. the company). The Council would need
to have that power of decisive influence at a constitutional as well as an actual operational level (i.e. it actually exercises its powers). From a
commercial standpoint the company will need to function as an entity and be able to make decisions about its everyday activity (as internal
departments at the Council would be able to do) without having to refer back to the Council for every small decision. The Teckal exemption
would not require all decisions to be unanimously approved by the Council.

As regards limb (2), we assume for these purposes that the business undertaken by the company for any organisation or entity other than the
Council would be of marginal significance only. No absolute rule exists confirming what constitutes marginal significance and cases have
been decided on their particular facts rather than on underlying principles (in one case, the court considered anything up to 10% of a
company's activities to be marginal, but this does not establish a precedent threshold).

Teckal company status must be continually reviewed and limbs (1) and (2) satisfied for the benefits of the Teckal exemption to apply. There is
a proposal to codify and modify the existing rules around the Teckal exemption through the "Proposal for a Directive of the European
Parliament and of the Council on public procurement" – currently this is in draft form only. However, the company would need to ensure that it
continued to fall within the codified exemption if, as and when this becomes law.

State Aid

State Aid may arise where the Council provides aid to select undertakings (any entity which puts goods or services on the given market),
which has the potential to distort competition and affect trade between member states of the European Union. When setting up a new
company, the Council should consider State Aid in relation to the establishment of a separate company, the activities of the company and the
proposed funding arrangements. State Aid may arise in the following circumstances:

transfer of assets at under value

loans or funding to the company at non-commercial rates

award of contracts without competition where required under EU procurement legislation

guarantees provided for the company's performance in contracts with 3rd parties

There are a number of State Aid exemptions which may be available including the De-minimis exemption where State Aid may be granted up
to a maximum of 200,000 over a three year period without notification to the European Commission. There are also exemptions under the
General Block Exemption Regulations which may apply, for example aid for new SMEs. The Council will need to address whether any State
Aid risks will arise and whether mitigation is possible. Granting unlawful State Aid has potentially serious consequences including repayment
of aid with interest.

P
age 108



7

Option 1: Status quo – continuing with self-delivery using the current programme with existing team capacity and capability

Whilst the Council could consider continuing with disposing, maintaining or developing assets in the current manner, whether through a
disposal programme, ad hoc development agreements and frameworks, or asset-specific joint ventures, we understand that there are
overriding reasons why this Option is not viable:

lack of capacity – the current aggressive disposal programme is consuming all available capacity. The Council is not sufficiently
resourced to meet its growth ambitions

lack of expertise – the Council is not a developer and it lacks a development executive and asset manager

lack of flexibility – the Council's current constitution and working practices are restrictive to the Council's ability to develop

Option 2: Self delivery – strengthening and redirecting current team capacity and capability and making new provisions/alterations
to current working practices and the Councils constitution

This Option would seek to address the key deficiencies with Option 1, namely the lack of capacity, lack of expertise and lack of flexibility.
Under this Option, the Council would use the current team as a starting point, strengthening where necessary through external hires and
internal movement of Council employees. We note that the Council is currently undertaking an internal re-organisation of functions to draw
out and create focus around the asset development programme.

In addition the Council is reviewing and drafting changes to its constitution and working practices. This is retained work by the Council and
whilst the Council will share its findings with Bevan Brittan LLP for consideration, this has not occurred to date. Unlike Option 1, this Option is
a real possibility.

Risks Benefits

No separate entity to undertake development, so risk of
development budget and personnel being "swallowed" up by
wider Council objectives or future restructurings

No new brand or perception of "new start" for Council asset
development strategy

Council maintain direction of and control over delivery – no
conflicts of interest for participants above those which would
ordinarily arise (e.g. Council as landowner and planning authority)

Flexible as allows Council to retain its full range of options in
dealing with its assets (to include a future JV or framework)

P
age 109



8

No risk transfer – Council retains development risks (but also
rewards). Council may be perceived as directly undertaking more
"speculative" developments (rather than through an arm's length
entity or JV)

No or limited private sector innovation and expertise to enhance
and realise asset value or provide additional funding/share cost
(Council access to required funds may diminish over time)

Delivery potentially no quicker than currently achievable by the
Council

EU procurement regulations apply to contracts awarded by
Council

Council perceived as investing in own workforce – morale builder

No separate vehicle, so no additional tax leakage between the
development business and the Council1

No duplication of work /counter-productive work between Council
staff and a separate entity – central charges offset

Council takes development rewards – after paying suppliers, net
profit returns to Council.

Potentially cheaper to establish, given lack of separate corporate
vehicle

Council has strong covenant strength to substantiate its dealings
with third parties in relation to its assets

No state aid issues in bolstering up an arm's length company

Option 3a: Delivery through wholly-owned (or jointly-owned with a neighbouring authority) and controlled arm's length company (a
"Teckal company") where the Council transfers ownership of the assets

A Teckal company could be established as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Council or jointly with one or more neighbouring authorities.

Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of risks and benefits associated with common corporate vehicles for wholly owned companies.

1 See Deloitte Report for tax position.

P
age 110



9

Risks Benefits

Company limited in the amount of income which can be received
from organisations that do not satisfy the "Teckal" test. Risk that
Teckal status soon lost.

Not intended to be used for commercial purposes. Should be akin
to in-house provision.

Limited independence from Council, given Council control is key
requirement of Teckal status.

Delivery potentially not much quicker than currently achievable by
the Council if company is intended to be regulated in accordance
with Council policies and procedures

Company will be a contracting authority given Council ownership
and control – procurement regulations apply to contracts awarded
by the company.

Conflicts of interest can arise between Council and company –
can be dealt with, but conflicts policies need strict enforcement to
combat actual conflicts and perceived conflicts (e.g. elected
Members and officers should be wary of sitting on both
shareholder council and board of company, or exercising more
than one role in relation to a given development (e.g. on behalf of
the Council as landowner and planning authority)).

Resources required to effect transfer of assets – see section 4.4
below.

As the Council would be the acquiring authority of CPO land, this
would lead to mixed asset ownership.

SDLT liability on transfer of assets and some tax leakage, partly
dependant on choice of vehicle – see Deloitte Report.

Will entity with no trading history have better reception from the
market than the Council? The Council may be called upon to
bolster company activity through guarantees (consider State Aid).

Council can award contracts directly to the company free from
procurement requirements (albeit company caught by EU
regulations) provided Teckal tests met.

Council maintain direction of and control over delivery, although
company can have separate management team dedicated to
delivery of asset development programme. Council's strategic
role could be co-ordinated through a "shareholder council".
However, notional shareholding insufficient to satisfy Teckal.

Risk transferred down to company, although Council may need to
give guarantees or other financial support (especially in initial
phase).

Opportunity to develop new brand with separate vehicle – a
clearer, more focussed remit for the development function, away
from the other operational distractions of working within the
Council.

A separate company can better promote the Council's assets for
development through the local plan and planning process.

A Council owned and controlled entity may have more potential to
be a LEP (and possibly other public sector body) development
arm than an "in-house" operation, as per Options 1 and 2, or non
wholly controlled entity, as per Options 4 and 5.

P
age 111



10

State Aid issues may arise on a transfer of assets to the company
– see section 3 above.

Consider council's in-house function – seek to avoid duplication of
work /counter-productive work between Council staff and a
separate entity – how will central charges be offset/claimed?
Would a back office agreement back to the Council be acceptable
in the short, medium and long term?

No or limited private sector innovation and expertise to enhance
and realise asset value or provide additional funding/share cost
(Council access to required funds may diminish over time)

Transferring assets to the company commits the Council more
than Option 3b.

Option 3b: Delivery through wholly-owned (or jointly-owned with a neighbouring authority) and controlled arm's length company (a
"Teckal company") where the Council retains ownership of the assets

A Teckal company could be established as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Council or jointly with one or more neighbouring authorities.

Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of risks and benefits associated with common corporate vehicles for wholly owned companies.

Risks Benefits

Company limited in the amount of income which can be received
from organisations that do not satisfy the "Teckal" test. Risk that
Teckal status soon lost.

Not intended to be used for commercial purposes. Should be akin
to in-house provision.

Limited independence from Council, given Council control is key
requirement of Teckal status.

Delivery potentially not much quicker than currently achievable by
the Council if company is intended to be regulated in accordance

Council can award contracts directly to the company free from
procurement requirements (albeit company caught by EU
regulations) provided Teckal tests met.

Commercial/delivery risks will not be transferred down to the
company, as the Council retains the relevant assets

Opportunity to develop new brand with separate vehicle – a
clearer, more focussed remit for the development function, away
from the other operational distractions of working within the
Council.

A Council owned and controlled entity may have more potential to

P
age 112



11

with Council policies and procedures

Company will be a contracting authority given Council ownership
and control – procurement regulations apply to contracts awarded
by the company.

Conflicts of interest can arise between Council and company –
can be dealt with, but conflicts policies need strict enforcement to
combat actual conflicts and perceived conflicts (e.g. elected
Members and officers should be wary of sitting on both
shareholder council and board of company, or exercising more
than one role in relation to a given development (e.g. on behalf of
the Council as landowner and planning authority)).

Some tax leakage, partly dependant on choice of vehicle – see
Deloitte Report.

Will entity with no trading history have better reception from the
market than the Council? The Council may be called upon to
bolster company activity through guarantees (consider State Aid).
State Aid issues may arise on a transfer of assets to the company
– see section 3 above.

Consider council's in-house function – seek to avoid duplication of
work /counter-productive work between Council staff and a
separate entity – how will central charges be offset/claimed?
Would a back office agreement back to the Council be acceptable
in the short, medium and long term?

No or limited private sector innovation and expertise to provide
additional funding/share cost (Council access to required funds
may diminish over time)

As the company will be acting as agent for the Council, the
Council will in most cases be bound by the company's actions on
its behalf

Commercial/delivery risks remain with the Council given it retains
the relevant assets

be a LEP (and possibly other public sector body) development
arm than an "in-house" operation, as per Options 1 and 2, or non
wholly controlled entity, as per Options 4 and 5.

No doubling up of resources required to affect transfer of assets –
see section 4.4 below.

As the Council would be the acquiring authority of CPO land, this
would avoid mixed asset ownership.

More flexibility for the Council to retain the assets.

P
age 113



12

Option 4a: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled arm's length company where the Council transfers ownership of the
assets

A company established under this Option could be intentional or could arise where, for example, the company no longer qualifies as a "Teckal
company".

Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of risks and benefits associated with common corporate vehicles for wholly owned companies.

Risks Benefits

Separate vehicle gives rise to potential tax leakage at company
level.2

Council has less day to day control – greater potential for disputes
to arise between Council and company over direction and control
of business.

Council cannot award contracts directly to company free from
procurement requirements – company in competition with other
potential suppliers. Less partnership with the Council.

Company still likely to be a contracting authority unless
established for purely commercial purposes.

Conflicts of interest can arise between Council and company –
can be dealt with, but conflicts policies need strict enforcement to
combat actual conflicts and perceived conflicts (e.g. elected
Members and officers should be wary of sitting on both
shareholder council and board of company, or exercising more
than one role in relation to a given development (e.g. on behalf of
the Council as landowner and planning authority)).

Resources required to effect transfer of assets – see section 4.4
below.

Company not limited in the amount of income which can be
received from organisations that do not satisfy the "Teckal" test.

More freedom and flexibility from Council decision making.
Delivery should be quicker than under Options 1 and 2 and
commitment of assets (depending on how committed) may offer
greater freedom from Council control.

Opportunity to develop new brand with separate vehicle – more
potential to be a LEP (and possibly other public sector body)
development arm than if asset development undertaken "in-
house" per Option 1.

Risk transferred down to company, although Council may need to
give guarantees or other financial support (especially in initial
phase) leading to State Aid risks – see section 3 above.

Opportunity to develop new brand with separate vehicle – a
clearer, more focussed remit for the development function, away
from the other operational distractions of working within the
Council.

A separate company can better promote the Council's assets for
development through the local plan and planning process.

2 See Deloitte Report on tax treatment.

P
age 114



13

As the Council would be the acquiring authority of CPO land, this
would lead to mixed asset ownership.

Will entity with no trading history have better reception from the
market than the Council? The Council may be called upon to
bolster company activity through guarantees (consider State Aid
risks). State Aid issues may arise on a transfer of assets to the
company – see section 3 above.

Consider council's in-house function – avoid duplication of work
/counter-productive work between Council staff and a separate
entity – how will central charges be offset/claimed? A separate
back office agreement may be less likely to be acceptable.

No or limited private sector innovation and expertise to enhance
and realise asset value or provide additional funding/share cost
(Council access to required funds may diminish over time).

Transferring assets to the company commits the Council more
than Option 4b, and as the Council has limited (shareholder)
control, less flexibility and more risky for the Council.

A Council owned but not controlled entity may have more
potential to be a LEP (and possibly other public sector body)
development arm than an "in-house" operation, as per Options 1
and 2.

Option 4b: Delivery through wholly-owned but not controlled arm's length company where the Council retains ownership of the
assets

A company established under this Option could be intentional or could arise where, for example, the company no longer qualifies as a "Teckal
company".

Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of risks and benefits associated with common corporate vehicles for wholly owned companies.

Risks Benefits

P
age 115



14

Separate vehicle gives rise to potential tax leakage at company
level.3

Council has less day to day control – greater potential for disputes
to arise between Council and company over direction and control
of business.

Council cannot award contracts directly to company free from
procurement requirements – company in competition with other
potential suppliers. Less partnership with the Council.

Company still likely to be a contracting authority unless
established for purely commercial purposes.

Conflicts of interest can arise between Council and company –
can be dealt with, but conflicts policies need strict enforcement to
combat actual conflicts and perceived conflicts (e.g. elected
Members and officers should be wary of sitting on both
shareholder council and board of company, or exercising more
than one role in relation to a given development (e.g. on behalf of
the Council as landowner and planning authority)).

Will entity with no trading history have better reception from the
market than the Council? The Council may be called upon to
bolster company activity through guarantees (consider state aid
risks). State aid issues may arise on a transfer of assets to the
company.

Consider council's in-house function – avoid duplication of work
/counter-productive work between Council staff and a separate
entity – how will central charges be offset/claimed? A separate
back office agreement may be less likely to be acceptable.

No or limited private sector innovation and expertise to provide
additional funding/share cost (Council access to required funds
may diminish over time).

Company not limited in the amount of income which can be
received from organisations that do not satisfy the "Teckal" test.

More freedom and flexibility from Council decision making.
Delivery should be quicker than under Options 1 and 2.

Opportunity to develop new brand with separate vehicle – more
potential to be a LEP (and possibly other public sector body)
development arm than if asset development undertaken "in-
house" per Option 1.

Risk transferred down to company, although Council may need to
give guarantees or other financial support (especially in initial
phase) leading to State Aid risks – see section 3 above.

Opportunity to develop new brand with separate vehicle – a
clearer, more focussed remit for the development function, away
from the other operational distractions of working within the
Council.

A Council owned but not controlled entity may have more potential
to be a LEP (and possibly other public sector body) development
arm than an "in-house" operation, as per Options 1 and 2.

Commercial/delivery risks will not be transferred down to
company, as the Council retains the relevant asset

No doubling up of resources required to affect transfer of assets –
see section 4.4 below.

As the Council would be the acquiring authority of CPO land, this
would avoid mixed asset ownership.

More flexibility and less risky for the Council to retain control over
the assets, particularly where it has limited (shareholder) control
over the Company.

3 See Deloitte Report on tax treatment.

P
age 116



15

If the company is acting as agent for the Council in relation to
Council developments, the Council will in most cases be bound by
the company's actions on its behalf

Commercial/delivery risks remain with the Council given it retains
the relevant assets

Option 5: Public/Private Corporate JV

It is possible to structure a joint venture of this type contractually - an example of this would be development agreement with a private sector
partner to develop a scheme to agreed plans and specifications. Fundamentally this structure has, at its heart, a contractual position between
the Council and the private sector partner (PSP), where the partner is motivated by realising development profit on each phase or site. This
Option could still be employed in part by the Council as part of the available actions at Option 2 (bolstered self delivery) but there would be
greater concerns about "cherry picking" than passing all the development sites over.

However, a corporate joint venture such as a Local Asset Backed Vehicle (or LABV) creates a number of advantages, as set out below, but in
comparison to a contractual joint venture, the key advantages include:

A true alignment of the public and private sector interests as 50/50 partners in the vehicle. This could be articulated in an agreed
Partnership Business Plan
A separate Board that is at arm's length from the Council, which means decision making, provided it is in line with the Partnership
Business Plan can be expedited
As a long term vehicle, partners can take a longer view on returns and it is easier to create "cross-subsidy" between development of the
better and poorer assets
The private sector partner can be financially incentivised to add value to pipeline assets
There is a clearer sharing of returns rather than relying on potentially difficult overage structures

The establishment of a LABV is an example of a corporate joint venture, with its own legal personality and interests. A LABV is a limited
liability special purpose vehicle owned 50/50 by the public and private sectors with the specific purpose of carrying out regeneration and/or
renewal of development and/or operational assets. The public sector invests property assets into the vehicle which are then "value matched"
by cash from the private sector. The JV may then use these assets as security to raise finance to bring forward further development. The
public and private sector are equal equity holders and share profits equally.

Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of risks and benefits associated with common corporate vehicles for JV companies.

P
age 117



16

Risks Benefits

EU procurement implications. Selection of JV partner and any
associated award of contracts to JV and/or partner subject to
single EU procurement procedure.

Establishment and operation are resource intensive. Not securing
the agreement of the Council to proceed and high start-up costs
to establish the JV that will be abortive if the Council decides not
to proceed/deadlock arises

Potential conflict between the Council as a 50% JV partner, the
statutory objectives of the local planning authority and any future
changes in political priority. Also conflict of interest between
elected Members / Officers and their role on the JV Board (see
above on conflicts policies)

Potential market saturation with demand outstripping supply of
suitable JV partners - not being able to secure the right JV partner
following procurement (market testing helps)

Council to retain in-house function and consider offsetting of its
central charges. Duplication of work /counter-productive work
between Council staff and JV staff?

Council capacity to match the capacity of JV partner to serve on
the JV Board and make decisions

Requires defined development pipeline to maximise success and
investment opportunities - may not achieve best value due to
property market and funding market

Separate vehicle gives rise to potential tax leakage at JV level –
see Deloitte Report

State Aid risks to be mitigated – see section 3 above.

Likely to fulfil all of the Council's regeneration objectives

Delivery of holistic and comprehensive regeneration across a
number of sites, including cross-subsidisation – less likely to be
"cherry picking" of commercial sites for development rather than
community sites

Flexibility to retain the ability to include additional development
sites, without the need for a separate procurement

Establishment of a partnership where profit can be reinvested in
future, more challenging projects

Transfer of some development costs and risks to the private
sector and sharing of costs with private sector

Council benefits directly from private sector experience and
expertise to enhance and realise asset value

Leverage of significant private sector investment

Council has control through participating directly in decision
making and through the adoption of business plans agreed with
the Council at the outset

Council will take a share of the profit

Council has control and influence over the terms of the contractual
documentation

Incentivises the PSP to deliver over the long term

A 50/50 partnership that allows the Council to "deadlock"
unacceptable private sector proposals

Business opportunities for the JV (as a separate entity) to
competitively tender for regeneration and property development
projects/opportunities in Cheshire East and beyond its boundaries

A separate company can better promote the Council's assets for

P
age 118



17

development through the local plan and planning process.

4 Additional considerations

4.1 Whether the vehicle can use any existing Council frameworks and/or the soon to be formed HCA Delivery Partner Panel.

Existing Council frameworks

The Council should review its existing framework contracts to determine:
The scope of works and services which are included in the framework agreement
Who the framework agreements are with and whether the suppliers will meet the Council's requirements
The remaining terms of the framework agreements
Whether any other contracting authority (including a Teckal company) may call off the framework under its terms.

The Council may call off its existing frameworks provided that the services or works are included in the scope of the framework
agreement and that any contracts are called off within the framework terms. Where the Council is setting up a company and that
company is a contracting authority it will only be able to use the Council's existing frameworks if it is named in the OJEU and for
works/services in line with the terms of the framework when set up. Any call-offs from the framework agreements outside of these
conditions and which are not within their permitted use will create a procurement risk. Such call-off contracts may be challenged as a
direct award of contract with a remedy of ineffectiveness to the challenger if successful. Where the arm's length company is wholly
owned and controlled by the Council and a "Teckal" company, it is likely to be a contracting authority and its usage of the Council's
framework, whilst not permissible if the vehicle is not named in the OJEU, may be regarded as "low risk". Further consideration would
be needed on the facts. The Council is advised to name the company in any new frameworks it sets up. The company, where a
contracting authority, may be able to take advantage of national frameworks procured on behalf of a number of public contracting
authorities e.g. GPS or HCA.

Private sector contractors and public/private sector bodies will not be able to call-off contracts from the Council's existing framework
agreements.

HCA Delivery partner panel

The HCA's current panel expires at the end of 2013. Any new framework contracts should be called-off using the new Delivery Partner
Panel (DPP2). DPP2 covers the procurement of housing led development and is not intended for the procurement of commercial or
commercially led sites. Developers appointed to the panel will cover all areas of activity required to develop houses such as the raising

P
age 119



18

of development finance, obtaining planning permission, supply chain management, design and construction of houses including the
provision of affordable housing in association with a registered provider, design and construction of buildings and infrastructure to
support housing, sales and marketing of houses, aftercare and maintenance.

DPP2 is available to a wide range of public sector bodies. Potential users must register with the HCA to access the panel and agree to
sign up to its terms. DPP2 will be available to the Council but not to private sector developers.

4.2 Whether the vehicle can sell land and part fund development.

Councils can generally dispose of land in any manner they wish but must generally obtain "best consideration"; this can be avoided via
a specific consent from the Secretary of State or if under £2m in value by use of the general disposal consent if there are
commensurate benefits to the disposal of the land. The general disposal consent would not apply to land acquired by way of CPO.
In terms of funding development, it is unlikely that the Council could through setting up a company avoid the rules which relate to Local
Government Finance such as the Prudential Code It is worth noting that local authorities may not mortgage or charge their land.

4.3 Consideration of CPO issues.

The CPO powers would apply so far as all of the options continue to rest with the Council which would have to use such powers in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Planning and Highways Acts and related guidance. However, these powers are very
wide and the development for which they are to be used does not have to be carried out by the Council itself; so the Council could
CPO land if required for development which the Company was going to carry out- provided that this was within the very wide
provisions of the Act.

4.4 Anticipated costs of the land transfer from the Council to the vehicle to include consideration of SDLT, POS advertising, Land Registry
fees, external legal, valuation and financial advice for the vehicle.

Where the Council is considering transferring the asset to the vehicle (Options 3a or 4a – not preferred), SDLT will be due on those
land transfers, at 4% (plus VAT), we anticipate that costs of the transfer are going to be a minimum of 4.2%. If the property
advisers/valuers work on the basis of a percentage fee, then one would probably want to budget on the basis of 6% of the transfer
value to include all possible legal, financial, valuation and taxation costs. In terms of any POS (Public Open Space) advertising, we
would anticipate our legal costs to be minimal, no more than two hours per site, to deal with the advertisement only. As the Council is
aware, Land Registry fees are based on the consideration in the transfer(s) or where there is no consideration, on the land value
transferred, with a fee of £910 for a land value in excess of £1,000,000.

4.5 How the vehicle can work for and with the LEP and other authorities such as the Fire Authority.

P
age 120



19

If the Council chooses to set up a corporate vehicle, the vehicle is free to contract, subject only to its objects, with any LEP that is an
entity in its own right or any of its accountable bodies. The vehicle would also be free to contract, subject only to its objects, with other
authorities which are separate from the Council such as the Fire Authority.

4.6 TUPE and Pensions considerations.

If the Council chooses to set up a separate corporate vehicle (under Options 3 or 4) or instead to explore the JV option (under Option
5) in all probability there will be a transfer of existing Council staff under TUPE to the separate corporate vehicle and/or JV entity.
While there will obviously be the need to comply with the requirements of the TUPE Regulations in connection with any such transfers,
given that all existing rights and liabilities in relation to such existing Council staff will transfer to the separate corporate vehicle or JV
(as appropriate) then the Council will be expected to indemnify the separate corporate vehicle or JV (as appropriate) in connection with
those transferring rights and liabilities.

While the TUPE Regulations do not protect certain rights to membership of occupational pension schemes (such as the LGPS) on
transfer, the Council will have to comply with the requirements of the HM Treasury Guidance – A Fair Deal for Staff Pensions and also
the Best Value Authorities Staff Transfers (Pensions) Direction 2007. Therefore the Council would have to ensure appropriate 'pension
protection' for the staff that transfer by either:

(a) the transferring staff being provided with continued access to the LGPS following the transfer; or

(b) membership of a pension scheme which has been certified as offering broadly comparable benefits to those enjoyed under the
LGPS (together with the right to transfer their accrued rights from the LGPS to the broadly comparable pension scheme by means of
an agreed bulk transfer arrangement).

In addition, while the Council is currently focusing on its options for what to do with the services currently, the Council should not forget
that if it chooses the separate corporate vehicle or JV approaches (as appropriate), it will need to provide for any potential transfer of
staff should those arrangements come to an end. Those transfers could either be back to the Council or on to a new provider
depending on what the Council decides to do in relation to the services at that time.

Where the Council prefers to second staff to the separate corporate vehicle and/or JV entity, it will remain the employer of the staff. It
will therefore need to consider how day to day management issues are addressed such as appraisal, managing annual leave, sickness
absence, discipline and grievance matters; and should put in place an HR protocol to address this. Further consideration would also
need to be given to the arrangements which would be put in place when the secondments are brought to an end. TUPE applies by
operation of law and the parties cannot contract out of TUPE; where operational responsibility for the services in question has
transferred to the corporate vehicle/JV company, there is the risk of a challenge that this is a TUPE transfer and not a "true"
secondment. This can be addressed by staff "objecting" to the transfer and being offered new terms and conditions of employment
under which they are seconded.

P
age 121



20

5 Delivery options: quantitative assessment and preferred option

5.1 See Deloitte Report on the quantitative assessment.

5.2 Given the Council's objectives set out in section 2 above, the preferred option is Option 3b, i.e. delivery through wholly-owned (or
jointly-owned with a neighbouring authority) and controlled arm's length company (a "Teckal company") where the Council retains
ownership of the asset. Section 5 below sets out mitigation strategies in relation to the risks identified with Option 3b.

5.3 In terms of the type of corporate vehicle to be used, the preferred option is a company limited by shares.

5.4 A company limited by shares is a "tried and tested" corporate vehicle used widely within the public and private sectors, with a
separation of risks between shareholder and company and a clear decision-making forum for the formulation of business strategy (the
board). Whilst both a company limited by shares and a company limited by guarantee are able to distribute any profits made (with a
share-based company being marginally easier), a company limited by shares is more readily capable of being transferred to another
party if required in the future. This means that if the company had value (i.e. another party was willing to pay to own the company in
place of the Council), the Council's shares could easily be transferred to that other party.

5.5 Whilst there are some tax benefits to the use of a limited liability partnership over a company limited by shares or guarantee, we
understand that profit generation and distribution will be limited, hence an LLP structure is not critical (see the Deloitte Report for
details). In addition to this, there is a legal consideration for discounting the LLP model. Under section 4(2) of the Localism Act 2011, if
an authority does anything for a commercial purpose in the exercise of its general power of competence, it must do so through a
company. Exercising the power for a "commercial purpose" is not defined in the 2011 Act, but the definition of "company" does not
include LLPs. Where the development vehicle is generating profits from outside the Council's area and/or those profits are not then
recycled towards wider Council aims (for example, regeneration, housing, public realm), it is more likely that the development vehicle's
purpose is seen as commercial in nature. Using a company structure rather than an LLP structure avoids any later issues under
section 4(2) of the Localism Act 2011.

6 Risk mitigation in relation to the Preferred Option

Risks Mitigation of risks

Company limited in the amount of income which can be received from
organisations that do not satisfy the "Teckal" test. Risk that Teckal

Teckal status relevant only where the Council seeks to place
contracts which would otherwise need to be EU procured, with the
company, without going through an EU compliant procurement

P
age 122



21

status soon lost.

Not intended to be used for commercial purposes. Should be akin to in-
house provision.

Limited independence from Council, given Council control is key
requirement of Teckal status.

process.

Effective Council control of the company could be structured through
a variety of mechanisms, all documented in the company's articles
of association. For example, the Council would approve any
business plan (i.e. the overarching "envelope" of the company's
activities), scrutinise the company's performance and Board
activities (directing the Board where necessary to act or not act in a
certain way) and exercise a veto at Board level on all or key,
strategic decisions affecting the company.

Delivery potentially not much quicker than currently achievable by the
Council if company is intended to be regulated in accordance with
Council policies and procedures.

Council reviewing its own constitution and processes to determine
whether constitutional changes can be made and how any existing
Council processes can be streamlined and/or delivered differently.

The company's articles of association will determine, to a large
extent, how streamlined and efficient the company's own processes
will be. In this regard, and subject to the Council's overall control
and legal requirements under the Companies Act 2006, the articles
of association would be drafted to enhance any available flexibilities
(for example, through shortening periods required for Board and
shareholder meetings). The Council, as sole shareholder, is also
able to amend the articles at a later date to incorporate any further
flexibility required.

If the company is acting as agent for the Council, the Council will in
most cases be bound by the company's actions on its behalf.

Commercial/delivery risks remain with the Council given it retains the
relevant asset.

Given the Council will be retaining ownership of the assets, any
arrangements relating to the acquisition, development and/or
realisation of those assets will be between the Council and the
relevant counterparty. If the Council is intending to appoint the
company as its agent, the agency arrangement should be
documented to give comfort to the Council, the company and any
counterparty. This arrangement could be documented through the
business plan or a separate agreement between the Council and
the company.

Whilst this is not a mitigation strategy in itself, the allocation of
rewards follow the allocation of risk, with the Council in this case
taking the rewards of retaining the commercial/ development risks.

P
age 123



22

Conflicts of interest can arise between Council and company - can be
dealt with, but conflicts policies need strict enforcement to combat
actual conflicts and perceived conflicts (e.g. elected Members and
officers should be wary of sitting on both shareholder council and board
of company, or exercising more than one role in relation to a given
development (e.g. on behalf of the Council as landowner and planning
authority)).

See Appendix 2 for details of this issue. The wording below is the
summary conclusion from that Appendix:

It is easier to manage the conflicts for an "officer director", as the
Council can agree to the officer continuing to act as an officer
despite potential conflicts; agree not to take action against him
where he is required to act contrary to the interests of the Council
due to his role as a director; and agree to his or her remuneration as
a director. The involvement of senior officers acting as directors to
the company will require careful consideration.

Where a "councillor director" is concerned the Council, as owner of
the company and controller of the Board of Directors, can agree to
his acting as a director even with a conflict, but under the provisions
of the Localism Act 2011, the councillor would need a dispensation
to enable him to act as a councillor where a conflict of interest
arises. Dispensations may be able to be granted as the provisions
of the Localism Act are fairly wide and, for example, a dispensation
can be granted if the authority, "considers that granting the
dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's
area", or "considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a
dispensation". The member must apply for the dispensation in
writing and it does not avoid the requirement for registration of
interest or of disclosure whenever a matter of Council business
affecting the company is being discussed.

It is also important to remember that despite all of the above being
in place it is very difficult to avoid the perception of bias, which if
proven, can invalidate the decisions of the Council and give rise to a
public perception of wrongdoing which can be very difficult to
resolve.

Some tax leakage - please see the Deloitte Report. Tax leakage may be mitigated if profits are minimal (given most
business is undertaken at cost for the Council's benefit) and no
material assets transfer into the company.

Will entity with no trading history have better reception from the market
than the Council? The Council may be called upon to bolster company

If the Council wishes the company to succeed then until such time
as the company is able to "self-fund", the Council will need to

P
age 124



23

activity through guarantees (consider state Aid). State Aid issues may
arise on a transfer of assets to the company – see section 3 above.

consider funding the company. A robust business planning process
would help mitigate against unplanned cost increases.

In addition, the Council will need to be mindful to ensure it is not
distorting the market and falling foul of State Aid and, where there
may be any doubt, that it seeks advance advice and clearance. As
the Council is not seeking to dispose of assets to the company, best
consideration/undervalue issues on disposal are not relevant.

Consider council's in-house function - duplication of work /counter-
productive work between Council staff and a separate entity - how will
central charges be offset/claimed? Would a back office agreement
back to the Council be acceptable in the short, medium and long term?

Council to review processes to determine whether and how any
existing processes can be streamlined and/or delivered differently to
avoid a significant retained contract management role (and
duplication of cost).

Council to consider carefully its staffing and secondment
requirements and ensure properly documenting any secondment
arrangements. See section 4.6 above.

No or limited private sector innovation and expertise to enhance and
realise asset value or provide additional funding/share cost (Council
access to required funds may diminish over time).

To be reviewed in time following a period of business – the
company, or a subsidiary of the company, could be a partner in a
future public/private joint venture.

Whilst the company is controlled by the Council, the company's
articles of association would be drafted to take advantage of any
decision-making/process flexibilities available to it – see earlier
mitigation comment in relation to delivery speed and flexibility.

7 CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS

7.1 Given the Council's Core Aim and objectives set out in section 2 above, the Council's preferred option is Option 3b, i.e. delivery
through wholly-owned (or jointly-owned with a neighbouring authority) and controlled arm's length company (a "Teckal company")
where the Council retains ownership of the assets. The Council considers that the principal advantage of this Option, over all others, is
that it allows the Council to focus its delivery through the separate arm's length company, without distracting the company's
management and personnel with the Council's other day to day operational requirements. The company can also better promote the
Council's assets for development through the local plan and planning process. In addition, the company can be used flexibly by the
Council as an agent without tying the Council down to a single delivery model (as would a LABV or transfer of assets). In addition, the
Council believes that this vehicle may be regarded as more attractive by the Cheshire and Warrington LEP and possibly other public

P
age 125



24

sector bodies as a delivery vehicle for their purposes, than direct contract with the Council or a non-wholly controlled Council
company/joint venture.

7.2 In terms of the type of corporate vehicle to be used, the preferred option is a company limited by shares. A company limited by
shares is a "tried and tested" corporate vehicle used widely within the public and private sectors, with a separation of risks between
shareholder and company and a clear decision-making forum for the formulation of business strategy (the board). The Company would
be able to distribute any profits made (albeit the company is not expected to make significant profit), and is more readily capable of
being transferred to another party if required in the future.

7.3 Whilst there are some tax benefits to the use of a limited liability partnership over a company limited by shares or guarantee, we
understand that profit generation and distribution will be limited; hence an LLP structure is not critical (see the Deloitte Report for
details). In addition to this, there is a legal consideration for discounting the LLP model. Using a company structure rather than an LLP
structure avoids any later issues under section 4(2) of the Localism Act 2011.

7.4 Section 6 above sets out mitigation strategies in relation to the risks identified with Option 3b. It is important for the Council to:
Identify the scope of the agency role and arrangements with the company
Consider who will be a board director and how such a role is to be reconciled with any role within the Council, taking into account
actual and perceived conflicts of interest and bias
Consider the necessary constitutional and administrative processes which the Council has, to ensure that the company can be
used effectively and efficiently to improve delivery timescales
Consider the effective drafting of the memorandum and articles of association of the company to give the Council the necessary
degree of control (e.g. the Council would approve any business plan (i.e. the overarching "envelope" of the company's activities),
scrutinise the company's performance and Board activities (directing the Board where necessary to act or not act in a certain way)
and exercise a veto at Board level on all or key, strategic decisions affecting the company)
Consider the clearly defined funding model for the company
Consider the clearly defined staffing role for the company.

P
age 126



25

APPENDIX 1

OVERVIEW OF KEY RISKS AND BENEFITS BETWEEN COMMON CORPORATE VEHICLES

See Deloitte Report on Tax Treatment

The following three corporate vehicles form the structural basis for most local authority wholly-owned and joint venture vehicles, whether (in the latter
case) a local authority joint ventures with other public sector bodies or private sector parties.

Additional variations are also used where a specific objective is fundamental to the vehicle's existence – for example, a vehicle set up with a "not-for-
profit" could be incorporated as a charitable company, a community interest company or an Industrial & Provident Society. As a general principle,
unless such a specific objective is paramount, the extra regulatory burdens of charitable, community interest or Industrial & Provident status usually
outweigh the benefits.

On the understanding the Council wishes to pursue some form of wholly-owned vehicle we have tailored the following overview towards that type of
vehicle. However, most risks and benefits would apply equally (or with slight modification) to joint venture vehicles.

The Deloitte Report deals with the tax treatment of these vehicles.

Corporate vehicle Risks Benefits

Company limited by shares
(CLS)

Potential conflicts of interest for public sector directors
(e.g. Council (as Planning Authority) officers or
elected Members making decisions at Council and
company Board level), particularly for profit
distributing structures. There are particular difficulties
in relation to members acting as directors, relating to
the councillor's duties to the Council; these are likely
to preclude a Cllr acting within the council on any
matter which has a significant impact on the
company. In the case of an Office Director, the
Council may choose to waive his duty to the Council
and direct him to act in the best interests of the
company,. Council also needs to be alert to
perception of conflict even if no actual conflict

Flexible and familiar structure – local authorities
already use CLS's widely. The company's objects
can be restricted in such manner as the Council, as
sole shareholder, determines and approves through
the articles and/or by means of day to day board
control on some or all matters

The Council can structure its participation in future
JVs through a CLS or the CLS itself could become a
JV (this is less favourable to potential JV partners
given potential historic risks with the company)

CLS can trade commercially

Simple mechanism for (a) introduction of new equity
(although if the company is established as a wholly-

P
age 127



26

Corporate vehicle Risks Benefits

exists.

Maintenance of share capital requirements –rules in
the Companies Act 2006 on withdrawing capital are
reasonably inflexible (they exist primarily for the
protection of creditors)

Cannot make distributions to shareholders in excess
of distributable profits. Also, if a Teckal company,
then services back to Council should be (broadly) at
cost so little ability to generate profits. Income from
parties not in a Teckal relationship with the company
(i.e. as an independent source of revenue for the
company) will be limited.

Market facing activity limitations if Teckal company.

Transfer of shares may be subject to stamp duty

Tax levy at JV company level – no credit for no-tax
paying investors. See Deloitte Report.

Termination, voluntary or involuntary, of the company
could result in a financial loss, especially if Council is
the only funder to the company

Value issues arise on transfer of membership (i.e.
Council may need to incur time and cost to establish
fair value if it sought to sell its stake in the company)

Potential shadow directorship for the Council, if the
company's board defers too heavily to the Council for
board decisions (note that this is not the same as the
Council exercising its rights to veto or approve
matters reserved to it, in its capacity as a
shareholder)

owned vehicle, no further shares need to be issued to
the Council. Debt can be used to fund the company,
if required) and (b) equity (i.e. share) transfers

Limited liability for Council as shareholder in the
ordinary course of business

Appropriate risk sharing and management – split role
of board of directors (day to day operations) and
Council as shareholder (for strategic reserved
matters) well understood. Sole shareholders often
have greater control over their company through
control of the Board and/or extensive commercial
matters which are reserved for the sole shareholder's
decision.

Corporate management structure allows a degree of
independence from Council, although Council
ultimately has control over continued existence of the
company, can direct the Board to act in a certain way
and can alter the management of the business
through amending the articles of association

Can convert into a public company (PLC) or a
company limited by guarantee (CLG), if appropriate

CLS can distribute dividends

Rewards are linked directly to risks taken, generally in
direct proportion to the proportion of shares held – if
shares are held solely by the Council, then any net
distributable profits generated could be distributed to
the Council.

Company limited by Potential conflicts of interest for public sector directors
(e.g. Council (as Planning Authority) officers or

Familiar structure – local authorities already use
CLGs widely. The company's objects can be

P
age 128



27

Corporate vehicle Risks Benefits

guarantee (CLG) elected Members making decisions at Council and
company Board level), particularly for profit
distributing structures. There are particular difficulties
in relation to members acting as directors, relating to
the councillor's duties to the Council; these are likely
to preclude a Cllr acting within the council on any
matter which has a significant impact on the
company. In the case of an Office Director, the
Council may choose to waive his duty to the Council
and direct him to act in the best interests of the
company, In addition, the Council needs to be alert to
perception of conflict even if no actual conflict exists

Tax levy at JV company level – no credit for no-tax
paying investors. See Deloitte Report.

Termination, voluntary or involuntary, of the company
could result in a financial loss, especially if Council is
the only funder to the company

Difficult for CLG to make distributions although still
legally possible (unless prohibited by the articles of
association). If profit is a key driver for the Council,
then a CLS would be more appropriate (from a profit
distribution perspective)

Value extraction more complicated than for a CLS
(which has transferable shares) – if the Council is
considering selling its interest in the company at a
later date, a CLS would be a more appropriate than a
CLG

Potential shadow directorship for the Council, if the
company's board defers too heavily to the Council for
board decisions (note that this is not the same as the
Council exercising its rights to veto or approve
matters reserved to it, in its capacity as a member of

restricted in such manner as the Council, as sole
member, determines and approves through the
articles and/or by means of day to day board control
on some or all matters

CLG can trade commercially although structure
flexible to accommodate "not for profit" principles if
required

The Council can structure its participation in future
JVs through a CLG (although unlikely given the more
difficult extraction of profits and/or potential "not for
profit" objects of the company) or the CLG itself could
become a JV (this is less favourable to potential JV
partners given potential historic risks with the
company). Any third party looking to extract profit
from a JV would be less interested in a JV structured
as a CLG

Can convert to an unlimited liability company (not
attractive), but to a CLS

Limited liability for Council as member (of the
company) in the ordinary course of business

Appropriate risk sharing and management – split role
of board of directors (day to day operations) and
Council as member (for strategic reserved matters)
generally well understood. Sole members often have
greater control over their company through control of
the Board and/or extensive commercial matters which
are reserved for the sole shareholder's decision.

If the Council is not considering selling its interest in
the company at a later date, then a CLG often
provides a more useful model. No value issues are
created with a membership interest (the Council's
guarantee is a future obligation, not an investment like

P
age 129



28

Corporate vehicle Risks Benefits

the company)

Market facing activity limitations if Teckal company.

shares in a CLS) – for this reason, it is often easier for
CLG members to join and leave

Limited liability partnership
(LLP)

Limitation for local authorities to trade through an LLP

Given "Teckal" exemption vehicles are designed
(broadly) to be providing services to their controlling
authority on a cost basis rather than for profit and the
ability to generate income from parties not in a Teckal
relationship with the LLP (i.e. as an independent
source of revenue for the LLP) is limited, there would
be less taxable income in the first place to benefit
from an LLP structure

Less familiar structure, though becoming more widely
understood. (Lack of established case law (LLPs
have only been in existence since 2000). Please note
risks relating to new Localism Act 2011 referred to at
paragraph 5.5.

Requires two members (i.e. for partnership) – usually
this means the Council establishing a wholly-owned
nominee company which then holds c.0.01% of the
capital interests with the Council holding the
remaining 99.99% - administratively, this is more
burdensome that a CLS or CLG

Potential conflicts of interest for public sector
managers sitting within the LLP (e.g. Council (as
Planning Authority) officers or elected Members
making decisions at Council and LLP "board" level).
In addition, the Council needs to be alert to
perception of conflict even if no actual conflict exists

Transfer of interests may be subject to stamp duty

Corporate body with limited liability for members

The Council can structure its participation in future
JVs through an LLP or the LLP itself could become a
JV (this is less favourable to potential JV partners
given potential historic risks with the LLP)

Council can structure its strategic and day to day
operational control by means of an LLP or Members
Agreement which sets out how decisions are made.
Significant control can be retained by the Council
through the creation of a "management board" with
Council appointees sitting on the board and/or
reserved matters requiring Council approval. There
are no statutory directors, so no Companies Act
directors' duties to consider.

Flexible mechanism for equity/introduction of new
members - membership interests in the LLP can be
issued to new additional members and can be
assigned/transferred to other new members

Flexible basis for distributing profits and return of
capital

Tax transparent in relation to profits of the business,
so non-tax-payers do not suffer tax leakage. See
Deloitte Report.

Tax efficiency. See Deloitte Report.

Investors in LLPs can get their capital back more
easily than from other corporate entities

P
age 130



29

APPENDIX 2

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

General duties of directors

A director's general duties to the company are defined in the Companies Act 2006. A director must:

act in accordance with the company's constitution and only exercise powers for the purposes for which they were conferred

act in a way in way he considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members (which
will be the Council)

exercise independent judgment (this means that they are not able to merely act on instructions from the Council)

avoid a situation in which he has, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the interests of the company
(by virtue of his status as an elected member or officer, a director appointed by the Council would not be able to avoid this conflict of interests).
Unless that conflict is specifically authorised by the Council (as sole member of the company) or the board of directors under the procedural rules
in section 175 of the Act, or pre-authorised under the company's articles, that director cannot continue to act. We would favour pre-authorising
the director's conflict of interest in this case

not accept benefits from third parties conferred by reason of his being a director or his doing or not doing anything as a director

declare any direct or indirect interest in any proposed transaction or arrangement with the company

Where members or officers of the Council are also on the board of the company, conflicts of interests will almost certainly arise. The potential
conflicts of interest which may arise for members and officers - although they can be equally significant - have to be addressed separately because of
the different responsibilities and status of elected members and officers.

Councillors/ elected members as directors

Where a director is a councillor, then he or she must observe his/her obligations as a councillor to disclose potential conflicts of interests and observe
the requirements of the Code of Conduct of the Council required under the Localism Act 2011. The director must also be careful to behave in ways
which avoids suggestions of bias or predetermination.

P
age 131



30

Whereas the Council could grant a dispensation which covers a DPI under the Localism Act 2011, it is not possible for the Council to avoid
accusations of basis of predetermination. It is, for example, difficult for the leader, should he also be a director of the company, to propose a budget
which benefits the company. Despite dispensations, it is difficult in practical terms for him to deal with such a matter and it lays both him and the
Council open to allegations of bias and potential challenge. Equally, it would be advisable to ensure that membership of for example, the Planning
Committee is considered, so that any directors of the company who are members of the Planning Committee are not involved in making decisions on
applications from which the company would benefit.

Directors' remuneration with the wholly-owned company will be governed by the provisions of the Local Authority Order 2005, which restricts the
amount of remuneration that an elected member may receive. In effect, this means that they cannot receive any additional remuneration from the
company for acting as a director, which is beyond the special responsibility allowance they would have received had the activities of the company
been discharged by the Council. Any remuneration they receive will be deducted from the SRA that they receive within the Council and they may
only claim mileage and subsistence at the rates that apply to councillors.

Officers as directors

Officer directors cannot avoid their duties as directors of the company, but their obligations to the Council are different from those of a member.
Officers owe a duty to the Council which arises both under statute and also under their contracts of employment.

An officer is required under the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 to disclose to the Council any interest he may have in any contract or
other matter, which would include contracts with a company where he is a director. However, as the requirement to act in the best interests of the
Council and withdraw in the event of a conflict is purely contractual (through the contract of employment), the Council can waive that requirement and
instead direct the officer to act in the best interests of the company in the event of a conflict and to authorise him or her to continue to act within the
Council even with the outside interest as a director.

This would not avoid accusations of bias and determination and predetermination where an officer is both a director and deciding on a matter within
the Council which affects the company, and so once again care should be taken to make sure that undue influence is not seen to be exercised by an
officer director when matters affecting the company are being decided within the Council. Where matters are decided by members who are not
connected to the company (for example, through being directors of the company), this should be less of an issue, but it would still be wise to look at
the remit of an officer director and to ensure that appropriate line management arrangements are in force.

As regards officers' remuneration, it is a criminal offence for an officer to accept anything other than his proper remuneration and so an officer may
not accept payment from the company for his services as a director, unless the Council agrees that the additional payment will form part of his/her
proper remuneration.

P
age 132



31

Summary

In summary, therefore, it is easier to manage the conflicts for an "officer director", as the Council can agree to the officer continuing to act as an
officer despite potential conflicts; agree not to take action against him where he is required to act contrary to the interests of the Council due to his
role as a director; and agree to his or her remuneration as a director. The involvement of senior officers acting as directors to the company will
require careful consideration.

Where a "councillor director" is concerned, the Council, as owner of the company and controller of the Board of Directors can agree to his acting as a
director even with a conflict, but under the provisions of the Localism Act 2011, the councillor would need a dispensation to enable him to act as a
councillor where a conflict of interest arises. Dispensations may be able to be granted as the provisions of the Localism Act are fairly wide and, for
example, a dispensation can be granted if the authority, "considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's
area", or "considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation". The member must apply for the dispensation in writing and it does not
avoid the requirement for registration of interest or of disclosure whenever a matter of Council business affecting the company is being discussed.

It is also important to remember that despite all of the above being in place it is very difficult to avoid the perception of bias, which if proven, can
invalidate the decisions of the Council and give rise to a public perception of wrongdoing which can be very difficult to resolve.

P
age 133



P
age 134

T
his page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL MEETING – 15TH MAY 2013 
 
Extract from the Minutes of the Constitution Committee Meeting on  
26th April 2013 
 

53 ACCRUAL OF POWERS AND DUTIES: OFFICER DELEGATION SCHEME  
 
The Committee considered a proposal that all existing officer delegations 
remain effective pending the completion of the senior management review. 
 
As authorised by Council, a management review was taking place, the first 
appointments under the review having already been made. The Council’s 
Constitution, including the officer delegation scheme, currently reflected the 
pre-review officer structure. As appointments were made to the new structure 
it would be important to ensure that the officers had the appropriate powers 
and duties to fulfil their responsibilities. It was therefore proposed that pending 
the completion of the management review, all existing delegations should 
remain effective and should accrue to the relevant post holders as 
appropriate. 
 
A Scheme of Delegation Member Working Group had been appointed to 
review and amend the existing officer scheme of delegation and to make 
appropriate recommendations to the Constitution Committee. The Group was 
in the process of formulating a number of proposed changes to the scheme. It 
would be necessary for the Group to continue to review the scheme in the 
light of the emerging Council structure before concluding its 
recommendations. 
 
Members made it clear that they expected the Working Group to conclude its 
review of the scheme of delegation within the next three months and to report 
back to the Committee with recommendations. On this basis, they were 
prepared to recommend that the proposed transitional arrangements be 
effective until 1st September. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That 
 
(1) in order to ensure that the Council’s decision-making arrangements 

properly reflect the emerging officer structure under the management 
review, Council be recommended to approve that all existing delegations 
shall remain effective pending further review and shall accrue to the 
relevant post holders as appropriate, such arrangements to have effect 
until 1st September 2013; and 
 

(2) the Scheme of Delegation Member Working Group continue to review the 
officer scheme of delegation, having regard to the new management 
structure and the move to a commissioning Council, and seek to conclude 
its review within the next three months. 

 

Agenda Item 22Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Constitution Committee 
 

Date of Meeting:  26th April 2013 
Report of:  Interim Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 

 
Subject/Title: Accrual of Powers and Duties: Officer Delegation Scheme 

 
1.0      Report Summary 
 
1.1 To propose that all existing officer delegations remain effective pending 

the completion of the senior management review. 
 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
 That 
 

(1) in order to ensure that the Council’s decision-making arrangements 
properly reflect the emerging officer structure under the management 
review, Council be recommended to approve that all existing 
delegations shall remain effective and shall accrue to the relevant post 
holders as appropriate; and 
 

(2) the Scheme of Delegation Member Working Group continue to review 
the Officer Delegation Scheme, having regard to the new management 
structure and the move to a commissioning Council. 

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 The Officer Delegation Scheme is contained within Part 3 of the Council’s 

Constitution – Responsibility for Functions. The proposed accrual of 
delegations will ensure that officers act lawfully. 

 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 Not applicable.  
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Not applicable.  
  
6.0 Policy Implications 
 
6.1 No direct policy implications are identified.  
 
7.0 Financial Implications  
 
7.1 None identified.  

Page 137



  

 

 
 
8.0 Legal Implications 
 
8.1 Any changes to the Constitution need to be agreed by the Council 

following a recommendation from the Constitution Committee. Such 
changes also need to comply with the relevant statutory requirements.  

 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 The Council has robust systems of internal control to ensure that officers 

use their delegations in accordance with the requirements of the 
Constitution.  The authority which is sought from Council, upon the 
recommendation of the Committee, will remove the risk of officers 
appointed to new posts inadvertently seeking to exercise authority which 
applied under the existing officer delegation scheme. 

 
10.0 Background and Options 
 
10.1 As authorised by Council, a management review is now taking place, the 

first appointments under the review having already been made.  The 
Council’s Constitution, including the officer delegation scheme, currently 
reflects the pre-review officer structure.  Therefore, authority is sought 
from Council, upon the recommendation of the Constitution Committee, 
which will ensure that any delegations exercised by officers appointed to 
new posts under the management review, are exercised with the full 
authority of Council. 

 
10.2 This report therefore seeks authority for any officer, appointed to a new 

post under the emerging Council officer structure, to have the power to 
take action under the officer delegation scheme in accordance with the 
new job responsibilities which fall within their appointed role; such powers 
to be limited to those which applied under the pre-review officer delegation 
scheme.    

 
10.3 A Scheme of Delegation Member Working Group has already been 

appointed to review and amend the existing officer scheme of delegation 
and to make appropriate recommendations to the Constitution Committee 
on the powers and responsibilities of officers. The Group has been 
meeting and is in the process of formulating a number of proposed 
changes to the officer delegation scheme. 

 
10.3 It will be necessary for the Working Group to continue to review the Officer 

Delegation Scheme, in the light of the emerging Council structure before 
concluding its recommendations. 

 
10.4 As appointments are made to the new structure it will be important to 

ensure that the officers have the appropriate powers and duties to fulfil 
their responsibilities. It is therefore proposed that pending the completion 

Page 138



  

 

of the Management Review, all existing delegations shall remain effective 
and shall accrue to the relevant post holders as appropriate. 

 
11.0 Access to Information 
 
 The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by 

contacting the report writer.  There are no specific background documents.  
 

Officer: Mike Rowan Interim Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 
Tel No: 01270 - 685882 
Email: mike.rowan@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Page 139



Page 140

This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

 COUNCIL 
 

Date of Meeting:  15th May 2013 
Report of:  Executive Director of Strategic Commissioning 

Interim Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 
Subject/Title:  Health and Wellbeing Board’s Terms of Reference 

 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 At the meeting of Council held on 28th February 2013 it was resolved that the 

current Health and Wellbeing Board’s Terms of Reference be approved, until 
such a time as the draft Terms of Reference could be reviewed by the Health 
and Wellbeing Board, in light of the recently published Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

 
1.2 This report makes proposals for some amendments to the existing Terms Of 

Reference in the light of the Regulations and guidance published by the Local 
Government Association. 

 
2.0 Decision Required 
 
2.1 That Council consider the proposals contained in this report and agree the 

modifications. 
 

3.0 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
3.1 To ensure that the Health and Wellbeing Board operates effectively and that 

the Council is compliant with the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

 
4.0 Wards affected 
 
 All 
 
5.0  Local Ward Members 
 
 All 
 
6.0 Policy Implications 
 
6.1  The health and wellbeing of the residents of Cheshire East is everyone’s 

business, and as such implications for future policy development, service 
redesign and budget setting should account for the impact on the health and 
wellbeing of the population and indeed the future priorities of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board from April 2013. 

 

Agenda Item 23Page 141



6.2  The NHS Operating Framework for 2012/13 described the Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s primary responsibility as to ‘….provide local systems 
leadership across health and social care and public health...’ 

 
6.3 The collaborative decision making approach of this Board is essential to 

achieving whole system accountability for the improvement of the health and 
wellbeing of Cheshire East citizens. This requires the delivery of integrated care 
services and effective integrated commissioning approaches to achieve 
maximum benefits for people, families and communities within the collective 
resources of the health and social care economy. 

 
6.4  Importantly local leaders and commissioners will need to establish new 

relationships with others such as – the Police and Crime Commissioner, and 
the regional representative of the NHS Commissioning Board, and Public 
Health England. The importance of system wide leadership with others can also 
not be underestimated e.g. Housing Providers, Acute and Specialist Health 
providers, Voluntary Community Faith Sector, local businesses, and other 
patient and public voices.  

 
7.0 Financial Implications 
 
7.1 None to note in respect of the terms of reference themselves. 
 
7.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board has no formal delegated authority from any of 

the statutory bodies in respect of resource decision making.  Therefore the 
process for making decisions around resource allocation remains within Board 
members’ respective individual organisation’s governance, powers and duties. 

 
8.0 Legal Implications 
 
8.1  The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires the Local Authority to establish a 

Health and Wellbeing Board for its area. Core membership includes at least 
one local Councillor (nominated by the Council’s Leader) the Directors of Adult 
Social Services, Children’s Services and Public Health, a representative of the 
Local Healthwatch Organisation and a representative of each Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the NHS Commissioning Board. The Local Authority 
may also nominate such other individuals as they consider appropriate. 

 
8.2 Once established in April 2013 the Board will be a Committee of the Local 

Authority but the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 modify some of the normal 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 and these are outlined in Section 10 of the report. The 
Board has a number of duties under the Act but specifically is tasked with a 
duty to encourage integrated working in the provision of health and social care 
services. 

 
 
 
 

Page 142



9.0 Risk Management 
 
9.1 Corporate risks have been determined in respect of Health Partnerships, and 

this is reported to the Corporate Risk Management Group. Failure to establish a 
strong collaborative Board could impact negitively on the health and wellbeing 
of Cheshire East citizens and indeed on the Councils own objectives set out the 
Sustainable Communities Plan and Business Plan for 2013-2016. 

 
9.2  The Health and Wellbeing Board has established an initial Risk Register. The 

Board will review these quarterly. 
 
10.0  Background and Options 
 
10.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 has initiated a number of significant 

changes that will affect the local health and social care landscape. This 
includes the establishment of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board, 
the Clinical Commissioning Groups and the transfer of Public Health 
responsibilities from the Primary Care Trust to the Local Authority. The 
Authority has a greater role to play now in setting policy, providing system 
leadership and in connecting commissioning activity that will contribute to 
improved health outcomes for the population of Cheshire East.  

 
10.2 The regulations relating to Health and Wellbeing Boards have been published 

as Statutory Instrument 2013 No. 218 entitled, The Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013  

 
10.3 The regulations modify certain legislation as it applies to Health and Wellbeing 

Boards and disapply certain legislation in relation to the Boards. The provisions 
which are modified or disapplied are in the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  

 
10.4 Under section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, a Health and 

Wellbeing Board is a committee of the council which established it and for the 
purposes of any enactment is to be treated as if appointed under section 102 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. It is therefore a ‘section 102 committee’, as it 
is sometimes called within local government. However, the regulations modify 
and disapply certain provisions of section 102 and other sections of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and also provisions of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. 

 
10.5 The modifications and disapplications which apply to Health and Wellbeing 

boards within the regulations generally also apply to sub-committees and joint 
sub-committees of the Boards. 

 
10.6  The guidance from the Local Government Association deal with both 

constitutional and governance matters. This report deals predominately with 
constitutional matters. 

 
10.7 Councils and their partners on Health and Wellbeing Boards can take 

advantage of the flexibility allowed by the regulations to develop ways of 

Page 143



working that genuinely reflect the wishes of their members and the needs of the 
communities they serve. It is recommended that these wider issues of 
governance are considered at a later date when the Health and Wellbeing 
Board has had a period of formal operation. 

 
10.8 The current terms of reference are broadly compliant with the Regulations but 

there are some constitutional issues that can be clarified at this time are:- 
 

Purpose of the Board 
 

 The statutory purpose of the Health and Wellbeing Board is:- 
 

• To prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) and Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategies (JHWSs), which is a duty of local 
authorities and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).  
 

• A duty to encourage integrated working between health and social care 
commissioners, including providing advice, assistance or other support 
to encourage arrangements under section 75 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (ie lead commissioning, pooled budgets and/or 
integrated provision) in connection with the provision of health and social 
care services.  

 
• A power to encourage close working between commissioners of health-

related services and the Board itself.  
 
• A power to encourage close working between commissioners of health-

related services (such as housing and many other local government 
services) and commissioners of health and social care services 

 
• Any other functions that may be delegated by the council under section 

196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. Such delegated functions 
need not be confined to public health and social care.  

  
Membership and Political Balance 
 
• The councillor membership is nominated by the Executive Leader but 

approved by Council. Under the regulations (Regulation 7) Sections 15 
to 16 and Schedule 1 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
disapply the political proportionality requirements for section 102 
committees in respect of health and wellbeing boards. This means that 
Councils can decide the approach to councillor membership of Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and enables the council to include other members 
as it thinks appropriate but must consult the Health and Wellbeing Board 
if doing so any time after a Board is established  

 
Voting 

 
• The Local Government Act 1972 does not allow officers to be members 

of local authority committees. Regulation 5(1) removes this restriction in 

Page 144



relation to Health and Wellbeing Boards by disapplying section 104(1) of 
the 1972 Act to enable the local authority directors specified in the 2012 
Act to become members of Health and Wellbeing Boards. 

 
• Regulation 6 modifies the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

(section 13(1)) to enable all members of Health and Wellbeing Boards or 
their sub-committees to vote unless the council decides otherwise. This 
means that the council is free to decide, in consultation with the Health 
and Wellbeing Board which members of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
should be voting members. 

 
Codes of conduct and conflicts of interest 

• The regulations under section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 do not modify or disapply any legislation relating to codes of 
conduct and conflicts of interest. This means that legislation in relation to 
these issues will apply to Health and Wellbeing Boards. Additional 
information is required in the terms of reference to ensure that Members 
of the Board and working to the same rules as other Council decision 
making bodies 

 
Transparency and openness 

• The regulations under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 do not 
modify legislation in relation to transparency requirements in relation to 
Health and Wellbeing Boards. This means that they are subject to the 
same requirements of openness and transparency as other section 102 
committees. Therefore the normal access to information provision and 
rules will apply and provision should be made for a public question time 
session. 
 

10.9 In considering the draft Terms of Reference, Council agreed that the   
           Health and Wellbeing Board should consider a suggested addition to  
           the wording of the last bullet point at paragraph 2 – The Board’s Vision,  

to refer to “Achieving improved evidence–based public outcomes  within a 
holistic vision of health and wellbeing”. 
 
The Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board, at its meeting on 26 March 2013, 
agreed the Terms of Reference. 
 
The Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board considered the suggested additions 
from Council to the wording of the last bullet point at paragraph 2, as set out 
above and agreed that the word “improved” should be included, but that the 
word “ public” should not. 

  
10.10 In the light of the above, suggested revisions to the terms of reference have 

been made and these are shown as tracked changes, at Appendix 1. 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



11.0 Access to Information 
 

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting 
the report writers: 

 
 Name: Guy Kilminster 
 Designation: Head of Health Improvement 
 Tel No: 01260-686560 
 Email: guy.kilminster@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 146



 
 

1 

Cheshire East Statutory Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
Terms of Reference: 
 
1.  Context 
 
1.1  The full name shall be the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 
1.2 The Board assumes statutory responsibility from April 2013.   
 
1.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 and subsequent regulations provide the 

statutory framework for Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB).   
  
2.  The Board’s Vision  
 
Cheshire East Health & Wellbeing Board will work together to make a positive 
difference to people’s lives through a partnership that understands and 
responds to the needs of the population now and in the future. The Board will 
do this by: 
 

• Engaging effectively with the public. 
• Enabling people to be happier, healthier, and independent for longer. 
• Supporting people to take personal responsibility and make good lifestyle 

choices. 
• Achieving improved evidence-based outcomes within a holistic vision of 

health and wellbeing. 
 
2.1 Purpose 

 
• To prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) and Joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategies (JHWSs), which is a duty of local 
authorities and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).  
 

• To encourage integrated working between health and social care 
commissioners, including providing advice, assistance or other support 
to encourage arrangements under section 75 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (ie lead commissioning, pooled budgets and/or 
integrated provision) in connection with the provision of health and 
social care services.  

 

• To encourage close working between commissioners of health-related 
services and the board itself.  

 

• To encourage close working between commissioners of health-related 
services (such as housing and many other local government services) 
and commissioners of health and social care services 

 

Page 147



 
 

2 

• Any other functions that may be delegated by the council under 
section 196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. Such 
delegated functions need not be confined to public health and social 
care.  

 
• To provide advice assistance and support for the purpose of 

encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of 
such services. 

 
 

2.2 Key objectives (The efforts or actions we intend to attain or accomplish that 
contribute to achieving our vision) 

1. Provide strategic leadership across commissioning organisations enabling the 
transition from separate, fragmented commissioning to aligned, joint and or 
integrated commissioning. 

2. To work differently and effectively together in order to achieve appropriately: 
a. Aligned, Pooled, or Integrate Services and or Resources. 
b. Understand need and demand more clearly and develop from this 

health and social care intelligence that informs commissioning. 
c. Specify, agree and achieve shared outcomes. 
d. Engage the public in a true spirit of partnership. 

3. Develop, use and share the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment to enable 
evidenced-based commissioning decisions to be made. 

4. Produce a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy as the overarching framework 
from which commissioning intentions can be aligned by health services, social 
care, public health and other services [where the Board agrees] contributing 
to the achievement of collective health improvement within the Borough. 

3.  Roles and Responsibilities 
 
3.1 To work together effectively to ensure the delivery of the Joint Strategic 
 Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
3.2 To work within the Board to build a collaborative partnership to key decision 

making that embeds health and wellbeing challenge, issue resolution and 
provides strategic system leadership. 

 
3.3 To participate in Board discussions to reflect the views of their partner 

organisations, being sufficiently briefed to be able to make recommendations 
about future policy developments and service delivery. 

 
3.4 To champion the work of the Board in their wider work and networks and in all 

individual community engagement activities. 
 

Deleted: The Board may 
encourage those involved in 
arranging the provision of 
Health-Related Services to 
work closely with the Board.¶
¶
The Board may encourage 
those involved in arranging for 
the provision of any Health or 
Social Care services or Health 
Related services to work 
closely together.¶

Page 148



 
 

3 

3.5 To ensure that there are communication mechanisms in place within partner 
organisation[s] to enable information about the Health and Wellbeing Boards 
priorities and recommendations to be effectively disseminated. 

 
3.6 To share any, changes to strategy, policy, and the system consequences of 

such on budgets and service delivery within their own partner organisations 
with the Board to consider the wider system implications.  

 
4.  Accountability 
 
4.1  The Board carries no formal delegated authority from any of the individual 

statutory bodies. 
 
4.2  Core Members of the board have responsibility and accountability to their 
 individual duties and to their role on the Board. 
 
4.3  The Board will discharge its responsibilities by means of recommendations to 

the relevant partner organisations, who will act in accordance with their 
respective powers and duties. 

 
4.4  The Council’s Core Members will ensure that they keep Cabinet and wider 
 Council advised of the work of the Board. 
 
4.5 The Board will report to Full Council and to both NHS Clinical Commissioning 

Groups (CCG’s) Governing Bodies by ensuring access to meeting minutes 
and presenting papers as required. 

 
4.6 The Board will not exercise scrutiny duties around health or adult social care 

services directly. This will remain the role of the Cheshire East Health and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee. Decisions taken and work progressed by the 
Board will be subject to scrutiny by this committee.  

 
4.7 The Board will provide information to the public through publications, local 

media, and wider public activities by publishing the minutes of its meetings on 
the Council’s website. The Board is supported by an Engagement and 
Communications Network across Board organisation to ensure this function 
can operate successfully. 

 
4.8 The Board has produced an initial governance structure at Appendix 1 which 

highlights statutory and advisory functions to the Board and its members. 
 
5.  Membership 
 
5.1  The core membership of the Board will comprise the following: 
 

• Portfolio Holder – Health & Adult Social Care  [Board Chairman], 
• Portfolio Holder – Children & Families, 
• Opposition Party Member 
• The Director of Public Health, 
• The Director of Children’s Services,  

Deleted: Overview & 

Deleted: Families and Adults 
(+1) 

Page 149



 
 

4 

• The Director of Adult Services 
• The Chief Executive of the Council (Associate Non Voting Member) 
• Accountable Officer of the South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
• Chair. GP Lead of the South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
• Accountable Officer of the Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning 

Group 
• Chair. GP Lead of the Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
• A designated representative from Local HealthWatch  
• Member of the National Health Commissioning Board (NHCB) 

 
5.2 The Core Members will keep under review the Membership of the Board and 

if appropriate will make recommendations to Council on any changes to the 
Core Membership. 

 
5.3 The above Core Members 1 through a majority vote have the authority to 

appoint individuals as Non Voting Associate Members of the Board. 
(Committee Procedure Rule 20.1 refers). The length of their membership will 
be for up to one year and will be subject to re-selection at the next Annual 
General Meeting “AGM”. Associate Members will assist the board in achieving 
the priorities agreed within the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and may 
indeed be chairs of sub structure forums where they are not actual Core 
Members of the Board. 

 
5.4 The above Core Members 2 through a majority vote have the authority to 

recommend to Council that individuals be appointed as Voting Associate 
Members of the Board. The length of their membership will be for up to one 
year and will be subject to re-selection at the next Annual General Meeting 
“AGM”. 

 
5.5  Each Core Member has the power to nominate a single named substitute. 
 Should a Substitute Member be required, advance notice of not less than 2 
 working days should be given to the Council. The Substitute Members shall 
 have the same powers and responsibilities as the Core Members. 
 
6.  Frequency of Meetings 
 
6.1  There will be no less than six meetings per year including an AGM. Usually 

once every two months as a formal Board. The Board will also hold 
development sessions throughout the year where all members are expected 
to attend and these will be private sessions. 

 
6.2  Additional meetings of the Board may be convened with agreement of the 

Board’s Chairman. 
 
                                                 
1 Regulation 5(1) removes this restriction in relation to health and wellbeing boards by disapplying section 
104(1) of the 1972 Act to enable the local authority directors specified in the 2012 Act to become members of 
health and wellbeing boards 
2 Regulation 5(1) removes this restriction in relation to health and wellbeing boards by disapplying section 
104(1) of the 1972 Act to enable the local authority directors specified in the 2012 Act to become members of 
health and wellbeing boards 

Deleted: 3

Page 150



 
 

5 

7.  Agenda and Notice of Meetings 
 
7.1  Any agenda items or reports to be tabled at the meeting should be submitted 
 to the Council’s Democratic Services no later than seven working days in 
 advance of the next meeting. No business will be conducted that is not on the 
 agenda. 
 
7.2  In accordance with the Access to Information Rules of the Constitution 

Democratic Services will circulate and publish the agenda and reports at 
 least five working days prior to the next meeting. Exempt or Confidential 
 Information shall only be circulated to Core Members. 

 
7.3 For development or informal meetings a formal agenda will not be necessary 

and will therefore not be sent out by Democratic Services. 
 
8.  Annual General Meeting 
 
8.1  The Board shall elect the Chairman and Vice Chairman at each AGM, the 

appointment will be by majority vote of all Core Members present at the 
meeting. 

 
8.2  The Board will approve the representative nominations by the partner 

organisations as Core Members. 
 
9.  Quorum 
 
9.1  Any full meeting of the Board shall be quorate if the following are represented 

–Eastern CCG, South CCG, Local Health Watch, a Portfolio Holder, an Officer 
of Cheshire East Council. 

 
9.2  Failure to achieve a quorum within thirty minutes of the scheduled start of the 

meeting, or should the meeting become inquorate after it has started, shall 
render the meeting adjourned until the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
This will also be the case when attending development or informal Board 
meetings. 

 
10.  Procedure at Meetings 
 
10.1  General meetings of the Board are open to the public and in accordance with 

the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules will include a Public Question Time 
Session. Papers, agendas and minutes will be published on the Cheshire 
East Health and Wellbeing website. 

 
10.2 The Council’s Committee Procedure Rules will apply in respect of formal 

meetings subject to the following:- 
 
10.3 The Board will also hold development/informal sessions throughout the year 

where all members are expected to attend and partake as the agenda 
suggests. 

 

Deleted: s

Deleted: democratic 

Deleted: services

Deleted: 2

Page 151



 
 

6 

10.4 Core Members are entitled to speak through the Chairman. Associate Members 
are entitled to speak at the invitation of the Chairman. 

 
10.5 With the agreement of the Board, subgroups can be set up to consider distinct 

areas of work. These will be identified through the governance structure at 
appendix 1 where possible. The subgroup will be responsible for arranging 
the frequency and venue of their meetings. The membership of the subgroups 
will be approved by the Board. 

 
10.6  Any recommendations of the subgroup will be made to the Board who will 

consider them in accordance with these terms of reference and their 
relevance to the priorities within the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 
its delivery plan. 

 
10.7 Whenever possible decisions will be reached by consensus.11. 
 Expenses 
 
11.1  The partnership organisations are responsible for meeting the expenses of 
 their own representatives. 
 
11.2 A modest Board Budget will be agreed annually to support Engagement and 
 Communication and the Business of the Board. 
 
12.  Conflict of Interest 
 
12.1  In accordance with the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules, at the 
commencement of all meetings all  Board Members shall declare disclosable 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests and any Conflicts of interest. 
 

12.2  In the case of non pecuniary matters Members may  Remain for all or 
part of the meeting, Participate and • Vote at the meeting on the item in 
question 
 
In the case of pecuniary matters Members must leave the meeting during 
consideration of that item. 

 
13.  Conduct of Core Members at Meetings 
 
13.1  Board members will agree to adhere to the seven principles outlined in the 

Board Code of Conduct when carrying out their duties as a Board member 
[appendix 2]. 

 
15.  Review 
 
15.1  The above terms of reference will be reviewed annually at the AGM. 
 
15.2  Any amendments shall only be included by unanimous vote. 
 
March 2013 
 

Deleted: 3 

Deleted: 

Deleted: 4 

Deleted: 

Deleted: 5 

Deleted: Core

Deleted: Following the 
declaration of a Conflict of 
Interest the Member with the 
Boards Chair can decide to:-

Deleted:  in the meeting

Deleted: ,

Page 152



 
 

7 

 
Definition 
 
Exempt Information 
Which is information falling within any of the descriptions set out in Part I of 
Schedule12A to the Local Government Act 1972 subject to the qualifications set out 
in Part II and the interpretation provisions set out in Part III of the said Schedule in 
each case read as if references therein to “the authority” were references to “Board” 
or any of the partner organisations. 
 
Confidential Information 
Information furnished to, partner organisations or the Board by a government 
department upon terms (however expressed) which forbid the disclosure of the 
information to the public; and information the disclosure of which to the public is 
prohibited by or under any enactment or by the order of a court are to be discussed. 
 
Conflict of Interest 
You have a Conflict of interest if the issue being discussed in the meeting affects 
you, your family or your close associates in the following ways; 
• The issue affects their well being more than most other people who live in the area. 
• The issue affect their finances or any regulatory functions and 
• A reasonable member of the public with knowledge of the facts would believe it 
likely to harm or impair your ability to judge the public interest. 
 
Associate Members 
Associate Member status is appropriate for those who are requested to chair sub 
groups of the board.  
 
Health Services 
Means services that are provided as part of the health service. 
 
Health-Related Services means services that may have an effect on the health of 
individuals but are not health services or social care services. 
  
Social Care Services 
Means services that are provided in pursuance of the social services functions of 
local authorities (within the meaning of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 
 

Page 153



 
 

8

Error! Reference source not found. 
 
Abbreviations 
 
LSCB – Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
LSAB – Local Safeguarding Adults Board 
SCPB – South Cheshire Partnership Board 
ECPB -East Cheshire Partnership Board 
AWPB – Ageing Well Programme Board 
HW – Local Health Watch 
CT – Children’s Trust 
CEC – Cheshire East Council 
SCCCG – South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
ECCCG - Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
NHS CB – National Health Service Commissioning Board 
JCB – Joint Commissioning Board 
LD – Learning disability 
MH – Mental Health 
PH – Public Health 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 154



 
 

9

Appendix 2 
 
 

Cheshire East Shadow Health and Wellbeing 
Board Member Code of Conduct 

 
1. Selflessness          
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board should act solely in terms of 
the interest of and benefit to the public/patients of Cheshire East. They should not do so 
in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, their family or their friends 
 

2. Integrity           
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board should not place themselves 
under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might 
seek to influence them in the performance of their duties and responsibilities as a Board 
member 
 

3. Objectivity           
In carrying out their duties and responsibilities members of the Cheshire East Health and 
Wellbeing Board should make choices based on merit and informed by a sound 
evidence base 
 

4. Accountability          
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board are accountable for their 
decisions and actions to the public/patients of Cheshire East and must submit 
themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate 
 

5. Openness           
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board should be as transparent as 
possible about all the decisions and actions that they take as part of or on behalf of the 
Board. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only when 
the wider public interest clearly demands 
 

6. Honesty           
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board have a duty to declare any 
private interests relating to their responsibilities and duties as Board members and to 
take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest and 
integrity of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

7. Leadership          
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board should promote and support 
these principles by leadership and example 
 
 

Page 155



Page 156

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	14 Political Representation on the Council's Committees
	Appendix 1 Political Balance APR 13 V2

	15 Appointment of Members to Committees
	16 Appointments to Policy Development Groups
	17 Appointment of Chairman and Vice Chairmen
	18 Appointments to Adoption Panel, Fostering Panel and Cheshire Admissions Forum
	19 Appointments to Cheshire Fire Authority and the Cheshire Police and Crime Panel
	20 Reaffirmation of the Council's Constitution
	21 Recommendation from Cabinet - Development Company
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	AppendicesC-F
	Appendix G - east cheshire engine of the north MM
	130503 - CEC draft 3 May 2013
	Final BB Advice Note

	22 Recommendation from  the Constitution Committee - Accrual of Powers and Duties: Officer Delegation Scheme
	Officer Delegation Scheme - report (final)

	23 Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference
	Council Report - Health and Wellbeing Board ToR Appendix GK 15042013


